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Itella in brief

I

tella is an international service business whose core competence lies
in information and product flow management for its customers. The
Group operates in mail communication, information logistics and lo-

gistics.
In Finland, Itella’s key mission is to provide nationwide daily mail
services. High consumer satisfaction is a prerequisite for Itella’s ability to serve its corporate customers successfully. Consumer services are
delivered under the Posti brand.
Itella operates in Northern and Central Europe, and in Russia. Businesses and organizations generate 96 percent of its total net sales. International business accounts for a third of all net sales. Itella’s key customer industries include the media as well as the trade and services
industries.
Itella provides work for around 30,000 professionals, and is one of
the largest employers in Finland.
The corporation is wholly owned by the State of Finland.
www.itella.com/group

Year 2009

Financial performance in 2009

I

tella’s operating profit de-

Itella Information extended

creased due to the difficult

its services to financial manage-

market situation. The most

ment and continued to expand

significant non-recurring item was

its global approach. The demand

the EUR 29.0 million allocated to

for outsourcing solutions was

personnel-related restructuring

strong.

measures.

Net sales
EUR million

Net sales by business group
2,000
1,500
1,000

Itella Logistics’ performance

Itella has continued its stra-

weakened according to the eco-

tegic development programs

nomic trend. At the end of 2009,

throughout the recession. Effi-

the cost level was adjusted to cor-

ciency enhancement measures

respond to the volumes.

were implemented in all operations

Itella’s number of personnel

and profitability showed improve-

decreased by 6 percent in Finland

ment during the final quarter.

and 8 percent in other countries.

In Itella Mail Communication,

Itella Corporation issued a

addressed letter mail deliveries

EUR 150 million bond, which was

fell by 7 percent. By the end of

listed on the stock exchange.

500

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

0

• Finland
• Other countries

• Itella Mail Communication 48%
• Itella Information 13%
• Itella Logistics 39%

2009, a total of 74 percent of the
investment program was realized.

www.itella.com/financials

Key events 2009

Consolidated key figures
2009
Net sales, MEUR
Operating profit (EBIT), MEUR
EBIT margin, %
Operating profit (EBIT), MEUR *)
EBIT margin, % *)
Profit before tax, MEUR

2008

Change

1,819.7 1,952.9

-6.8 %

46.7

69.0 -32.3 %

2.6

3.5

86.3

95.1

4.7
19.6
5.8

12.4

Equity ratio, %

48.5

51.1

Gearing, %

19.7

14.8

30,217

28,163

Return on investment, %

Personnel on average **)
Capital expenditure, MEUR
Dividends, MEUR

144.9
-

at Itella Mail Communication’s sorting centers.
Carbon-neutral Itella Green delivery products were launched.

–

Itella Alligator, a financial management outsourcing solution developed by Itella Information, was launched.

–

Itella Information expanded its services to new countries in Central
Europe and to Russia with its iPost solution.

46.6 -57.9 %
2.6

New automation technology and information systems were deployed

–

-9.3 %

4.9

-0.7

Return on equity, %

–

–

Itella Logistics reformed Express services and introduced the Dashboard solution for supply chain management.

–

Over 3 million letters were sent via the NetPosti service. The service
had about 200,000 consumer users and 3,500 sender companies.

7.3 %

–

ment institution. Preparations started for introducing e-invoices as

351.5 -58.8 %

part of the NetPosti service.

10.0
–

*) Excluding non-recurring items
**) In 2008, ItellaNLC was only included in personnel figures for part of the
year.

Itella IPS Oy (Itella Payment Services) was authorized to act as a pay-

In Finland, preparation of the new Postal Services Act continued under
the leadership of the Ministry of Transport and Communications.

–

All-time high in consumer satisfaction.

–

Carbon dioxide emissions measurement system expanded to all Itella
countries.

–

Personnel sick leave, accidents at work and disability pensions continued to decline in Finland.

Year 2009

Itella Business Groups

Key Figures of
Business Groups

Itella Mail Communication provides nationwide daily mail services in
Finland. For businesses, it develops new, multi-channel solutions for successful customer outreach. Growth is primarily sought in customer relationship marketing. The business group has geographic presence in Finland and Russia.

MEUR

2009

2008

Change

Itella Mail Communication

898.7

918.1

-2.1%

Itella Information

247.2

247.1

0.0%

713.9

813.2

-12.2%

63.5

90.1

-29.5%

Net sales

Itella Information is the European industry leader in electronic invoicing.

Itella Logistics

It also offers comprehensive outsourcing solutions for the basic processes in

Operating profit (EBIT) *)

financial management. The business group operates in Finland, Sweden, Nor-

Itella Mail Communication

way, Denmark, Germany, Poland, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Russia, Slovakia,

Itella Information

15.3

9.6

59.4%

Hungary, the Czech Republic, Austria, and Romania.

Itella Logistics

-15.2

-5.7

-

9.8%

Itella Logistics provides service logistics solutions that support and

EBIT margin, %
Itella Mail Communication

7.1%

promote the business of its customer companies. These solutions include

Itella Information

6.2%

3.9%

road, sea and air freight, express deliveries, warehousing and other con-

Itella Logistics

-2.1%

-0.7%

tract logistics. The business group has geographic presence in Finland, Sweden, Norway, Denmark, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, and Russia, as well as
global services through partners.

*) The operating profits of all business groups include non-recurring items.
The operating profits of Itella Mail Communication and Itella Logistics for
2008 have been adjusted for comparison, taking into account the relocation
of premises.

www.itella.com

Solutions for information and product flows

I

tella’s services are closely linked to our customers’ key

Our mission is to ensure full customer satisfaction

processes. Itella’s three business groups assist compa-

throughout the service chain, all the way to the end cus-

nies and organizations in selling and delivering their

tomer.

products and invoicing customers for them.

Company

Sales
and Marketing
CRM

Supply
Chain
Management

Buy, pay, use eServices

Invoicing
Financial
Management

Consumer

Building Foundations
for the Future
CEO’s Review

T

his past year has been a de-

substitution of invoicing and other

mail processing network and in en-

fer our customers, both businesses

manding one for us and our

business transactions has also

hancing operational efficiency. Net-

and consumers, genuine one-stop-

customers. Fortunately the

gathered force in Finland. Con-

Posti – our response to digital con-

shopping for their online transac-

sensitivity of our core businesses

sumer satisfaction in our mail serv-

sumer transactions – has gained an

tions, invoicing and financial man-

to economic cycles varies, which

ices reached an all-time high.

established position on the market.

agement.

helps offset the total impacts of the

Itella Information enjoyed a

As NetPosti is now equipped with

In order to succeed, all our stra-

changes. Our net sales fell by about

year of strong growth: it expanded

the e-Invoice receiving feature, it

tegic projects require our custom-

7 percent, but the comparable net

into new countries and was able to

has become a unique service even

ers’ trust. We are extremely grateful

sales, where the impact of acquisi-

achieve a marked improvement in

by international standards. In or-

tions and divestments is included,

profitability. Itella Logistics’ busi-

der to achieve this, we established

for their support and co-operation,

fell by more than 11 percent.

ness depends heavily on industry,

Itella IPS Oy (Itella Payment Serv-

imports and exports as well as on

ices), which was licensed by the

Strong financial status

consumer goods trade. Volume re-

Finnish Financial Supervisory Au-

Last year was difficult for everybody,

ductions in our logistics business

thority to act as a payment institu-

but I am very proud of how well our

varied between 10 and 30 percent.

tion. The necessary technical infra-

personnel performed under the try-

All three Itella business groups

structure required by IPS was built

Jukka Alho

ing circumstances. We worked hard

share the same strategic foundation:

up in record time. We can now of-

President and CEO

to sharpen our competitive edge

competitiveness is based on the

and adjust operations according to

ability to provide complex, typically

changes in demand. Major non-re-

IT-based overall solutions. Further-

curring items associating with per-

more, our core competence includes

sonnel restructuring had a declin-

providing high-volume as well as

ing impact on our operating profit.

highly standardized services in se-

If we exclude these non-recurring

lected service and market segments.

items, our profitability was close to

In all of these areas, we have made

the previous year’s level.

significant progress. In practice, this

In the final quarter, our effi-

translates into customer innova-

ciency enhancement measures be-

tions involving targeted direct mar-

gan to take effect and operative

keting and CRM, complete logistics

profitability strengthened from the

service solutions and management

reference period a year earlier. All in

systems, as well as financial man-

all, Itella has emerged from the eco-

agement outsourcing solutions.

which have enabled us to further
develop our operations and build
for the future.

nomic downturn a financially sound
our steady cash flow, which has con-

Postal Services Act
– dawn of a new era

stantly remained at a healthy level.

We are making determined ef-

company. This could be attributed to

forts to prepare Itella for the new

Performance by business group

Postal Services Act, which takes ef-

Itella Mail Communication’s deliv-

fect in Finland at the beginning of

ery volumes saw only a moderate

2011. For several years, we have

decline, even though the digital

invested heavily in reforming our
Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009
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Itella 2014 – Stronger than Ever
Strategy

The key objectives set for 2010–2014 are to
secure the competitiveness in the face of EUwide competition and to establish a strong
foothold in the new growth markets.

Financial objectives 2010–2014

Foundation of competitive

–

Average yearly net sales growth

advantage

of more than 5%

At the very core of the strategy is

EBIT margin of at least 7% in

Itella’s positioning in relation to its

2014

competitors and the competencies

–

required to differentiate the com-

Strategic objectives
–
Itella chose its current strategic

pany.

Maintain profitability and in-

Itella’s relatively small initial

vestment capability through the

home market does not allow the

economic recession and in the

company to utilize global benefits

new competitive landscape

of scale in order to differentiate

ing the postal business reforms and

–

Sustainable global growth

from competitors. Nor is it a small

the expansion into logistics and in-

–

path in the early 2000s by initiat-

Secure postal services in Fin-

niche player offering customized

formation logistics. In the 2010s,

land and a strong position in

solutions. Thus, Itella is positioned

Itella will face EU-wide competition

the information society

in the demanding middle ground

Employ common operating

that can, however, offer significant

tinues to seek growth in new geo-

models to strengthen competi-

potential for business and owner

graphic markets.

tive edge

value growth.

also in postal services and con-

–

Itella Group Strategy 2010–2014

Satisfied Customer
Vision

Competitive
strategy

To be the European leader in information
and service logistics
Targets 2014
Geography

Mission

Values

2
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Customers

Focus areas 2010
Offering

Competencies

Taking care of our customers’ information
and product flows by providing important services
for society in a sustainable manner.
We provide benefit
to the customer

We keep our
promises

We focus on
renewal

We work in
co-operation

Itella’s competitive strength is

2) Comprehensive service con-

These three competencies are not

derived from its ability to combine

cepts delivered in an easy-to-

the product of chance. In small do-

buy and easy-to-sell package

mestic markets, Itella was able to

three competencies into a unique

3) The ability to apply technology

become closely involved in its cus-

1) Solutions to support the cus-

as a means of delivering mean-

tomers’ business. The company

tomer’s key business proc-

ingful competitive benefits to

has expanded its value chain and

esses

customers

developed end-to-end service solu-

and balanced concept:

tions delivering higher added value.
Systematic investments have been
made in service conceptualization.
Itella’s customers are highly ad-

Trends in the business
environment

T

vanced in using information technology, which provides ample op-

he global recession has accelerated structural changes

portunities for versatile technology

that will have far reaching effects on business models,

solutions.

value chains, and the market positions of companies with a
background in postal operations. For example:
–

With digital substitution, the demand for traditional postal
services is declining but new business opportunities are
emerging.
with the entry into force of the new Postal Services Act in
2011 and the integration of the Nordic markets.

–

The demand for outsourcing services is growing in all of
Itella’s business segments.

–

The breakthrough of e-commerce will increase the need for
logistics services.

–

Due to cost-efficiency and measurability requirements, direct marketing will command a stronger position in trying
economic conditions.

–

The demand for information logistics solutions will grow in
fast developing Central European markets.

–

The SEPA reform will accelerate the integration of the European payment system.

–

European authorities will enforce stricter control measures in

POWERFUL GROWTH

Competition in letter delivery is becoming increasingly tight

MODERATE GROWTH

–

Geographical Approach

Nordic and
Baltic countries,
Germany
Strong
differentiation

Finland
Broad
service
offering

Russia
Leadership
in selected
markets

Central
Europe
Organic
growth

the postal business, requiring increased clarity in legislation.

MATURE MARKET

DEVELOPING MARKET
Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009
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Helsinki, Finland
Itella Customer Relationship Marketing makes
sure Laura Riihelä receives mail from Nutricia
Baby when Aatos is aged 4, 7, and 12 months.

4
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Itella Mail
Communication
Itella Mail Communication provides daily postal
services for Finnish society. For businesses, it
develops new, multi-channel solutions required
for well-directed communications and successful
customer relationships.

Services
– Delivery services for letters, direct

Net sales
EUR million

mail, magazines and newspapers

800

– Customer relationship marketing
services from analysis to planning,

600

implementation, delivery channels,

400

and results measuring

200

– Postal services for consumers in
Finland

Geographic presence
Finland and Russia

Key figures for 2009

1,000

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

0

Total delivery
volume
In millions

3,500
3,000

– Net sales EUR 898.7 million
– Operating profit (EBIT)
EUR 63.5 million
– Employees 18,000 (Dec. 31)

2,500
2,000
1,500
1,000
500
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

0

Year 2009
– Five-day mail delivery covered 5.3 million consumers and 250,000
enterprises and organizations.
– The volumes of addressed letter deliveries decreased by 7 per cent.
– The productivity of the postal network was improved. New mail sorting
technology was introduced.
– New Itella Green Mail products offer 100% compensation on carbon
dioxide emissions of letters, direct mail, newspapers and magazines.
– The Itella CEM (Customer Experience Management) service was
launched; a software and service solution for developing customer
relationships through targeted marketing.

Itella Mail Communication
Reform of the postal infrastructure

The development program aiming to fully revamp the postal delivery network

quired in a modern information so-

reached significant milestones as the first new generation sorting systems were

ciety. The new information systems

introduced. Other key achievements included the market launch of fully carbonneutral Itella Green delivery services. Itella was the first company in Europe to
launch a new IT-based tool for targeted marketing: Itella CEM.

enable more extensive use over
multiple delivery channels and related contact information according
to the customer’s preference.
The first new sorting machines
were implemented in 2009. More
information on personnel adjust-

I

6
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tella Mail Communication pro-

World-class delivery network

vides nationwide postal deliv-

Mail delivery volumes continued to

ery services five days a week,

fall. The volume of addressed let-

Green postal services

plus early morning newspaper de-

ters fell by 7 per cent. Only unad-

The launch of Itella Green delivery

livery seven days a week. Growth is

dressed deliveries showed growth.

products enable customers to fully

primarily sought in multi-channel

At the same time, an invest-

compensate – against a small addi-

solutions for customer relationship

ment and development program of

tional fee – the carbon dioxide emis-

marketing.

EUR 160 million continued. In the

sions related to their deliveries. The

Businesses and organizations

period 2007–2010, Itella is fully

revenue these fees generate is do-

generate 96 per cent of net sales.

modernizing its postal sorting and

nated to certified climate projects.

Services to consumers are provided

delivery system, thereby raising

www.itella.com/itellagreen

under the Posti brand. Information

its production efficiency and serv-

The Itella Customer Relation-

on consumer services on page 18.

ice quality to the superior level re-

ship Marketing unit launched a new

ments on page 20.

”Parents with small children appreciate
direct marketing when it has to do
with their child’s well-being, and when
the timing is right.”
Ann-Charlotte Schalin, Marketing Director
Nutricia Baby

Management) service. Itella CEM

Subscription newspapers and magazines

is a software and service solution

In millions

Itella CEM (Customer Experience

utilizing customer information for

600

400

panies to use multi-channel, automated and personalized customer
communication to build their customer relationships.
nexions, acquired in the fall 2008,

As part of the Danone Group, Nutricia Baby markets children’s food un-

500

targeted marketing. It allows com-

The Moscow-based Itella Con-

The need

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

200

Nutricia Baby outsourced the entire campaign process to Itella Cus-

100

tomer Relationship Marketing. Itella is now responsible for delivering

0

to parents information on children’s food and Nutricia products for
children aged 4, 7, and 12 months.

• Newspapers • Periodicals

The benefit
Itella provides effective tools for maintaining contact with customers,
offering information the target group truly appreciates, and strengthe-

spite challenging market conditions

ning the brand. Given the extent and ongoing nature of the campaign

Direct mail items
In millions

Sharper focus on the

400

tomatically compensate all carbon

200

dioxide emissions of DM deliveries

made available to consumers. Itel-

1,000

600

Starting January 2010, Itella will au-

The Itella Green option will also be

process, outsourcing was an excellent solution for Nutricia Baby.

800

environment in 2010

without extra fees for the customer.

ment stages of a child’s first twelve months.

The solution

Relationship Marketing unit. De-

vorable sales development.

that would reach the parents of small children covering the develop-

300

was integrated with Itella Customer

in Russia, the company enjoyed fa-

der the Tutteli, Nutrilon and Muksu brands. Nutricia required a solution

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

0

Non-addressed
• Addressed • (inc.
free sheets)

la’s aim is to see all its sorting and
delivery operations certified for
compliance with the ISO 14001
standard.
The sorting operations overhaul will be completed in 2010 and

Letter deliveries
In millions

all further action will focus increas-

500
400

ingly on mail delivery.
Growth will also be sought in

300

customer relationship marketing as

200

well as in the consumer business,

100

with the emphasis on building a

0

closer and multi-faceted customer

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

relationship with consumers.

• 1st class letters • 2nd class letters
Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009
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Riga,Latvia
Itella accelerated the introduction of paperless
invoicing with the customers of Latvian Mobile
Telephone.

8 Itella Corporation
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Itella
Information
Itella Information is the European industry leader in
electronic invoicing. By automating, digitizing, and
streamlining incoming and outgoing invoice flows, Itella
can offer its business customers cost savings of 30–40
per cent. Customers can also choose to outsource all their
financial management key processes to Itella.
Services
– Purchase invoice processing

Net sales
EUR million

solutions

250

– Sales invoice sending solutions

200

– Total financial management

150

outsourcing

100
50

Geographic presence
Finland, Sweden, Norway, Denmark,
Germany, Poland, Estonia, Latvia,
Lithuania, Russia, Slovakia, Hungary, the
Czech Republic, Austria, and Romania

Key figures for 2009

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

0

Physical and electronic
transactions
In millions

– Net sales EUR 247.2 million
– Operating profit (EBIT) EUR 15.3 million
– Employees 2,000 (on December 31)

5,000
4,000
3,000
2,000
1,000

www.itella.com/informationlogistics
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

0

Year 2009
– The first Itella Alligator customer agreements on financial management
outsourcing were signed in Finland.
– Itella Information expands into Central and Eastern European countries
with new printing and scanning customer potential.
– More than one million iPost letters were sent in Europe during the year.
– An agreement with Samlink will see Itella Information forwarding bank
statements to more than one million bank customers in Finland.
– The Länsförsäkringar insurance company outsourced scanning operations
to Itella Information in Sweden.
– New multi-channel invoice solution for purchase-to-pay area.
– The new Itella iBoost was introduced to accelerate the transition to an
electronic purchase invoice process.
– Itella Information offers Latvian consumers a free portal for receiving and
paying electronic invoices.

Itella Information
Growth in financial management solutions

In 2009, Itella Information progressed in two directions: it achieved global

responsibility for a company’s or

growth through invoicing solutions, while outsourcing concepts enabled

organization’s basic financial man-

the company to expand into customers’ financial management processes.

I

Extensive business process

asset accounting, general ledger and

market’s most comprehensive

outsourcing solutions such

reporting.

service offering for invoicing and

as Itella Alligator for financial

financial management. Itella’s solu-

–

management.

tions deliver full scalability for an or-

Depending on the customer, Itella
Alligator can create financial management cost savings of 30–40 percent.

ganization’s needs:

Alligator bites down hard on

–

Easy-to-implement standard

financial management costs

Making progress in Central

services such as invoice scan-

In 2009, Itella Information’s Al-

Europe and Russia

ning and printing

ligator outsourcing solution was

Companies established in the new

Customized multi-channel solu-

introduced to the Finnish, Swed-

Itella countries enjoyed a successful

tions for incoming purchase in-

ish, Polish and Baltic markets. The

launch for their operations, with the

voices or outgoing sales invoices

solution enables Itella to assume

key focus initially on standard serv-

–

Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009

covers sales ledger, purchase ledger,
travel expenses, payroll, payments,

tella Information provides the

10

agement processes. The solution

”Thanks to Itella, a third of our
consumer invoices are now digital.”
Dace Roze
director in charge of invoicing services
Latvian Mobile Telephone

Customer need
LMT wanted to accelerate customer transition to electronic invoicing.
The company needed a partner with a proven track record of service
capacity.

Solution
Co-operation with Itella began ten years ago with invoice printing services. LMT later deployed Itella’s services for payment forwarding, direct
debiting, and electronic invoicing.

The benefit
Itella was able to accelerate LMT’s transition to electronic invoicing.
Itella’s solution is cost-efficient and ecological, offering benefits for all
parties. LMT greatly appreciates Itella Information’s highly professional
and customer-oriented personnel.

ices for incoming and outgoing in-

tral European growth markets. The

voice processing.

standard service offering will be di-

To take advantage of the syn-

versified by introducing multi-chan-

ergies within the business group,

nel solutions. Itella will expand its

production operations were con-

service coverage by building a glo-

centrated. For example, the Polish

bal partnership network. Itella Alli-

subsidiary provides digitization

gator is extending to Scandinavia,

services for Scandinavian custom-

the Baltic countries, and Poland.

ers, and the scanning and printing

Itella’s services for purchase

services in Slovakia also serve the

invoice processes are expanding in

Austrian, Hungarian and Czech mar-

all Itella countries. The purchase-to-

kets.

pay solution covers all invoices – in
paper or any electronic format. This

Purchase invoices

provides customers with a flexible

digitized in 2010

transition to electronic processes.

In 2010, Itella will seek to consolidate its position in Eastern and CenItella Corporation Annual Report 2009
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Stockholm, Sweden
Itella Dashboard is a solution for supply chain transparency.
It makes all data and transactions from various information
systems available to Gina Tricot in one view.

12 Itella Corporation
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Itella
Logistics
Itella Logistics provides service logistics solutions
that support and promote the business of its customer
companies. Customers can either outsource a specific
part of their logistics process to Itella or choose
a service that covers all aspects of supply chain
management.
Services

Net sales

– Road, sea, and air freight

EUR million

and forwarding

1,000
800

– Express deliveries

600

– Warehousing services and complete
contract logistics solutions

400

– Consulting and IT solutions

200

Geographic presence

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

Finland, Sweden, Norway, Denmark,
Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, and Russia, as
well as global services through partners

Warehousing capacity
1,000 square meters

Key figures for 2009

0

1,000
800

– Net sales EUR 713.9 million
– Operating result (EBIT) EUR -15.2
million
– Employees 10,000 (on December 31)

600
400
200
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

0

Year 2009
– Certification for compliance with ISO 9001 and ISO 14001 standards
progressed in the Nordic countries.
– AW-Store Oy, Kauko Group Oy, and SHW Logistiikka Oy merged with
the subsidiary Itella Logistics Oy.
– A new service warehouse (9,000 square meters) was opened in Borås,
Sweden.
– Itella Green parcels were introduced.
– Parcel delivery volumes fell by 12 percent.
– In Russia, ItellaNLC signed major agreements with customers with a
Finnish background as well as international customers. After acquiring
the remaining minority interest, Itella is now the sole owner of ItellaNLC group.

Itella Logistics
Extensive partnerships in service logistics

Itella Logistics continued to pursue its strategy and made planned investments
through the recession. Measures were taken to harmonize production systems
and service offerings throughout the international organization. As a result,

as the Itella Dashboard solution
was introduced to first customers
(Erätukku, Gina Tricot, and Rautakesko). Itella Dashboard delivers

Itella Logistics was able to offer more comprehensive and consistent services to

transparency across the entire glo-

its global customers across borders.

bal value chain of customers’ prod-

S

ucts. Dashboard consolidates all
data related to supply chain man-

ervice logistics represent

marketing to product deliveries and

sition in strategically significant

agement stored in various systems

Itella’s core competence.

software for online stores.

service areas.

of customers and their partners and

In-depth knowledge and

During 2009, Itella consolidated

makes it all available through one

understanding of the customer’s

Decline in demand, growth in

its position as preferred outsourcing

business and value chain allows

customer relationships

partner for logistics s ervices, as

Parcel and transport services

Itella to provide the correct logis-

The year was the most difficult of

customers expanded their co-opera-

were modernized to make them

tics solution for effective product

the decade for the entire logistics

tion with Itella to cover several coun-

faster, easier to use, and more eco

and information flow management.

industry, and Itella was no excep-

tries. Similarly, ItellaNLC contrib-

logical. The recession negatively

Instead of delivering production-

tion. The economic downturn was

uted to the expansion of customer

impacted on the demand for par-

driven standard services, Itella

particularly hard on freight and on

relationships in Russia.

cel services, and competition in

focuses on service competence,

transport services, which both saw

higher added value, and an exten-

volumes and prices slide. The de-

Greater transparency

tough, particularly in distance sell-

sive service offering.

cline in demand was sharpest in

in the supply chain

ing. Although Itella’s parcel vol-

Itella’s e-commerce solutions

Russia. Nevertheless, Itella Logis-

Determined investments in serv-

umes fell by about 12 per cent in

range from customer relationship

tics was able to strengthen its po-

ice development produced results

Finland, the company was able to
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interface.

the Nordic market was increasingly

”Itella invests strongly in service
development. The introduction
of Itella Dashboard further enhanced
transparency – a single interface shows us
the flow of the entire supply chain.”
Magnus Tilsten
Gina Tricot

The need
Scandinavia’s fastest-growing fashion chain achieves success by offering the latest trends with a high stock turnover. Gina Tricot required a
solution that would ensure a short lead time and timely deliveries of
items to all of its 140 sales outlets.

Parcels and transport units
milj.
In
millions
kpl

Gina Tricot outsourced its entire global supply chain to Itella, including
30

air and sea freight, warehousing, and deliveries to outlets. Itella Dash-

25

board offers the customer greater transparency by keeping track of the

20

logistics process and supporting business management.

15
10
5
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

The solution

0

maintain a stable market position.

in the global economy. Profitability

Consumers continued to rank Posti

improvements are expected as the

as the number one deliverer of on-

integration process moves ahead

line purchases. Posti’s competitive

in the country organizations and

assets include a strong brand, a

as the full potential of the synergy

wide range of offerings, an exten-

benefits is discovered.

sive service network, home deliver-

In 2010, ItellaNLC will be uti-

ies, returns, and other value added

lized for tapping into the market

services.

potential available in Russia, with

Parcel and pallet deliveries

the objective of expanding Nordic

were launched in the Baltic coun-

customer relationships eastwards.

tries. For air and sea freight, Itella

Harmonization of the global partner

launched a QuickQuote service

network will continue and efforts

for price inquiries. Measures were

will be made to promote business

taken in Asia and the USA to harmo-

reciprocity between partners.

The best benefits
Gina Tricot values Itella for its innovative approach and genuine partnership, which includes exploring various logistical alternatives and
actively suggesting process improvements.

nize the partner network.

More synergy benefits in 2010
In the coming years, focus will be on
building a comprehensive service
offering delivering higher added
value, making Itella Logistics’ business less vulnerable to fluctuations
Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009
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Helsinki, Finland
Itella reaches everyone. The contact information register
contains some 7 million postal addresses, over one million
phone numbers and almost half a million e-mail addresses.

16
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Itella in
Society
Itella’s mission is to provide daily mail services to all
citizens across Finland. In Europe and Russia, the Group
employs 30,000 professionals. Itella is committed to
corporate responsibility towards its customers and
business partners. In terms of environmental issues,
Itella’s key objective is to reduce carbon dioxide
emissions by 30 percent by 2020.
Social responsibility

Personnel

– Postal services in Finland

1,000 employees

– Employment to 30,000 Itella

35
30

personnel

25
20

Financial responsibility

15

– Services for businesses and
the public sector
– Investing in business development

10
5
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

0

• Finland • Other countries

Environmental responsibility
– Minimizing CO2 emissions
– Digital services

www.itella.com/sustainability

Year 2009
– 83 percent of Finnish consumers rated postal services good or excellent.
– More than 3 million letters sent via the NetPosti service. The service has
about 200,000 registered consumer users and almost 3,500 sender companies.
– Itella IPS Oy was granted a payment institution license, enabling Itella to
extent invoicing services to payment transfer.
– Postal delivery volumes continued to decline.
– Workforce adjustments were conducted with every effort made to minimize
layoffs. EUR 29.0 million was allocated to personnel-related restructuring
measures.
– Approximately EUR 7.5 million was spent on promoting well-being at work.
Personnel sick leave, accidents at work and disability pensions decreased.
– Preparation of the new Postal Services Act continued in Finland under the
leadership of the Ministry of Transport and Communications.
– Carbon dioxide emissions fell by 3 percent relative to net sales (reference
year 2007).

Service through multiple channels
Consumer services in Finland

Daily postal services
Sending
– Via Posti (about 1,100 postal outlets)
– Through mailboxes (about 8,500 mailboxes)

Receiving
–
–
–
–

Daily deliveries to all addresses five days a week
Early morning newspaper delivery
Parcel pick-up at Posti or home delivery
Electronic messages to NetPosti

Keeping in touch
– Gifts and collector items at postal outlets and the online store
– Postcards on the Internet and by mobile phone, personalized
stamps and cards, greetings telegrams and other online services

Daily services
– Change of address online, by telephone, or at a postal outlet
– NetPosti services

Itella’s consumer services are delivered under the
Posti brand. Posti’s competitive advantage relies
on the strong brand, a contact information register
that covers the entire population, and a nationwide
delivery, outlet, and partner network.

P

osti develops its service chan-

made available in the Posti shops

nels by responding to changes

and through the online store. Pos-

in consumer behavior and

ti’s partners included Marimekko

service needs. At year-end, the serv-

and IVANAHelsinki.

ice network consisted of around

Postal outlets attracted an av-

1,100 outlets, of which 950 were run

erage of 100,000 customers every

by agency retailers. The end of the

day. Call centre and online services

year also saw the launch of a pilot

were also offered to almost one mil-

project involving pick-up locations.

lion customers.

Posti shops were modernized

18
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with changes to their visual appear-

Contact information data

ance, location, and opening hours.

to all channels

Focus was on promoting high-qual-

The contact information service

ity customer experiences and active

is one of the most popular online

sales work. Larger selections of gift

postal services. The service was

items, packaging products, office

used to report almost 400,000

supplies, and collector items were

changes of address, which ac-

Itella IPS brings e-invoices to NetPosti
Itella’s subsidiary Itella IPS Oy (Itella Payment Services) offers services relating
to e-invoicing and payment transfer. The Finnish Financial Supervisory Authority
(FIN-FSA) granted the company a business license that gives Itella access to the
payment transfer network used by banks.

I

tella IPS allows Itella to integrate invoicing and money transfer services. Itella is now able to forward consumers’
electronic invoices to NetPosti or online banks. NetPosti is a content-free service that operates independently of

banks, and consumers can use it for receiving their pay slips, notices from service companies or authorities, and
other digital communications.
IPS’s corporate services will be offered to customers through Itella Information. The Alligator solution provides
companies with the opportunity to outsource all financial management routines to Itella. More information on Itella

Alligator on page 10.

Itella IPS aims to become the leading payment institution partner in Finland. Its service solution will be unique
even by European standards.

Distance to daily services

Consumer satisfaction

%

Scale 1–5 (worst–best)

4.0

Postal outlet
Grocery store

3.5

Kiosk
Mailbox
ATM

3.0

Library
Health Center
0

20

40

60

80

100

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

2.5

• Less than 0.5 km • 0.5–2 km
• 2–10 km • More than10 km (2008)

• Postal outlet services
• Receiving mail
• Sending mail
• Services as a whole

Source: Statistics Finland

counts for nearly half of all reported

Posti Inside concept was launched

Universal services everywhere

Finns more satisfied than ever

changes of address.

when the service was integrated

in Finland

83 per cent of Finns consider postal

Itella’s contact information

with S Bank’s online banking serv-

Itella is required under its business

services good or excellent. Above

register includes up-to-date ad-

ice and the OmaOulu portal of the

license and the Postal Services Act

all, postal services are considered

dress information for every con-

City of Oulu.

to guarantee mail and parcel serv-

reliable and they make everyday

sumer, enterprise, or organization

At year-end, the service had

ices according to the Universal

life easier.

in Finland – a total of some 7 mil-

about 200,000 registered con-

Service Obligation. This obligation

Parcel home delivery has in-

lion. In addition, the register con-

sumer users and almost 3,500

applies to Finland in its entirety, ex-

creased in popularity. Custom-

tains more than one million mobile

sender companies and organiza-

cluding the Aland Islands. More in-

ers would like Posti shops to have

phone numbers and half a million

tions. During the year, NetPosti re-

formation on the Postal Services Act

longer opening hours.

e-mail addresses.

ceived more than 3 million letters.

reform on page 23.

The Ministry of Transport and

According to a survey conducted

The Finnish Communications

Communications published its own

Three million letters delivered

by the Taloustutkimus market re-

Regulatory Authority monitors var-

study in 2009 indicating that postal

by NetPosti

search firm, customers were highly

ious aspects of universal service

services are considered reliable

The NetPosti Internet service pro-

satisfied with the service. Approxi-

provision, including speed of deliv-

and generally of good quality.

vides a secure electronic alterna-

mately 20 per cent of Finns are fa-

ery. 94 per cent of 1st class letters

tive to the traditional mailbox for

miliar with NetPosti.

were delivered the next day and 99

incoming letters. In 2009, the Net-

www.netposti.fi

per cent by the day after.
Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009
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Focus on change management
Human Resources

The major structural
changes in the postal
industry affected the life
of thousands of Itella

Itella’s workplace well-being indicators in Finland
2006

2007

2008

2009

6.1
1,424
170

6.0
1,408
122

6.0
1,405
112

5.8
1,189
104

		

Sick leave (%)
Accidents at work
Early disability pensions

employees in 2009.
Measures were taken

number of layoffs to a minimum,

and adjustment measures led to

to improve change

Itella applies a wide range of per-

workforce reductions amounting to

sonnel adjustment measures.

about 640 employees. Russia was

management and to

One such measure is the pro-

most severely affected, although

enhance organizational

ductivity-driven pay and working

a recovery in demand in the fall

flexibility. Workplace well-

hours model that was introduced to

of 2009 enabled a subsequent in-

being indicators showed

mail sorting and delivery operations

crease in the number of personnel.

positive development.

in 2008. The model offers local work
communities greater involvement

Workplace well-being

in the organization of work assign-

in change situations

y the end of 2009 Itella

ments as well as a share of the fi-

Itella’s Foundation for Well-Being at

Group employed approxi-

nancial benefit from improved prof-

Work was strongly involved in de-

mately 29,500 people:

itability. This has also enhanced

velopment of the company’s new

22,000 in Finland (75%) and 7,500

flexibility in personnel resources

change management concept. The

in other countries.

allocation.

concept has a strong well-being di-

B

Common HR practices applied

In 2009, an efficiency improve-

mension, underlining aspects such

in all Itella countries include target

ment equivalent to about 700 man-

as coping at work, personnel com-

and performance reviews, the profit

years was accomplished in mail

munication, equal treatment, and

bonus system, a personnel survey,

processing without layoffs. All in

workplace atmosphere. All of these

and the international mobility con-

all, various workforce adjustment

issues have a direct impact on mat-

expenses amounted to about EUR

cept. Itella’s values and the Code

measures led in Finland to a re-

ters such as sick leave rates.

56 million in 2009.

of Ethics provide a common foun-

duction of about 1,500 employ-

Itella’s direct spending on em-

dation for the entire Group.

ees. Consequently, a total of 350

ployee well-being (occupational

17,000 respond to

employees were laid off either

healthcare, health club services,

personnel survey

New pay and working hours

through pension arrangements or

well-being at work unit) in Finland

Despite major changes in the com-

model shows positive results

their employment was terminated

amounted to about EUR 7.5 million

pany, Itella’s personnel continued

As a consequence of the produc-

for financial and production-related

in 2009. Measures to boost well-

to show sustained job satisfaction.

tivity enhancement improvements

reasons.

being generated savings of approx-

According to the personnel survey,

in Itella Mail Communication, the

The unfavorable economic con-

imately EUR 3.8 million. Sick leave

on a scale of 1–5 (poor–excellent),

workforce need fell in mail process-

ditions affected Itella’s other oper-

absences, disability pensions and

the average score was 3.55, com-

ing Finland. In order to meet its

ating countries, as well. Outside

work accidents continued to de-

pared with 3.49 the previous year.

primary objective of keeping the

Finland, efficiency enhancement

cline; overall workplace well-being

The survey was completed by a to-
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Award-winning change
management concept

T

urmoil in the business environment places particularly strong
demands on the management of change. Itella has introduced
a change management concept that improves organizational

flexibility while encouraging personnel involvement and enhancing
personnel well-being.
The concept and its range of tools were piloted in a variety of
change management projects, and the personnel survey showed it
helped to alleviate employee insecurity and reduce the number of absences due to sickness.
Itella’s change management concept took first prize in the competition organized by the Finnish Association for Human Resource Management (HENRY ry) and the Ilmarinen insurance company.

tal of 17,000 respondents from 11
countries, which reflects a response
rate of 59%.
The survey attracted higher

Employment contracts
in Finland

Breakdown of personnel
outside Finland

Personnel by
business group

• Russia 5,518 • Germany 194
• Sweden 475 • Estonia 158
• Poland 363 • Latvia 124
• Denmark 339 • Lithuania 98
• Norway 231 Other countries 36

• Itella Mail Communication 61%
• Itella Information 6%
• Itella Logistics 33%

scores in replies to questions related to environmental responsibil-

100%

Permanent Temporary

Full-time

62% 4%

Part-time

26% 8%

ity and goal orientation. Figures reflecting confidence in job security
saw the sharpest drop.

Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009
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Good performance
benefits stakeholders
Financial Responsibility

Itella’s core competency
lies in information and
product flow management
services that support
the competitiveness of
businesses and other
organizations, and help to
develop essential services
in the information
society. In Finland, Itella
is one of the country’s
largest employers.
Internationally, the Group
is a major customer for
thousands of enterprises.

I

tella is a state-owned company, operating on purely market terms and financing its op-

erations on the basis of customer
revenues. Businesses and organizations account for about 96% of
net sales and the key customer industries include media, trade and
services. International business
accounts for about one third of net
sales.

Through structural changes
The postal industry is facing massive upheaval as a result of digital
substitution and the requirement
for all EU member states to open up
postal delivery services to competition in 2011. Itella has prepared
for the changes by improving pro-
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Delivery volumes of addressed letters
"2000"=100

110

100

90

New Postal Services Act to
take effect in 2011

W

ith the adoption of the EU Postal Directive, letter delivery will
also be opened up to competition within the EU. As a result,

the Finnish Ministry of Transport and Communications is taking active measures to amend the Postal Services Act. The key issues in this

80

amendment concern the universal service obligation – its content, service level and financing – as well as the rules of competition.

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

• Finland
• Sweden

• Denmark
• Norway

70

• Germany
• Great Britain
• The Netherlands

Itella is committed to offering universal postal services in the future, as well. Currently these services can be provided without any state
subsidy as the services for sparsely populated areas can be financed
with revenue from urban areas. In the new competitive setting, however, this solution will no longer be viable as competitors will most likely
be able to focus on the most densely populated delivery areas.

ductivity of mail processing through

offs. A total of EUR 29.0 million was

Efficiency enhancement and

the Finnish men’s national soccer

an extensive investment program,

allocated on personnel-related re-

savings measures in purchasing

team, and is a strong supporter of

thus securing the preconditions

structuring measures. More infor-

and procurement reduced annual-

junior soccer. Itella is also a proud

for profitable business and high-

mation on the personnel adjustments

ized external purchases by about

partner of Finland’s premier music

quality services also in the future.

on page 20.

3%, which corresponds to savings

university, the Sibelius Academy.

of some 22 million annually. Serv-

More information on Itella Mail Communication’s development program

Contributing to society

ices accounted for some 90% of

on page 6.

In addition to the corporate tax

Itella’s sourcing.

In terms of Itella’s future finan-

Itella pays to the state, postal serv-

In addition, Itella is responsible

cial performance, two factors are

ices come in Finland with 22%

for funding the Post Museum. More-

decisive: the progress and speed

value added tax.

over, Itella is a long-term partner of

www.itella.com/financials

of consumer invoices moving online and the market position Itella
is able to secure for itself in multichannel communication.

Financial impacts of Itella’s operations
according to income statement

30,000 Itella professionals
At the end of 2009, Itella Group employed 29,500 personnel, showing
a fall of 7% from the previous year.
Finnish personnel represented 75%
of the total.
Workforce adjustment measures were taken with every effort

HUMAN RESOURCES
Salaries and fees MEUR 716.3 (709.0)
Pension expenses MEUR 110.2 (109.1)

SUPPLIERS

CUSTOMERS
Net sales
MEUR 1,819.7
(MEUR 1,952.9 in 2008)

Materials and services MEUR 474.9 (594.1)
Other operating expenses MEUR 333.2 (329.8)

PUBLIC SECTOR
Income tax on profit for the period MEUR 29.7 (30.0)
Social security expenses MEUR 61.5 (55.7)

FINANCIAL SECTOR
Interest expenses MEUR 11.8 (10.1)

OWNER
Dividends for profit for the period
MEUR 0.0 (10.0)

made to minimize the number layItella Corporation Annual Report 2009
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Global emissions reporting
Environmental responsibility

I

tella set itself a target of reduc-

Emissions generated in Finland

ble energy sources in Finland. Certi-

ing carbon dioxide emissions

amounted to 120,000 tons, sub-

fied green electricity accounted for

by 30% by 2020 (in proportion

contracting included. On a positive

28% of all electricity used by Itella

to net sales, reference year 2007).

note, emissions in Finland fell by

in Finland in 2009, and its share

30% by 2020. Green

The actions necessary to meet the

3% from the previous year, in pro-

will increase to some 80% in 2010

energy sources were

target include improving the energy

portion to net sales.

and to 100% in 2011.

Itella set itself a target
of reducing carbon
dioxide emissions by

introduced, and carbonneutral Itella Green

efficiency of vehicles and proper-

Itella is committed to ISO

Significantly, vehicles gener-

ties, and the increased use of re-

14001 standard compliance in its

ate 70% of all of Itella’s emissions.

newable energy.

environmental management sys-

Therefore, important measures

services were launched
on the markets.

tem. New areas certified in 2009

taken to reduce vehicle emissions

A global reporting system

included Itella Mail Communica-

included economical driving, route

For the first time in 2009 Itella com-

tion’s Customer Relationship Mar-

optimization, and combined trans-

piled data on emissions in all of its

keting unit and Itella Logistics’ op-

ports. Electric mopeds and natural

operating countries. The calcula-

erations in Finland, in Sweden, and

gas-powered vehicles were put to

tions covered 99% of Itella’s busi-

in Stavanger, Norway.

more extensive use. The objective
is to see 40% of delivery vans run-

ness. Itella’s global carbon dioxide
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emissions from its properties and

Green energy sources

company vehicles totaled 119,000

In August 2009, Itella switched to

The implementation of a new

tons.

electricity produced using renewa-

waste management concept started

ning on electricity by 2020.

A global industry target to
reduce CO2 emissions

I

n 2009, the postal industry became the first services sector to set
a global emissions target when the International Post Corporation

(IPC) announced that 20 of the world’s leading postal companies are
committed to collectively reduce their carbon emissions by at least
20% by 2020 (based on 2008 levels).
Itella was also actively involved in the efforts to develop the indicators to assess the environmental impacts of the postal industry. These
indicators were put to use in the first IPC Postal Sector Sustainability
Report published in 2009. The report compares the carbon dioxide
emissions of 20 postal companies and the related environmental action. Areas where Itella performed well included reductions in energy
consumption in properties, data collection system reform, carbon
neutral services, and enhanced personnel awareness. Meanwhile,
areas in need of further development included subcontractor emissions management.

Further information: www.ipc.be

in Finland at sorting centers with the

to certified environmental projects.

environmental impacts. An elec-

objective of cutting the amount of

Itella Green deliveries are handled

tronic letter sent via NetPosti saves

mixed waste by as much as 40%.

in Itella’s standard mail processing

40 percent of carbon dioxide com-

systems.

pared to a paper letter.

Cleaner customer solutions

www.itella.com/itellagreen

Itella pursues its environmental ob-

Itella’s digital services offer

jectives primarily by reducing the

another alternative for reducing

www.itella.com/sustainability

emissions generated by company
vehicles and properties. In addition, the new Itella Green delivery

Fuel consumption
in mail delivery

concept provides customers with

l/100 km

an opportunity to reduce the car-

12.5

Electricity consumption
in sorting centers

CO2 emissions
compared to net sales

kWh/m2

kg/EUR

12.0

bon footprint of their supply chain.
The concept entails an additional

11.5

fee that fully compensates for the

11.0

190

0.10
0.08

185

0.06
180

carbon dioxide emissions related to

0.04
175

10.5

the delivery of letters, magazines,
and parcels. The revenue gener-

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

ated from the fees will be donated

1,583 vehicles

10.0

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

170

0.02
2007

2008

2009

0.00

CO2 emissions in Finland
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Words into action
Itella’s stakeholders

Itella is in daily contact with hundreds of thousands of
customers, employees and business partners. For Itella,
good corporate citizenship is a task of balancing the
different needs and expectations of its stakeholders in a
sustainable manner.
Stakeholders
CUSTOMERS

Stakeholder expectations

Means of interaction

Key actions and results in 2009

–

–

Nationwide service network

–

–

Services for information and product flow management in 15 countries

Improving the productivity of the postal
network

–

New services for more effective financial management, logistics, and CRM

–

Harmonizing the service offering across
geographic boundaries

–

Development of NetPosti and other information society services

–

Itella Green products and environmental certification

–

All time high in customer satisfaction
among consumers

–

Personnel adjustments through minimum layoffs and support for re-employment

–

A new operating concept for change
management

–

A new partnership model as part of the
occupational healthcare agreement

–

Personnel satisfaction survey extended
to cover 11 countries

–

Personnel representatives more closely
involved in executive bodies

–

–

PERSONNEL

A reliable partner that supports
the customer’s key business
processes across the entire market area

–

Customer satisfaction surveys and
feedback

Eco-efficiency

–

Job retention

–

Open communication

–

Competitive pay and fair rewarding policies

–

Improving well-being at work

–

26

Excellent postal services at a
reasonable price everywhere in
Finland

Equality among employees
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–

Itella’s values and the Code of
Ethics

–

Communication and supervisory
work

–

Target and performance reviews

–

Profit bonus system

–

Foundation for Well-being at Work

–

Equal opportunities program

–

Ongoing dialogue with personnel
representatives

Stakeholders
OWNER

Stakeholder expectations

Means of interaction

Key actions and results in 2009

–

–

Annual General Meeting

–

–

Board of Directors

Business reinvention in changing market conditions

–

Supervisory Board

–

–

Liaising with the government’s Ownership Steering department

Preparing for the new Postal Services
Act according to EU directive

–

Displaying comprehensive information
on corporate governance online

–

Introduction of the Itella Way management system

–

Promoting e-invoicing and e-transactions: NetPosti improvements and
launching Itella IPS Oy

–

SOCIETY AND

SUB-

Profitability and solvency

–

Dividend payment

–

Sound corporate governance

–

Applying financial reporting practices for listed companies

–

Business infrastructure and living
conditions in all regions of Finland

–

Investments in service development and innovation

–

–

More efficiency in business life
and public sector operations

Active networking and dialog with
interest groups

–

–

Liaising with and reporting to the
authorities

Rolling iPost and other innovations into
the global markets

–

Participation in the preparation of
the Postal Services Act in the working
groups of the Ministry of Transport and
Communications in Finland

–

Decision of the Finnish Communications Regulatory Agency on the allocation of costs arising from universal
services; Itella’s appeal pending in the
Administrative Court

–

Driving the information society

–

Boosting the export of service innovations

–

Compliance with laws and regulations

–

Long-term customer relationships
with the best suppliers in the
business

–

Research and pilot projects involving new technologies and
business models

CONTRACTING,
RESEARCH
AND
INDUSTRY
PARTNERS

MEDIA

Business reinvention and success in the European competitive
arena

–

THE PUBLIC
SECTOR

Postal services everywhere in
Finland in line with the Universal
Service Obligation

–

A pioneer in service export

–

An active role in international industry organizations

–

Reliable and prompt communication

–

Availability

–

Quick service

–

Enhancing partner network and
supply chain in sourcing

–

Major subcontractor and supplier
agreements with new partners

–

Eco-efficiency a criteria in partner
selection

–

Green electricity, reductions in fuel consumption

–

Membership in PostEurop, UPU
(Universal Postal Union), and IPC
(International Post Corporation)

–

Measuring environmental impact
through the IPC

–

Press releases and conferences

–

Over 400 media releases

–

Serving the media by phone and
online

–

Media Desk service launched

–

About 350 calls from the media

–

Maximum response time to media
service requests 30 minutes

Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009
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Itella Board of Directors
February 11, 2010

Eero Kasanen

Kalevi Alestalo

Hele-Hannele Aminoff

Antero Palmolahti

Chairman

Member of the Remuneration and

Member of the Audit Committee

Employee representative

Chairman of the Remuneration and

Nomination Committee

Oy Leiras Ab

National Chief Shop Steward, Itella

Nomination Committee

Financial Counselor, Ownership

b. 1960, MBA

Corporation

Executive Dean, Aalto University

Steering Department, Government

Board member since 2006.

b. 1952

School of Economics

Office

She has worked in executive posi-

Board member since 1999.

b. 1952, D.Sc. (Econ. & Bus. Adm.)

b. 1947, M.Pol.Sc.

tions in the pharmaceutical indus-

Joined Itella Group in 1971. Board

Board member since 2004.

Board member since 2005.

try, being the managing director of

Chairman: Itella Personnel Fund,

At the Helsinki School of Econom-

He has previously worked as the

Oy Leiras Ab (2006–2009). Board

Vice Chairman: Finnish Post and Lo-

ics since 1989. He holds several

Head of the Ownership Steering De-

member: BSN Oy, The Association

gistics Union PAU

Board memberships, including at

partment in the Ministry of Transport

of Finnish Advertisers

Elcoteq SE.

and Communications (1988–2007).
Vice Chairman: Raskone Oy

Erkki Helaniemi

Mikko Kosonen

Member of the Audit Committee

Vice Chairman

Partner, Alexander Group

Member of the Audit Committee

b. 1962, LL.M.

President, Finnish Innovation Fund

Board member since 2003.

Sitra

He has worked in the Alexander

b. 1957, D.Sc. (Econ. & Bus. Adm.)

Group since 1988. Board Chairman:

Board member since 2003.

Alexander Group companies, Finn-

His previous employer was Nokia

ish Foundation for Share Promotion

(1984–2007), where he worked as
Senior Vice President of corporate
planning and IT administration.
Board member: Kesko Corporation
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Supervisory
Board
Päivi Pesola

Riitta Savonlahti

Maarit Toivanen-Koivisto

Chairman

Chairman of the Audit Committee

Member of the Remuneration and

Member of the Remuneration and

Eero Lehti, MP (National Coalition Party)

Vice President, Business Control,

Nomination Committee

Nomination Committee

Heat Division,

Executive Vice President, Human

President, Onvest Oy

Fortum Power and Heat Oy

Resources, UPM-Kymmene Corpo-

b. 1954, M.Sc. (Econ.)

b. 1956, M.Sc. (Econ.)

ration

Board member since 2007.

She has worked in the Fortum Group

b. 1964, M.Sc. (Econ.)

She has worked in Onvest Group

since 1978 in executive positions in

Board member since 2008.

companies since 1984 where she

auditing and financial administra-

She has worked at UPM-Kymmene

is currently the Board Chairman.

tion. Board member since 2009.

since 2004, and previously as

Board member: Neste Oil Corpo-

Senior Vice President of Human Re-

ration and Tulikivi Corporation.

sources at Elcoteq Network Corpo-

Positions of trust in Chambers of

ration (2001–2004). Supervisory

Commerce.

Board member: POHTO

Vice Chairman
Antti Rantakangas, MP (Centre Party)
Birgitta Gran, Social Services
Ombudsman (Left Alliance)
Sirpa Hertell, Secretary General
(Green League)
Susanna Huovinen, MP (Social
Democratic Party)
Harri Jaskari, MP (National Coalition Party)
Bjarne Kallis, MP (Christian Democrats)
Lauri Kähkönen MP (Social
Democratic Party)
Outi Mäkelä, MP (National Coalition Party)

More detailed CV information: www.itella.com/management
Information according to the Corporate Governance Code: www.itella.com/corporategovernance

Reijo Ojennus, entrepreneur
(True Finns Party)
Pertti Salovaara, MP (Centre Party)

Itella’s Board of Directors, from the left: Eero Kasanen, Erkki Helaniemi, Hele-Hannele Aminoff, Mikko Kosonen,

Harry Wallin, engine driver (Social

Maarit Toivanen-Koivisto, Kalevi Alestalo, Riitta Savonlahti, Päivi Pesola and Antero Palmolahti.

Democratic Party)
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Itella Executive Board
February 11, 2010

Executive Board
Jukka Alho

Jaana Jokinen

Heikki Länsisyrjä

Tuija Soanjärvi

President and CEO

Senior Vice President, Human

Senior Vice President, Itella Infor-

Senior Vice President, CFO, Group

b. 1952, M.Sc. (Tech.)

Resources

mation

Administration

Joined Itella Group in 2000. He has

b. 1957, M.Sc.

b. 1960, M.Sc. (Econ. & Bus. Adm.)

b. 1955, M.Sc. (Econ. & Bus. Adm.)

previously worked at Elisa Corpo-

Joined Itella Group in 2009. She

Joined Itella Group in 2007. His

Joined Itella Group in 2005. She

ration (1981–2000) as a Techni-

has previously worked at Nokia

previous employer was Fujitsu

has previously worked as CFO at

cal Director and Executive Vice

(1995–2009) in global HR posi-

Services Oy (1987–2006) where

TietoEnator Corporation (1986–

President.

tions.

he worked as the Director of Infra-

2003) and Elisa Corporation

structure Services.

(2003–2005).

Senior Vice President, Itella Mail

Tarja Pääkkönen

Juhani Strömberg

Communication

Senior Vice President, Sales and

Senior Vice President, Strategy and

b. 1959, M.Sc. (Econ. & Bus. Adm.)

Marketing

Development

Joined Itella Group in 2005. He has

b. 1962, Ph.D. (Tech.)

b.1953, Ph.D. (Tech.)

previously worked at Kesko Corpo-

Joined Itella Group in 2005. She

Joined Itella Group in 2006. His

ration as Managing Director (2003–

has previously worked at Nokia

previous employer was TietoEnator

2005) of the K-Citymarket chain.

(1995–2005) in global executive

Corporation (1976–2006), where

positions.

he worked as Senior Vice President

Kari Kivikoski

of Corporate Development.
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Management Board members, in addition to those on the left
Vesa Vertanen

Päivi Alakuijala

Jarmo Niemi

Tomi Pienimäki

Senior Vice President, Itella Lo-

Vice President, Communications

National Chief Shop Steward (emp-

Vice President, CIO, Corporate ICT

gistics

b. 1967, M.Sc. (Agr. & For.)

loyee representative)

b. 1973, Ph.D. (Tech.), M.Sc. (Econ.

b. 1956, M.Sc. (Econ. & Bus. Adm.)

Joined Itella Group in 2004.

b.1954

& Bus. Adm.)

Joined Itella Group in 2001, where

Her previous employer was

Joined Itella Group in 1975.

Joined Itella Group in 2005. His

he worked previously as the

the PR company CW Works Oy

previous employer was Hackman

CFO. He has worked in executive

(1998–2004), where she worked

Metos Oy (2000–2005), where he

positions in Starkjohann Group

as the Senior Communications

worked as a CIO.

(1995–2000).

Consultant.

More detailed CV information: www.itella.com/management
Information according to the Corporate Governance Code: www.itella.com/corporategovernance
Itella’s Management Board, from the left: Tomi Pienimäki, Tarja Pääkkönen, Jukka Alho, Juhani Strömberg,
Heikki Länsisyrjä, Jarmo Niemi, Päivi Alakuijala, Kari Kivikoski, Jaana Jokinen, Vesa Vertanen and Tuija Soanjärvi.
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Corporate Governance Report for 2009
This account of Corporate Governance is based on Recommendation 51 of the Finnish
Corporate Governance Code for listed companies. The account was published as a separate
report in connection with the Financial Statements Bulletin. Other information complying with
the Corporate Governance Code is available at www.itella.com/corporategovernance
1 Corporate Governance Code

set out the Board’s key responsibili-

Harri Jaskari, MP, National Coali-

approving the company’s strategic

observed by Itella

ties and working principles.

tion Party

goals and risk management princi-

The duties and responsibilities of

The Chairman, Vice Chairman,

Bjarne Kallis, MP, Christian Demo-

ples, and ensuring the performance

Itella’s executive bodies are defined

and members of the Supervisory

crats

of the company’s management sys-

according to Finnish law. Itella’s de-

Board are elected by Itella Corpo-

Lauri Kähkönen, MP, Social Demo-

tem. The Board has adopted written

cision-making and administration

ration’s Annual General Meeting.

cratic Party

rules and procedures which set out

comply with the Finnish Limited Li-

Members’ terms of office end at the

Outi Mäkelä, MP, National Coalition

the Board’s key responsibilities

ability Companies Act, Itella Corpo-

close of the next AGM following their

Party

and working principles. The Board

ration’s Articles of Association, and

election. The AGM held on March 27,

Reijo Ojennus, entrepreneur, True

of Directors evaluates its perform-

the Finnish Corporate Governance

2009, decided to set the number of

Finns Party

ance and working methods on an

Code for listed companies issued by

Supervisory Board members at 12

Pertti Salovaara, MP, Centre Party

annual basis. It also assesses the

the Securities Market Association.

and not to change its composition.

Harry Wallin, engine driver, Social

performance and working methods

Democratic Party

of the CEO.

2 Composition and duties of the

Chairman:

Supervisory Board, the Board of

Eero Lehti, MP, National Coalition

2.2 Board of Directors

Vice Chairman, and members of Itella

Directors, and the Board Com-

Party

The duties of Itella Corporation’s

Corporation’s Board of Directors.

mittees

Vice Chairman:

Board of Directors are specified in

Members’ terms of office end at the

2.1 Supervisory Board

Antti Rantakangas, MP, Centre Party

the Companies Act, the Articles of

close of the next AGM following their

The Supervisory Board’s duties in-

Members:

Association, and the Guidelines

election. The AGM held on March 27,

clude the following:

Birgitta Gran, Social Ombudsman,

for Decision-Making approved by

2009, decided to set the number of

–

Ensuring that the company is

Left Alliance

the Board of Directors. According

Board members at 9 and to change

managed according to sound

Sirpa Hertell, Secretary General,

to these documents, the Board is

its composition as follows:

business practices and on a

Green League

responsible for controlling and su-

profitable basis

Susanna Huovinen, MP, Social

pervising senior management, ap-

Chairman of the Board of Directors:

Providing guidance to the Board

Democratic Party

pointing and dismissing the CEO,

Eero Kasanen, b. 1952, D.Sc. (Econ.

–

The AGM elects the Chairman,

of Directors on issues with

& Bus. Adm.); Executive Dean, Hel-

broad implications or those
–

Supervisory Board members

Providing the AGM with an

Eero Lehti, Chairman
Antti Rantakangas, Vice Chairman
Birgitta Gran
Sirpa Hertell
Susanna Huovinen
Harri Jaskari
Bjarne Kallis
Lauri Kähkönen
Outi Mäkelä
Reijo Ojennus
Pertti Salovaara
Harry Wallin

opinion on the company’s financial statements and the
auditors’ report
–

Monitoring the functioning of
postal services and the consideration of proposals for
changes thereto.

The Supervisory Board has adopted
written rules and procedures which
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Attendance at meetings

4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
3/4
4/4
3/4
4/4

Vice Chairman:
Mikko Kosonen, b. 1957, D.Sc.
(Econ. & Bus. Adm.); President,
Finnish Innovation Fund Sitra
Members:
Kalevi Alestalo, b. 1947, M.Pol.Sc.;
Financial Counsellor
Hele-Hannele Aminoff, b. 1960, MBA;
Managing Director, Oy Leiras Ab
Erkki Helaniemi, b. 1962, LLM; partner, Alexander Group

Board members’ attendance at meetings in 2009		
Member

Eero Kasanen, Chairman
Mikko Kosonen, Vice Chairman
Kalevi Alestalo
Hele-Hannele Aminoff
Erkki Helaniemi
Antero Palmolahti
Päivi Pesola *)
Mirja Sandberg **)
Riitta Savonlahti
Maarit Toivanen-Koivisto

Committee membership

Board of Directors

Committee

Remuneration and Nomination Committee (Chairman)
Audit Committee
Remuneration and Nomination Committee
Audit Committee
Audit Committee (Chairman until August 22, 2009)

11/12
12/12
12/12
11/12
12/12
12/12
9/9
3/3
11/12
11/12

6/7
4/5
7/7
5/5
5/5
4/4
6/7
1/1 and 4/5

Audit Committee (Chairman as of September 22, 2009)
Remuneration and Nomination Committee
Audit Committee/Remuneration and Nomination Committee

*) A Board member since March 27, 2009
**) A Board member until March 27, 2009

Päivi Pesola, b. 1956, M.Sc. (Econ.);

2.3 Board Committees

and for the Group’s remuneration,

Itella Corporation’s President and

Vice President, Business Control

The Audit Committee’s duties in-

bonus, and incentive schemes, for

CEO:

Heat Division, Fortum Power and

clude preparing, controlling, and as-

consideration by the Board of Direc-

Jukka Alho, b. 1952, M.Sc. (Tech.)

Heat Oy

sessing risk management policies,

tors. Moreover, the Committee en-

President and CEO of Itella Corpora-

Riitta Savonlahti, b. 1964, M.Sc.

internal control systems, as well as

sures that the Group’s remuneration

tion since 2000

(Econ.); Executive Vice President,

the organization of financial report-

schemes are fair and competitive.

Human Resources, UPM-Kymmene

ing, auditing, and internal audit,

Members of the Remuneration

Corporation

and annually examining financial

and Nomination Committee were

Maarit Toivanen-Koivisto, b. 1954,

statements with the auditors before

Eero Kasanen (Chairman), Kalevi

rectors: The Employers‘ Asso-

M.Sc. (Econ.); President, Onvest

submitting them to the Board of Di-

A lestalo, Riitta Savonlahti, and

ciation TIKLI

Oy

rectors. The Committee prepares

Maarit Toivanen-Koivisto.

Antero Palmolahti, b. 1952, Na-

matters entrusted to it for decision-

tional Chief Shop Steward, Itella

making by the Board of Directors.

Positions of trust:
–

–

Chairman of the Board of Di-

Board member: Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Com-

3 President and CEO

pany, Finnish Federation for

Corporation, Finnish Post and Lo-

Members of the Audit Commit-

The CEO is responsible for the

Communications and Teleinfor-

gistics Union (employee represent-

tee were Erkki Helaniemi (Chairman

Group’s operational management in

matics FiCom, Kirkkopalvelut ry

ative)

until September 22, 2009), Päivi

accordance with the Companies Act

All Board members except for

Pesola (Chairman as of September

and instructions and directions is-

employee representatives Antero

22, 2009), Hele-Hannele Aminoff,

sued by the Board of Directors, and

Palmolahti and Mirja Sandberg

Mikko Kosonen, and Maarit

for informing the Board of Directors

were independent of the company.

Toivanen-Koivisto until March 27.

of the company’s business and fi-

(Church Services Association)
–

Supervisory Board member:
Luottokunta credit institute,
The Finnish Fair Corporation

–

Delegate: Central Chamber of

The Remuneration and Nomi-

nancial performance. The President

Commerce, Helsinki Chamber

Alestalo, a representative of the

nation Committee is responsible

and CEO is also responsible for or-

of Commerce, the Finnish Sec-

Ownership Steering Department

for preparing proposals and gen-

ganizing the company’s administra-

tion of the International Cham-

of the Government Office, are inde-

eral guidelines for management

tion and for ensuring reliable man-

ber of Commerce

pendent of the shareholders.

remuneration and appointments,

agement of the company’s assets.

All members other than Kalevi
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4 Internal control and risk

nal control, and it has approved the

agement is responsible for internal

can help manage risks associated

management systems associ-

corporate policies on which the con-

control in their respective areas.

with the correctness of financial re-

ated with the financial reporting

trol environment is based. The poli-

Management responsibilities

process

cies are also used to increase per-

are specified in the Group manage-

Itella has identified and inves-

This section contains a descrip-

sonnel awareness and to influence

ment system, which is described

tigated risks associated with the

tion of the key features of the inter-

attitudes towards internal control.

in the Itella Way Handbook guide-

correctness of financial reporting

nal control and risk management

Itella Group’s general internal con-

lines. The business groups’ man-

in its processes and, on the basis

systems associated with financial

trol principles and responsibilities

agement systems are described in

of its findings, taken the necessary

reporting. It explains how Itella’s

regarding financial reporting are

each business group’s own Busi-

development measures.

internal control has been organ-

specified in a separate operating

ness Way Handbooks.

ized to ensure that the financial

model (Itella Group Policy on Con-

reports published by the company

trol over Financial Reporting).

The Group’s Chief Financial Of-

porting but not eliminate them.

4.3 Control activities

ficer is responsible for developing

The purpose of control activities is

offer materially correct informa-

Itella Group’s Code of Ethics

and maintaining procedures and

to ensure the quality of financial re-

tion about the company’s financial

sets out the Group’s generally ac-

tools that support business group

porting and to secure the compa-

performance. The purpose of the

cepted policies and principles, and

management and Group functions

ny’s assets. In 2009, Itella devised

description is not to assess the ef-

the Group’s commitment to com-

in the consistent execution and

a new internal control system for

fectiveness of the internal control

pliance with laws, standards, and

maintenance of an internal control

the key processes associated with

associated with financial reporting,

regulations. Each Group company

system for financial reporting. This

the correctness of the Group’s fi-

and it is not included in Itella’s au-

must ensure that its personnel are

allows for consistent Group-wide

nancial information. During 2010,

dited financial statements.

familiar with the Code of Ethics and

monitoring. Financial control and re-

the objective in the parent com-

In 2009, Itella launched a

that they comply with the Code in all

porting instructions are explained in

pany and in subsidiaries is to as-

project with the objective of devel-

activities. The Group has a feedback

the Controller’s Manual published in

sess the current status of control

oping an internal control system on

channel for reporting actions that

the intranet. They feature common

measures against the new system

financial reporting. It is based on

conflict with the Code of Ethics.

accounting and reporting principles

and to develop them on the basis

The financial statement report-

and practices as well as the roles and

of the needs identified. The com-

for internal control systems moni-

ing process is monitored by the

responsibilities of finance functions.

mon control requirements of the

toring published by the Committee

Board’s Audit Committee. The inter-

of Sponsoring Organizations of the

nal control function independently

4.2 Risk assessment

basic requirements on financial

Treadway Commission (COSO). The

monitors the effectiveness of the

The objective of Itella’s financial re-

statements (existence, rights and

model comprises five components

internal control system on financial

porting is to offer reliable, timely,

obligations, verifiability, coverage,

of internal control: control environ-

reporting in accordance with the

correct, and appropriate informa-

valuation, measurement, presen-

ment, risk assessment, control ac-

Audit Committee’s instructions.

the generally accepted framework

tivities, information and communication, and monitoring.

system allow the fulfillment of the

tion for external and internal pur-

tation, and disclosure). The control

The President and CEO is re-

poses, and to do this in compliance

requirements contain both general

sponsible for maintaining an ef-

with the legislation and regulations

and detailed control measures de-

ficient control environment. The

in effect at the time.

signed to prevent, detect, and cor-

4.1 Control environment

Group’s business operations are

The internal control system can-

Itella’s Board of Directors is re-

divided into three business groups

not fully guarantee the absence of

The control system also fea-

sponsible for the company’s inter-

and Group functions. Their man-

material errors or losses. The system

tures instructions and tools for the

34

Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009

rect errors and non-conformities.

purposeful description and testing

ing to cover financial indicators for

ing matters related to the business

the Audit Committee. An external

of the financial reporting control

actual and anticipated tied-up capi-

units’ profitability and risks.

auditor and the director of Itella’s

measures. The objective in 2010 is

tal and for unit-specific cash flows.

to perform testing measures to en-

The Group Finance function is re-

4.5 Monitoring

dit Committee meeting. The internal

sure the control measures referred

sponsible for maintaining Itella’s

The Itella Group has a financial re-

audit function reports to the Audit

to above work properly. Corrective

financial reporting principles and

porting system applied Group-wide

Committee. In its meetings the Au-

action will be taken if necessary.

guidelines. The Group’s finance

for monitoring business operations.

dit Committee discusses matters

Business Audit unit attend each Au-

Control activities include the

personnel have been informed of

This system allows for the identifica-

related to the control environment,

inspection and approval of various

these principles and guidelines

tion of any reporting non-conformi-

impairments, and internal and ex-

business transactions, principles

over the intranet. Throughout the

ties. External and internal reports

ternal audit reports and reviews.

for the segregation of duties and

year, Group management and unit

are based on the same information,

The Itella Group’s objective in

for approval authorizations, the in-

managers inform all organizational

and they are processed in the same

2010 is to continue with the intro-

spection of basic data and system

levels of the Group’s financial per-

system. This allows financial data to

duction of a monitoring system for

registers, reconciliation of bank bal-

formance, taking into account the

be monitored at all levels: the Group

the internal control on financial re-

ances and accounts, checklists, and

constraints of the Disclosure Policy.

level, business group (or Group func-

porting. The results of the assess-

various IT and systems controls as-

Business units regularly prepare fi-

tion) level, business unit level, and

ment of this system are reported to

sociated with financial reporting.

nancial and management reports

individual reporting entity level.

Group management and the Audit

4.4 Information and communi-

for the units’ and the Group’s man-

Similarly, external and internal

agement, analyzing and discuss-

audit functions report regularly to

Committee at least once a year.

cation
The Group’s profitability is as-

President and CEO
Jukka Alho

sessed in each Board of Directors’
meeting, and the Board reviews
all interim and annual reports be-

Emergent Businesses

fore they are published. Itella com-

Itella IPS Oy
Hannu Lanteri

plies with the reporting standards

NetPosti Services
Antero Sarèn

specified for listed companies and
publishes stock exchange releases

Group Functions

on its interim and annual reports.

Sales & Marketing
Tarja Pääkkönen

The principles applied to financial
communications are described in a

Group Administration
Tuija Soanjärvi

separate document (Disclosure Pol-

Strategy & Development
Juhani Strömberg

icy). Itella also reports to the Finn-

Corporate ICT
Tomi Pienimäki

ish Communications Regulatory
Agency on operations related to its
universal service obligation.
In 2009, Itella extended its

Itella Mail
Communication

Itella
Information

Itella
Logistics

Kari Kivikoski

Heikki Länsisyrjä

Vesa Vertanen

Human Resources
Jaana Jokinen
Communications
Päivi Alakuijala
Legal Affairs
Pekka Leskinen

monthly internal financial reportItella Corporation Annual Report 2009
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Business Environment

Operating profit weakened in Itella Mail Communication and Itella Lo-

Developments in electronic communications and the implementation of

gistics but improved in Itella Information. All Group companies and units

the Postal Services Directive in the EU countries continue to be the key fac-

took measures to lower external costs more efficiently.

tors impacting Itella’s business environment. The competitive positions in

The Group’s net financing cost was EUR -27.1 million (EUR -22.4 mil-

the postal industry are changing, which opens up new alternatives to com-

lion). The consolidated income statement included EUR 14.9 million net in

panies and public sector customers, and also tightens the price competi-

exchange rate losses due in particular to the weakening of the Russian ru-

tion. Changes in business logic will have widespread ramifications across

ble earlier in the year. Financial expenses included EUR 8.3 million of hedg-

the entire value chain. Both our customers’ and our competitors’ opera-

ing costs primarily generated from the hedging of intra-Group receivables in

tions transcend geographic boundaries. The areas most perceptibly affect-

rubles. Consolidated profit after financial items was EUR 19.6 million (EUR

ed by competition at this point are parcel services and direct marketing. In

46.6 million). Income taxes totaled EUR 24.2 million (EUR 27.9 million). The

Finland, legislation is to be amended to comply with the Postal Services

Group’s high tax rate could be attributed to the year’s losses, for which no

Directive and will take effect at the beginning of 2011, which will result in

deferred tax assets were recorded. The Group recorded a net loss of EUR 4.6

increasingly tight competition in addressed mail deliveries.

million for the financial period (net profit of EUR 18.6 million).
Return on equity stood at -0.7% (2.6%).

In 2009, the recession weakened the demand for Itella’s services in
all Itella countries. The impact was strongest on the logistics business volumes, which are highly vulnerable to economic cycles. At the same time,

Key figures of Itella Group

however, the severe economic conditions and the need to increase effi-

					

ciency made Itella’s outsourcing solutions more attractive and interesting

Net sales and profit performance

Net sales, MEUR		
Operating profit (EBIT), MEUR
EBIT margin, %		
Operating profit (EBIT), MEUR *)
EBIT margin, % *)
Profit before tax, MEUR
Return on equity, %
Return on investment, %
Equity ratio, %		
Gearing, %			
Personnel on average
Capital expenditure, MEUR
Dividends, MEUR

Itella Group’s net sales in 2009 fell by 6.8% to EUR 1,819.7 million (EUR

*) Excl. non-recurring items			

to customers.
Outside Finland, Itella primarily operates outside the euro zone, which
is why the fluctuations in foreign exchange rates particularly in the first half
of the year had a greater effect on Itella than in the previous years.
The key objectives Itella pursues in its strategy include making the
core business more competitive in Finland, and gaining a stronger foothold in the international growth markets. To do this, Itella must maintain
healthy profitability and investment capacity.

2009

2008

2007

1,819.7
46.7
2.6
86.3
4.7
19.6
-0.7
5.8
48.5
19.7
30,217
144.9
-

1 952.9
69.0
3.5
95.1
4.9
46.6
2.6
12.4
51.1
14.8
28,163
351.5
10.0

1 710.6
101.8
6.0
101.8
6.0
109.5
11.1
15.6
65.9
-36.4
25,623
94.2
39.0

1,952.9, million in 2008) and comparable net sales excluding the impact
of the previous year’s acquisitions and divestments declined by 11.4%. Net

Itella Mail Communication

sales in local currencies shrank by 4.7% excluding the impact of changes in

Itella Mail Communication recorded net sales of EUR 898.7 million (EUR

Group structure. The Group’s net sales were down by 5.8% in Finland and

918.1 million), showing a decrease of 2.1%.

by 9.0% in other countries. 30% of total net sales (31%) were generated

Delivery volumes of addressed mail and subscription newspapers and

outside Finland. Net sales remained unchanged in Itella Information, while

magazines in 2009 fell significantly compared to the corresponding period

in Itella Mail Communication and Itella Logistics net sales declined.

a year earlier:

Consolidated operating profit before non-recurring items amounted to

–

First class letters -7%

EUR 86.3 million (EUR 95.1 million), representing 4.7% (4.9%) of net sales.

–

Second class letters -2%

Consolidated operating profit including non-recurring items decreased by

–

Newspapers -4%

32.3% to EUR 46.7 million (EUR 69.0 million), representing 2.6% (3.5%) of

–

Magazines -2%

net sales. Non-recurring items included the following:

Addressed letter deliveries fell by 7%. In direct marketing, unaddressed

–

EUR 29.0 million personnel-related restructuring costs for increasing

direct mail deliveries increased sharply while addressed deliveries saw a

efficiency, with more detailed expense provisions from previous finan-

marked decline.

cial periods amounting to EUR 1.7 million.
–

38

Itella Mail Communication posted an operating profit of EUR 63.5 mil-

An impairment of EUR 10.6 million recorded on the goodwill of Itella

lion (EUR 90.1 million), representing 7.1% (9.8%) of net sales. The profit-

Logistics’ Russian business (EUR 26.1 million in 2008).

ability weakened due to the decrease in net sales, particularly in important

Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009

key products. The operating profit included personnel-related restructur-

Key Figures of Business Groups, MEUR		

ing costs of EUR 21.1 million. On the other hand, the implementation of

					

a new salary and working hours model helped improve productivity and

Net sales
Itella Mail Communication
898.7
Itella Information
247.2
Itella Logistics
713.9
Other activities
13.0
Intra-Group sales
-53.1
Itella Group			
1,819.7
					
Operating profit (EBIT)
Itella Mail Communication
63.5 1)
Itella Information
15.3 2)
Itella Logistics
-15.2 3)
Other activities
-16.9 4)
Itella Group			
46.7
				
EBIT margin, %			
Itella Mail Communication
7.1%
Itella Information
6.2%
Itella Logistics
-2.1%
Itella Group			
2.6%

curb the growth of personnel costs.
The four-year project launched in Finland in 2007 to improve the efficiency of mail sorting and delivery moved ahead as planned. A total of
some EUR 160 million will be invested in sorting and delivery equipment,
systems and buildings. At the year-end, 74% of the sorting network investments had been implemented.
Itella Information
Itella Information’s net sales remained on the previous year’s level of EUR
247.2 million (EUR 247.1 million). Excluding the effect of acquisitions and
divestments, net sales fell by 4.0%. Net sales picked up in all product lines
except in multi-channel invoicing services, and in all operating countries
except for Sweden and Germany. The fall in net sales in Sweden could be
partly attributed to the divestment of the contact center business at the
beginning of the year. Customer prospecting was successful in all operating countries.
The business group posted an operating profit of EUR 15.3 million
(EUR 9.6 million), representing 6.2% (3.9%) of net sales. Measures were
taken in all operating countries to adjust the cost levels to reflect the decrease in transaction volumes caused by the general market conditions.
Costs from personnel restructuring amounted to EUR 1.5 million.
During 2009, the business group set up new companies in Austria,
Hungary, Czech Republic, Romania and Russia.
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics recorded net sales of EUR 713.9 million (EUR 813.2 mil-

2009

2008

Change

918.1
247.1
813.2
20.5
-46.0
1,952.9

-2.1%
0.0%
-12.2%
-36.6%
..
-6.8%

90.1
9.6
-5.7
-25.0
69.0

-29.5%
59.4%
..
..
-32.3%

9.8%
3.9%
-0.7%
3.5%

Compared with the financial results reported for the segments in 2008,
Itella Mail Communication and Itella Logistics improved their operating
profits as a result of relocation of premises that were previously located
within other Group operations. The operating profits for 2008 have been
converted into comparable figures in the tables for 2009.
1) The result for Itella Mail Communication includes EUR 21.1 million of
restructuring costs.
2) The result for Itella Information includes EUR 1.5 million of restructuring costs.
3) The result for Itella Logistics includes EUR 6.2 million of restructuring
costs and EUR 10.6 million of goodwill impairment.
4) Other operations includes EUR 0.2 million of restructuring costs.

lion), showing a decrease of 12.2%. Excluding the impact of acquisitions,
net sales fell by 22.0%. Net sales decreased in all product lines except

Business risks

Contract Logistics and in all operating countries except Russia.

Group-wide risk management based on Enterprise Risk Management

Itella Logistics posted an operating loss of EUR 15.2 million (a profit

(ERM) principles forms an integral part of Itella’s management and strat-

of EUR 5.7 million), representing -2.1% (-0.7%) of net sales. The goodwill

egy processes. The annual Group strategy process includes extensive risk

of the Russian business was written down by EUR 10.6 (EUR 26.1 million),

identification, assessment and risk management planning.

mainly due to the rise in the discount rate used in the testing of the logis-

During 2009 the risk management tools and risk assessment scales

tics business. Costs from personnel restructuring amounted to EUR 6.2 mil-

were revised to better match the indicators used to measure business per-

lion. Apart from Norway, performance in all operating countries was taxed

formance (operating profit). The Group’s quarterly risk update and report-

by the significant decrease in volumes compared with the previous year.

ing was extended to cover risk portfolio monitoring against the Group’s

On the whole, Itella’s logistics volumes represented the industry’s general

specified risk-bearing capacity.

economic trend. In Finland, parcel delivery volumes decreased by 12%.

The inflexibility of the cost structure affects the competitiveness of business, particularly in Itella Mail Communication. Crucial elements of Mail
Communication’s development program include successful deployment of
changes and the timely achievement of cost savings. These risks are managed with strategy and scenario work, business case monitoring, careful

Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009
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planning of programs and projects, and related result follow-up. Itella invested in the development of methods and tools for change management.

Sorting centers and service warehouses represent key production
resources for Itella’s services. Any damage affecting them could result in

Digital substitution and particularly any unexpected changes in the

major interruptions in service production. Furthermore, products, services

process represent key strategic risks. The economic recession can trigger

and processes require a well-functioning ICT infrastructure and telecom-

quick and sizeable changes. Itella continues to prepare for these risks by

munications connections whose continuity must be secured using all

improving the productivity of its physical delivery network. Digital substi-

means available. Risks associated with the operability of physical and IT

tution also provides Itella with considerable business opportunities in dig-

environments are managed with extensive and systematic continuity and

ital and multi-channel business, and new information logistics products

recovery plans as well as physical safety and IT security management.

and solutions have been rolled out to meet changing customer needs. Net-

Insurance has been taken out to cover risks for which insurance is the

Posti and Itella IPS Oy (Itella Payment Services) introduce new solutions

best alternative for financial or other reasons. Insurance covering person-

for electronic transactions and invoicing.

nel, business continuity, assets and liabilities are centrally managed at the

The new Postal Services Act enforcing the EU directive will come into

Group level. Liability risks include risks arising from operations and prod-

force in Finland at the beginning of 2011. The Finnish Ministry of Transport

ucts, as well as corporate management liabilities. The Group’s risk toler-

and Communications is leading the preparation of the new legislation, and

ance is taken into account when determining the related deductibles.

Itella is actively involved in the process. If the new act allows competitors
to limit their delivery services to densely populated urban areas, this could

Disputes concerning the interpretation of the current postal services

result in regional pricing in corporate letter deliveries. Itella has prepared

legislation

for the new competitive situation by improving its efficiency and by prepar-

In October, the Finnish Communications Regulatory Agency issued a deci-

ing for regional pricing.

sion on the pricing of Itella’s universal service products, and required a

The economic recession has had a particularly strong impact on the

new price list for universal service products from Itella by May 1, 2010, as

logistics industry. Itella Logistics has also been affected: the plummeting

well as an explanation of the cost structure of charges collected for univer-

demand, market overcapacity, price erosion and extremely tough competi-

sal service products. Itella appealed to the Administrative Court and also

tive conditions have reduced its net sales and operating profit. Several ex-

applied for an injunction of enforcement for the decision. After the balance

tensive efficiency enhancement and savings programs have already been

sheet date, the Administrative Court denied Itella’s application regarding

completed and some are still under way. Cost-cutting measures also in-

the enforcement of the decision; consequently, the dispute between the

clude temporary lay-offs and reductions in subcontracting.

Finnish Communications Regulatory Agency and Itella concerning the in-

The situation in Russia may change in an unforeseeable way, which could

terpretation is still pending in the Administrative Court.

reflect on Itella Logistics’ business conditions and financial performance.
Outside Finland, Itella largely operates in countries outside the euro

Changes in corporate structure

zone. In terms of financial risks, the impact of currency risks grew consid-

Itella sold its holding in Oy Confidea Business Consulting Ab, part of the

erably after Itella acquired a majority holding in the Russian NLC Group.

Itella Logistics business group. Prior to the sale, Itella held a 69.9% share

This acquisition coincided with the outbreak of the financial crisis. During

in the company. The sale did not have a material impact on Itella’s figures.

2009, NLC Group companies carried out measures that helped significantly

Itella Information transferred its Swedish contact center business to a

reduce open transaction exposure. In accordance with the financial policy,

joint venture in which Itella is a minority shareholder. The eFlow business

translation risks are not hedged.

related to invoice automation solutions, part of Itella’s Norwegian compa-

The Group’s financial risk management focuses on reducing variations

ny, was sold. As a result of these sales, the number of personnel at Itella

in financial performance, the balance sheet, and cash flow while seeking

Information has decreased by about 70 employees from the beginning of

to secure the Group’s effective capital structure and sound financial posi-

the year. The arrangements did not have a material effect on the business

tion. Every effort is made to identify risk concentrations and to take the

group’s result.

necessary hedging measures. Business activities involve risks such as cur-

Itella became the sole owner of the Russian Itella NLC logistics group

rency, interest rate, liquidity, credit and counterparty risks. Credit risks are

after Itella acquired the minority holder’s 10% interest. The estimated ad-

managed by the sales organizations of the business groups. Group Treas-

ditional price of the acquisition is EUR 37.4 million, of which EUR 21.9 mil-

ury is responsible for the centralized management of financial risks in line

lion was paid in cash in October. Measures were launched to simplify the

with the financing guidelines approved by the Board of Directors. A more

legal structure of the sub-group.

detailed account of financial risks and their management is available in
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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On October 1, 2009, Itella Logistics’ Finnish subsidiaries AW-Store Oy,
Kauko Group Oy, and SHW Logistiikka Oy merged with Itella Logistics Oy. In

addition, Itella Information’s Finnish subsidiaries Keski-Suomen TTI Part-

Financial position

ners Oy and Normittari Oy merged with their parent company, Itella Tuot-

Consolidated net cash flow from operating activities totaled EUR 110.7

totieto Oy, on October 1, 2009.

million (EUR 130.8 million) before investment activities.

In June, Itella IPS Oy was authorized to act as a payment institution

Capital expenditure amounted to EUR 144.5 million (EUR 338.6 mil-

and it was also accepted as a member of the Federation of Finnish Finan-

lion), with acquisitions accounting for EUR 22.8 million (EUR 228.9 mil-

cial Services in Finland.

lion).

Itella began to explore opportunities of reorganizing domestic postal

A TyEL loan of EUR 100 million was drawn in the first quarter. During

operations into a separate subsidiary to match the organization of other

the financial period, EUR 100 million was spent to repay the US dollar

business activities.

loans of the Group’s Russian subsidiaries.

Capital expenditure

period is 7 years and it has a fixed interest rate of 4.375 per cent. The bond

Itella Group’s capital expenditure totaled EUR 122.1 million (EUR 110.4

was listed on December 17th on the Helsinki Stock Exchange maintained

million), primarily involving mail sorting machinery and mail processing

by NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy.

Itella Corporation issued a domestic bond of EUR 150 million. The loan

systems and facilities in Finland. Acquisitions amounted to EUR 22.8 mil-

At the end of the year, liquid assets amounted to EUR 161.0 million

lion (EUR 241.1 million). The Group’s total capital expenditure consisted

(EUR 129.4 million), and undrawn committed credit facilities totaled EUR

of EUR 104.7 million allocated to Finland and EUR 40.2 million to business

200.0 million (EUR 175.0 million). Commercial papers issued amounted

operations outside Finland.

to EUR 27.0 million at the end of the period. The Group’s interest-bearing
liabilities were EUR 294.1 million (EUR 232.3 million). Equity ratio stood at

Research and development

48.5% (51.1%) and net gearing was 19.7% (14.8%).

Itella Group’s research and development expenditure for 2009 came to
EUR 23.2 million, or 1.3% of the Group’s total operating expenses. The

Share capital and shareholding

2008 comparative figure was EUR 26.6 million (1.4%) and in 2007 EUR

Itella Corporation is wholly owned by the State of Finland, its share capital

30.5 million (1.9%).

consisting of 40,000,000 shares of equal per-share value. The company

In addition to annual analyses, research themes for 2009 included

holds no treasury shares and it has no subordinated loans. No loans have

financial management development trends and outsourcing needs, differ-

been granted to related parties and no commitments have been given on

ent factors affecting the choice of communications channels, newspaper

their behalf. The company has not issued shares, stock options, or other

and magazine subscription behavior trends in upcoming years, and the

rights entitling to company shares. The Board of Directors has no authori-

views of newspaper and magazine publishers on media industry trends

zations to issue shares or stock options, or other special rights entitling to

and business strategies. In addition, econometric models were used to

company shares.

analyze the allocation of resources required for basic postal deliveries
to fixed and product volume-based. Key priority areas in Group-level in-

Administration and auditors

novation activities included multi-channel delivery, transfer of electronic

At Itella Corporation’s Annual General Meeting on March 27, 2009, the

invoices, services in the social media, and the Group’s innovation system.

number of Board members was set at 9, and the following members were

Besides the actual R&D work, Itella also conducts business-related devel-

elected: Eero Kasanen (Chairman), Mikko Kosonen (Vice Chairman), Ka-

opment work concerning products, services, processes and infrastructure. Ex-

levi Alestalo, Hele-Hannele Aminoff, Erkki Helaniemi, Päivi Pesola, Riitta

tensive projects under way involve CRM (Customer Experience Management,

Savonlahti, and Maarit Toivanen-Koivisto. The AGM elected Antero Pal-

CEM), sorting infrastructure, and supply chain tracking (Itella Dashboard).

molahti, National Chief Shop Steward, as employee representative to the
Board.

Environmental impacts

The AGM decided to set the number of Supervisory Board members at

The environmental impacts of Itella’s operations mainly arise from green-

12 and re-elected the previous members. Eero Lehti was elected Chairman

house gas emissions. In summer 2009, Itella made a commitment to re-

and Antti Rantakangas was elected Vice Chairman.

duce its carbon dioxide emissions by 30% by the year 2020 (in proportion
to net sales, reference year 2007).
More information on environmental issues is available in Itella’s Annual Report on page 24. The Group has not published an environmental

The AGM elected KPMG Oy Ab firm of authorized public accountants to
be Itella Corporation’s auditor. KPMG appointed Pauli Salminen, Authorized Public Accountant, as the principal auditor.
Jukka Alho acted as Itella Corporation’s President and CEO in 2009.

report certified assured by an independent third party.
Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009
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Human resources

Itella’s businesses the market overcapacity and weak demand have result-

At the end of 2009, Itella Group employed a staff of 29,568 (31,672), the

ed in fierce price competition.

average number being 30,217 (28,163). This corresponds to 22,398 manyears if part-time employees are converted to full-time equivalents.

Exchange rate fluctuations may have a greater impact on Itella’s finances than in previous years. Nevertheless, the fundamental earning

At the end of 2009, the parent company had 20,293 (21,602) employees, the average number being 20,809 (22,007).

power of Itella’s operations is relatively stable.
Thanks to productivity enhancement measures, Itella has reached a

The number of employees working outside Finland was 7,536 (8,176),
and the number of employees working in Finland was 22,032 (23,496).

level that corresponds to current business volumes. Construction of the
Group’s shared operating platforms is progressing. Strict management
and control of overhead and discretionary costs will continue. The savings

Group personnel
					

Wages and salaries, EUR million
Employees on Dec. 31
Employees on average

generated by the adjustments made in the number of employees will begin
2009

2008

2007

716.3
29,568
30,217

709.0
31,672
28,163

647.6
25,211
25,623

to materialize in 2010.
The timing and volume of acquisitions and other investments will be
considered carefully. The level of capital expenditure will fall from the previous year due to the impending completion of the sorting network reform
in Finland.

The profit for the period in 2009 did not include an expense provision for
the employee profit-sharing scheme (EUR 2.9 million in 2008).
More information on human resources is available in Itella’s Annual
Report on page 20.

Board of Directors’ proposal to the AGM
According to the financial statements, the parent company’s distributable
profit funds total EUR 658,779,087.88, of which net loss for 2009 accounts
for EUR 28,504,616.93.

Outlook for 2010

No material changes have taken place in the Group’s financial stand-

The economic fluctuations will affect the demand for Itella’s services, and

ing since the end of the financial period, nor does the solvency test, as

no clear changes are in sight in that respect. The economic recession may

specified in section 13, subsection 2 of the Finnish Limited Liability Com-

rapidly accelerate digital substitution and electronic communications,

panies Act, affect the proposed distributable profits.

which will have a considerable effect on the long-term demand for Itella’s

The Board proposes to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend be

services. On the other hand, at this point of the economic cycle custom-

paid and that the losses for the period be deducted from retained earnings.

ers are showing interest in the extensive outsourcing solutions of Itella as
means to help streamline their cost structure. Changes in the competitive

Helsinki, February 10, 2010

environment are expected in consequence of the changes in legislation on

Itella Corporation

the postal industry taking effect at the beginning of next year. In some of

Board of Directors
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Comprehensive Consolidated Income Statement
EUR million		

2009

2008

Net sales			
1.3
1,819.7
Other operating income
4
14.3
Share of associated companies’ results		
0.1
Materials and services
5
474.9
Employee benefits
6
888.0
Depreciation and amortisation
8
77.8
Impairment losses
8
13.5
Other operating expenses
9
333.2
Operating profit (EBIT)		
46.7
			
Financial income
10
38.5
Financial expenses
10
-65.6
Profit before income tax		
19.6
			
Income tax			
11
-24.2
Result for the financial period		
-4.6
			
Other items of comprehensive income			
Available-for-sale financial assets		
-0.3
Translation diffrences		
-4.3
			
Comprehensive income, total		
-9.2
			
Result for the financial period attributable to			
Parent company shareholders		
-4.6
Minority interest			
0.0
			
Comprehensive income attributable to			
Parent company shareholders		
-9.2
Minority interest			
0.0

1,952.9
13.9
0.2
594.1
873.8
68.9
31.4
329.8
69.0

			

Note

58.0
-80.4
46.6
-27.9
18.6

-1.0
-16.4
1.2

19.7
-1.1

2.3
-1.1
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
EUR million		

			

Note

31 Dec 2009

Non-current assets			
Goodwill			
12
165.2
Other intangible assets
12
80.1
Investment property
13
4.4
Property, plant and equipment
14
688.3
Investments in associated companies
15
0.6
Other non-current investments
18
2.4
Non-current receivables
19
8.4
Deferred tax assets
20
12.7
Total non-current assets		
962.1
			
Current assets			
Inventories			
21
6.5
Trade receivables and other receivables
22
271.4
Current tax assets		
4.0
Financial assets available-for-sale
23
2.4
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss *)
24
79.4
Cash and cash equivalents *)
25
82.3
Total current assets		
446.0
			
Total assets				
1,408.1
			
Equity 			
Share capital		
26
70.0
Contingency reserve		
142.7
Fair value reserve		
0.0
Translation differences		
-20.7
Retained earnings		
483.6
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company		
675.6
Minority interest			
1.6
Total equity				
677.2
			
Non-current liabilities			
Deferred tax liabilities
20
48.3
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities
29
246.1
Other non-current liabilities
30
15.1
Non-current provisions
28
9.2
Defined benefit pension plan obligations
27
6.5
Total non-current liabilities		
325.2
			
Current liabilities			
Current interest-bearing liabilities
29
48.0
Trade payables and other liabilities
30
335.1
Current tax liabilities		
9.0
Current provisions
28
13.6
Total current liabilities		
405.7
			
Total liabilities			
730.9
				
Total equity and liabilities		
1,408.1
*) Items classified under the Group’s cash and cash equivalents have a maximum maturity of three months from the time of acquisition.
Data for the comparison year have been adjusted to match this definition.
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31 Dec 2008
174.9
85.2
4.7
655.3
0.6
0.6
7.4
7.4
936.1

7.1
280.2
8.7
3.8
85.1
49.5
434.4
1,370.5

70.0
142.7
0.3
-16.4
498.2
694.8
1.5
696.3

50.5
85.9
35.5
7.4
179.3

146.4
347.3
0.2
1.0
494.9
674.2
1,370.5

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
EUR million		

Note

2009

2008

Result for the financial period		
Adjustments			
Depreciation and amortisation
8
Impairment losses
8
Gains on sale of intangible assets and PPE
4
Losses on sale of intangible assets and PPE
9
Financial income
10
Financial expenses
10
Income tax		
11
Other adjustments		
Cash flow before change in net working capital		
			
Change in trade and other receivables		
Change in inventories		
Change in trade payables and other liabilities		
Change in provisions		
Change in net working capital		
			
Cash flow from operating activities before financial items and income tax		
				
Interests paid 			
Interests received		
Other financial items		
Income tax paid 			
Cash flow from financial items and income tax		
			
Cash flow from operating activities (net)		
			
Purchase of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (PPE)		
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets and PPE		
Acquisition of subsidiaries less cash and cash equivalents at acquisition date
2
Proceeds from sale of businesses		
Proceeds from sale of investments		
Change in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss *)		
Cash flow from other investments		
Cash flow from investing activities (net)		
			
Drawings of current loans		
Repayment of current loans		
Finance lease principal payments		
Drawings of non-current loans		
Repayment of non-current loans		
Minority capital investment		
Dividends paid			
Cash flow from financing activities (net)		
			
Change of cash and cash equivalents		
			
Cash and cash equivalents at period-start *)
22
Effect of change in exchange rates		
Change of fair value of cash and cash equivalents 		
Cash and cash equivalents at period-end *)
22

-4.6

18.6

77.8
13.5
-0.4
2.2
-38.5
65.6
24.2
0.0
139.8

68.9
31.4
-6.2
1.5
-58.0
80.4
27.9
-0.2
164.3

12.5
0.7
-17.2
20.8
16.8

103.7
0.2
-96.5
-4.5
2.9

156.6

167.2

-15.1
5.6
-19.5
-16.9
-45.9

-8.7
14.6
-6.9
-35.4
-36.4

110.7

130.8

-121.7
2.2
-22.8
1.4
5.4
-2.2
-137.7

-109.7
1.4
-228.9
0.8
6.1
100.2
4.1
-226.0

12.5
-109.1
-9.9
236.8
-68.4
-10.0
51.9

93.1
-9.4
15.4
-31.8
2.3
-39.0
30.6

24.9

-64.6

49.5
7.9
0.0
82.3

112.1
2.3
-0.3
49.5

			

*) Items classified under the Group’s cash and cash equivalents have a maximum maturity of three months from the time of acquisition.
Data for the comparison year have been adjusted to match this definition.
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Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company
					
EUR million			

Share Contingency
capital
reserve

Fair value
reserve

Translation
difference

Retained 		
earnings
Total

Minority
interest

Total
equity

Equity 1 Jan 2008
70.0
142.7
1.3
0.0
517.5
731.5
0.9
Dividends paid						
-39.0
-39.0		
Disposal of subsidiaries							
2.5
Comprehensive income of period			
-1.0
-16.4
19.7
2.3
-1.9
Equity 31 Dec 2008
70.0
142.7
0.3
-16.4
498.2
694.8
1.5
								
Equity 1 Jan 2009
70.0
142.7
0.3
-16.4
498.2
694.8
1.5
Dividends paid						
-10.0
-10.0		
Other changes								
0.1
Comprehensive income of period			
-0.3
-4.3
-4.6
-9.2		
Equity 31 Dec 2009
70.0
142.7
0.0
-20.7
483.6
675.6
1.6

732.4
-39.0
2.5
0.4
696.3
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696.3
-10.0
0.1
-9.2
677.2

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
Basic company data

as part of the assets’ acquisition cost as the Group had not made invest-

Itella Group provides mail communication, information logistics and logis-

ments in assets that meet the conditions of IAS 23. The management es-

tics services and operates in fifteen countries. Its Parent Company, Itella

timates that this change in accounting policies would primarily affect the

Corporation, is domiciled in Helsinki, the address of its registered office

Group’s long-term construction projects.

being Postintaival 7 A, FI-00230 Helsinki.

IAS 24 Related party disclosures (amendment). Amendments in the revised standard mainly have to do with the concept of related party and the

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

requirements on notes on state-owned companies. State-owned compa-

Itella Corporation has prepared its consolidated financial statements in

nies are no longer required to disclose data on mutual related party trans-

accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS),

actions in their notes. The amended standard has not yet been approved

adopted by the European Union, while adhering to the related IFRS/IAS

for application in the EU. The amendments of the standard affected the

standards, effective on 31 December 2009, and their SIC and IFRIC inter-

data disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements such

pretations. By way of exception, the Group has applied the amended IAS

that related-party transactions among owners are no longer disclosed.

24 standard before it was approved for application in the EU.

IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures (amendment). The amend-

On 1 January 2006, Itella Group began to prepare its consolidated

ment involves a three-level hierarchy to be adopted in the disclosure of

financial statements under IFRS. The notes to the consolidated financial

the fair values of financial instruments. Furthermore, it involves extended

statements are also in compliance with Finnish Accounting legislation and

requirements on the disclosure of liquidity risk information. The amend-

Community legislation.

ments of the standard have resulted in an increase in the number of notes

The consolidated financial statements are prepared at historical cost,
with the exception of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets. The consoli-

to the consolidated financial statements for the items referred to above.
Other interpretations/amendments that took effect in 2009 had no effect on Itella’s consolidated financial statements.

dated financial statements are presented in millions of euros.
Consolidation principles
New and revised standards

Subsidiaries

As of January 1, 2009 the Group applies the following new and revised

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Parent

standards and interpretations;

Company, Itella Corporation, and those of all of its subsidiaries. Subsidiar-

IFRS 8 Operating segments. The standard specifies that segment data

ies refer to companies over which the Parent Company exercises control,

should by and large be consistent with the internal reporting data which

directly or indirectly, arising from the Group holding more than half of the

the company management uses to assess the performance of various

entity’s voting rights or in other respects having the power to govern its

business segments and to make decisions about resources to be allocated

financial and operating policies for the purpose of profiting from its opera-

to the segments. The adoption of the new standard did not materially af-

tions.

fect the information reported for the segments as the segment informa-

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is trans-

tion published by the Group previously was based on the Group’s internal

ferred to the Group until the date on which said control ceases. Intra-group

reporting structure.

shareholdings are eliminated using the purchase method and the result-

IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements (amendment). According to

ing residual is allocated to the acquiree’s assets and liabilities measured

the amended standard, financial statements should include a statement

at fair value. Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest

of comprehensive income showing all changes in equity related to transac-

in the fair values of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, liabilities and

tions other than those conducted between the company and its sharehold-

contingent liabilities are recognised as goodwill.

ers. The amendments to the standard primarily affect the presentation of

Intra-group transactions, receivables, liabilities and distribution of

the statement of comprehensive income and the statement of changes in

profits are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. Compre-

equity.

hensive income attributable to the Parent Company’s shareholder and

IAS 23 Borrowing costs (amendment). According to the amended

minority interest is presented in the consolidated comprehensive income

standard, borrowing costs can under certain conditions form a part of the

statement. Minority interest is presented as a separate item within equity

asset’s acquisition cost. The Group has previously recorded borrowing

in the consolidated balance sheet.

costs as expenses for the financial period during which they were incurred.
In the financial period 2009, the Group did not capitalize borrowing costs
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Associated companies

In accordance with IAS 21, translation differences from net invest-

An associated company refers to an entity in which the Group holds more

ments in foreign units are recorded under other items of the comprehen-

than 20 per cent of its shares and votes or, in other respects, over which

sive income statement. Net investments also comprise long-term loans

the Group exercises significant influence, but not control. Holdings in asso-

granted by the Group to foreign units with unscheduled repayment and

ciated companies are consolidated using the equity method. Investments

with unlikely repayment in the foreseeable future. As of October 1, 2009,

in associated companies are recognised at cost as adjusted by post-ac-

intra-Group loan receivables from the Russian companies are classified as

quisition changes in the Group’s share of the associated company’s net

long-term investments in compliance with IAS 21.

assets. The Group’s share of associates company’s results, based on the
Group’s interest in the associated company, is shown as a separate item

Revenue recognition

before operating profit in the comprehensive income statement.

Revenue from the sale of goods (incl. postage stamps) is recognised when
the goods have been delivered to the customer and significant risks and

Mutual property companies

rewards of ownership have transferred to the buyer. The provision of serv-

Itella Group has holdings in property companies over which it exercises

ices of short duration generates a major part of Itella Group’s revenues.

control jointly with other shareholders. These mutual property companies’

Such revenues are recognised when the service is rendered as agreed.

controlled assets are consolidated as required under IAS 31 Interests in
Joint Ventures, whereby the consolidated financial statements include the

Net sales derive from revenue based on the sale of goods and services
net of indirect taxes, discounts and exchange rate differences.

Group’s share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Government grants
Foreign currency translation

Government grants mainly refer to product and business development grants

The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in euros, which is

and low-wage support, which are recognised in other operating income.

the functional currency of the Group’s Parent Company.
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into eu-

Other operating income

ros at the exchange rate quoted on the transaction date. While monetary

Other operating income includes capital gains on sale of assets and in-

items in the balance sheet are translated into euros using the exchange

come other than that based on the sale of goods and services, such as

rate quoted on the balance sheet date, non-monetary items are translated

rental income.

using the exchange rate quoted on the transaction date, excluding items
carried at fair value translated using the exchange rate quoted on the date

Employee benefits

when the fair value was determined. Any exchange gains or losses aris-

Pensions

ing from business operations are recorded in the comprehensive income

The majority of the Group’s pension plans have fallen under defined contri-

statement under the respective items above operating profit and those

bution plans. Contributions under defined contribution pension plans are

arising from financial instruments are included in financial income and

recognised through profit or loss for the period during which such contri-

expenses.

butions are made. Following the payment of such contributions, the Group

If the subsidiaries’ functional currency differs from the Group’s pres-

has no pension obligations left.

entation currency, their income statements will be converted into euros

For defined benefit plans, the pension liability recognised in the bal-

using the average exchange rate quoted for the financial year, and their

ance sheet equals the present value of the defined benefit obligation, as

balance sheets into the exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Differ-

adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses and unrecognised

ences resulting from these exchange rates are recognised in other items

past service costs, and reduced by the fair value of plan assets on the bal-

of the comprehensive income statement. When the subsidiary is disposed

ance sheet date. The Group applies the IAS 19 corridor approach to actuar-

of, any accumulated translation differences are recognised through profit

ial gains and losses, whereby these gains and losses outside certain limits

or loss as part of capital gain or loss.

are divided by the average remaining working lives of employees within

Goodwill resulting from the acquisition of foreign entities and the fair

the plan. Actuarial gains or losses are recognised if they exceed 10 per

value adjustments of the carrying amounts of these entities’ assets and

cent of the greater of the fair value of the defined benefit plan assets or the

liabilities made during the acquisition have been treated as the entity’s

present value of the defined benefit obligation.

assets and liabilities and translated into euros quoted on the balance

Expenses under both the defined contribution and defined benefit

sheet date. The goodwill resulting from acquisitions made before January

plans are included in employee benefit expenses in the comprehensive

1, 2006, and fair value adjustments are recognised in euros.

income statement.
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Other operating expenses

Intangible assets

Other operating expenses include lease expenses, voluntary personnel ex-

Goodwill

penses, maintenance expenses related to premises and vehicles, expens-

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s

es related to fuels and lubricants, as well as other production expenses. In

interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and con-

addition, commissions paid to non-employees and other sales costs and

tingent liabilities of the acquiree on the date of acquisition.

marketing, entertainment, office and IT expenses are included in other operating expenses.

Instead of amortisation, goodwill is annually tested for impairment.
For this purpose, goodwill is allocated to cash generating units (CGUs). Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated

Operating profit

impairment losses.

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements does not define the concept of
operating profit. The Group applies the following definition: an operating

Research and development expenditure

profit is a net amount derived from net sales plus other operating income,

Research and development costs are primarily expensed as incurred. Only

less purchase expenses from which change in finished goods inventory

development costs arising from new significant or substantially improved

and work in progress is subtracted, adjusted for expenses from production

products and enterprise resource planning systems will be capitalised as

for own use, less employee benefit expenses, depreciation, amortisation

intangible assets only if they are technically and commercially feasible and

and any impairment losses, other operating expenses and the share of as-

the Group has sufficient resources to complete the intangible asset and it

sociated company’s results. All other items in the income statement are

is probable that the created asset will generate future economic benefits.

shown below the operating profit. Exchange rate differences are included

The majority of Group development costs do not fulfil the criteria set for

in the operating profit if they arise from items related to operations. Other-

IAS 38 Intangible Assets.

wise, they are recognised in financial items.

Capitalised development costs are recognised as intangible assets
and amortised over the assets’ useful lives, not exceeding five years.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred. Direct borrowing costs incurred

Other intangible assets

by the acquisition, construction or manufacture of an asset that meets the

A purchased intangible asset is initially recognised at cost. Intangible as-

conditions of IAS 23 are capitalised as part of the asset’s acquisition cost.

sets purchased through business combinations, such as intangible assets

Loan-related transaction expenses clearly associated with a specific loan

related to customers, marketing and technology, are carried at fair value

are included in the loan’s original amortised cost and recognised as inter-

on the date of acquisition. Intangible rights mainly comprise software li-

est expenses using the effective interest method.

cences and customer portfolios, trademarks and leases acquired through
business combinations. The Group’s other intangible assets have definite

Income taxes

economic lives, over which period they are amortised. The expected useful

Income tax expense shown in the consolidated comprehensive income

lives are below:

statement includes Group companies’ current income tax calculated on
their profit for the financial year using the tax rate effective on the balance
sheet date based on local tax regulations, as well as any tax adjustments
for previous financial years and changes in deferred tax.
Deferred taxes are calculated on temporary differences between the

Software licences
Customer portfolios
Trademarks
Leases 		

3–5 years
5–10 years
5 years
4 years

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax bases,

Property, plant and equipment

with certain exceptions such as consolidated goodwill. The largest tempo-

Following initial recognition, property, plant and equipment (PPE) are car-

rary differences arise from depreciation of property, plant and equipment,

ried at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

defined benefit pension plans, unused tax losses and fair value adjustments related to acquisitions.
The tax rate enacted by the balance sheet date is used to determine

PPE are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their expected useful
lives. Land and water are not subject to depreciation. The expected useful
lives of PPE are as follows:

deferred tax. A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it appears probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary difference can be utilised.
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The Group as lessor
Production buildings
Office buildings		
Structures			
Machinery and equipment
Other tangible assets

8–25 years
25–40 years
15 years
3–13 years
3–10 years

Leases, for which the Group acts as a lessor and substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership have transferred to the lessee, are accounted for as
finance leases and recognised as receivables at the present value of investment. Finance lease income is recognised in such a way that the residual net investment generates the same return over the lease term.

If an asset under PPE constitutes several items with differing useful lives,

Assets leased under the operating lease are included in property, plant

each of them is accounted for as a separate asset. In such a case, the cost

and equipment and depreciated over their useful lives in the same way as

of replacing the item is recognised as an asset. Otherwise, costs arising at

for similar assets in own use. Lease income is recorded on a straight-line

a later date, such as modernisation and renovation project costs, are capi-

basis through profit or loss over the lease term.

talised if it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with
the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured

Inventories

reliably. Normal repair, maintenance and servicing costs are expensed as

Subsequent to initial recognition, inventories are measured at the lower of

incurred. Assets’ useful lives are reassed on the balance sheet date and, if

cost or net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the estimated

necessary, adjusted to meet the requirements of changed circumstances.

selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred

When an asset’s carrying amount is expected to be recovered prin-

in selling and distribution.

cipally through a sale rather than through continuing use, it is classified
as held for sale. An asset is classified as held for sale if its sale is highly

Financial assets and liabilities

probable and it is available and ready for immediate sale. Furthermore,

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value. Their subsequent

the company’s management must be committed to a plan to sell the as-

measurement depends on their classification. The Group’s financial assets

set within 12 months of classification as held for sale. Assets classified as

are classified according to IAS 39: financial assets recognised at fair value

held for sale are not subject to depreciation.

through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial assets. Classification of a financial asset is

Investment property

determined by the purpose for which the asset is purchased at the time of

Investment property refers to land or buildings, or part thereof, held for

its original purchase. Transaction costs are included in the financial asset’s

rental income or capital appreciation. It is measured at cost less accumu-

original carrying amount, in the case of the financial asset is not measured

lated depreciation and impairment losses. Buildings under investment

at fair value through profit of loss. Purchases and sales of financial assets

property are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their expected useful

are recognised or derecognised using trade date accounting,

lives, 30 - 40 years. Land included in investment property is not depreciated.

The Group derecognises a financial asset when its contractual right to
the cash flows from the asset has expired or is forfeited, or it has transferred substantially all risks and rewards outside the Group.

Leases

Financial assets recognised through profit or loss include held-for-

Leases on property, plant and equipment, in which substantially all risks

trading financial assets. Investments in bonds and money-market instru-

and rewards of ownership transfer to the lessee, are classified as finance

ments are measured at fair value on the balance sheet date, based on

leases. Leases in which risks and rewards remain with the lessor are clas-

price quotes on the market, or bid quotes on the balance sheet date. Held-

sified as operating leases.

for-trading financial assets are included in current assets. Any unrealised
and realised gains or losses resulting from fair value changes are recog-

The Group as lessee

nised through profit or loss during the period in which they occur.

Assets under finance leases are recognised as assets at their fair value or,

Held-to-maturity investments are financial assets with fixed payments

if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments, each de-

and fixed maturity, which an entity intends to hold to maturity. Included in

termined at the inception of the lease. Lease obligations are included in

non-current assets, held-to-maturity investments are measured at amor-

interest-bearing liabilities. Leased assets are depreciated over their useful

tised cost using the effective interest-rate method. The Group has no held-

lives or shorter lease term. Finance lease payments are apportioned be-

to-maturity investments in the financial periods 2008 and 2009.

tween interest expenses and reduction of the lease liability.
Operating lease payments are expensed in the comprehensive income
statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

50

Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and not
held for trading. Included in both current and non-current assets, loans

and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective inter-

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

est-rate method. Trade and other receivables are recognised at cost, cor-

in applying accounting policies

responding to their fair value and recorded under current assets.

Preparing the consolidated financial statements in compliance with IFRS

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives designated in

requires that Group management make certain estimates and judgements

this asset category or not classified in any of the other asset categories.

in applying the accounting policies. These estimates and assumptions are

They are measured at fair value on the balance sheet date. Changes in the

based on the management’s best knowledge of current events and ac-

available-for-sale financial assets’ fair value are recognised in other items

tions, but the actuals may differ from these estimates and assumptions as

of the comprehensive income statement, taking account of the related tax

stated in the financial statements.

effect. Changes in the fair value are recorded through profit or loss if the

Goodwill is annually tested for any impairment. The recoverable

investment is sold or its value has fallen in such a way that an impairment

amounts of cash-generating units (CGUs) are based on calculations of

loss must be recognised on it. Available-for-sale investments include eq-

value in use, whose preparation requires estimates and assumptions re-

uity fund investments measured at fair value on the balance sheet date

garding aspects such as discount rate, long-term market growth and busi-

notified by the fund manager.

ness profitability. During the year, the management also assesses whether

Non-derivative financial liabilities are initially recognised based on

there is an indication of an impaired asset.

the consideration received. Transaction costs are included in the initial

In 2009, the Itella Group changed the method for calculating the dis-

carrying amount of financial liabilities. Subsequently, financial liabilities

count rate used for impairment testing by redefining a risk-free interest

are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest-rate method.

rate for countries where active interest rate markets do not exist, and by

The initial carrying amount of trade and other current liabilities equal their

applying accounting beta instead of market beta. More information is pro-

fair value, since the effect of discounting is not substantial in view of the

vided in note 12 “Intangible assets”.

maturity of liabilities. Financial liabilities are included in both non-current
and current liabilities.

In the context of business combinations, the acquired entity’s assets
are measured at fair value. Allocating the total purchase cost to intangible

Financial assets and liabilities recognised at fair value through profit

assets and goodwill is partly based on an estimate. Determining assets’

or loss include derivative contracts to which hedge accounting under IAS

depreciation/amortisation periods is based on estimates of the assets’

39 does not apply. The fair value of derivatives is determined on the basis

useful lives.

of the market value of similar derivatives or generally accepted valuation

The carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment are based on

models. Since the Group does not apply hedge accounting, any change in

the cost of acquisition and the related asset depreciation according to the

the derivative contracts’ fair value is recognised under financial items in

asset’s useful life. The assets’ useful lives and their adjustment to meet

the comprehensive income statement. The fair value of currency forward

the requirements of changed circumstances are based on estimates and

contracts equals the market quote on the balance sheet date while that of

assumptions.

interest-rate swaps equals the present value of future interest cash flows.
Impairment test
Cash and cash equivalents

An impairment test will be performed on capital which is removed during

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, callable bank deposits and

its economic lifetime if there is any indication that its balance sheet value

other short-term, highly liquid investments that can be easily exchanged

exceeds the recoverable amount. However, goodwill is subject to an annu-

for a pre-determined amount of cash and that involve a very small risk of

al impairment test and factors which have an effect on testing are reviewed

changes in value. The money-market investments classified as the Group’s

during the financial period. For this purpose, goodwill is allocated to cash

cash and cash equivalents have a maximum maturity of three months.

generating units (CGUs), i.e. to the lowest level for which there are cash
flows that are largely independent of the cash flows from other assets or

Provisions

groups of assets. Itella Group’s CGUs are listed in Note 12.

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or construc-

The recoverable amount of CGUs is based on calculations on value in

tive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of

use. Value in use refers to estimated future net cash flows from an asset

resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate

or a CGU, discounted to their present value. Any resulting impairment loss

of the amount of this obligation can be made. Provisions for restructuring

is recognised through profit or loss if the asset’s carrying amount exceeds

are recognised when the related, detailed and official plan has been ap-

its estimated recoverable amount. The impairment loss of a CGU is first

proved and disclosed.
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allocated to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the

1. Operating segments

unit and then reduce the carrying amounts of the unit’s other assets on a

Itella Group’s operating segments consist of three reported business seg-

pro rata basis.

ments: Itella Mail Communication, Itella Information and Itella Logistics.

Impairment losses of tangible assets previously charged to expenses
may be reversed only if circumstances have changed and the asset’s recov-

Itella Group’s reported segments are based on the various services and
products they offer, which is why they are managed as separate entities.

erable amount has changed from the date of impairment loss recognition.

Other operations and unallocated items consist of centralised

An impairment loss may only be reversed to the extent the reversal does

Group functions supporting the business, and of investment proper-

not increase the asset’s carrying amount above the carrying amount that

ties. Unallocated items include tax and financial items, as well as cor-

would have been determined for the asset had no impairment loss been

porate items.

recognised. Impairment losses for goodwill may not be reversed.

In internal management reporting, the segments’ performance
assessment is based on the operating result and return on invest-

Applying new or amended IFRSs

ment. Items allocated to the segments include non-current and cur-

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (effective for financial periods beginning on

rent operating assets and liabilities, including non-interest bearing

or after 1 July 2009). The revised IFRS 3 will change accounting for goodwill

liabilities and provisions. Operating items are items the segment uses

in the context of acquisitions and affect the business disposals. In addi-

in its operations or that may be reasonably allocated to the segments.

tion, both direct transaction-related costs and additional items incurred

Comparison data in the balance sheet for 2008 have been changed

by contingent considerations will be recorded as expenses. The Group ex-

to match management reporting. Investments consist of additions of

pects that these changes will have no material effect on the consolidated

non-current tangible and intangible assets.

financial statements.

The valuation and accrual principles used in the internal management reporting are IFRS-compliant. Inter-segment sales are con-

IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009). This standard has been
altered to correspond to the amended IFRS 3.

ducted at market prices.
At the beginning of the financial period, premises being used
for business operations were transferred from Other operations to the
reporting segments. The transfer means that instead of rental costs,

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective for financial periods beginning on

the segments’ profit is negatively affected by depreciation while the

or after 1 January 2013). The new standard introduces new requirements

transferred property, plant and equipment increase assets. This ex-

for classifying and measuring financial assets. The new standard has not

plains why the operating profits of Itella Mail Communication and Itel-

yet been accepted for application in the EU.

la Logistics have increased. Data for 2008 shown here is comparable.

The Group holds the view that the new or amended standards taking effect
in 2010 will have no material effect on the consolidated financial statements. The Group will apply all of the above mentioned standards when
they come into effect.

Itella Mail Communication
Itella Mail Communication offers delivery services for letters, advertisements, magazines and newspapers, and provides daily postal
services to consumers. Multi-channel customer relationship marketing solutions for companies represent a growth area. Operations are
primarily conducted in Finland.
Itella Information
Itella Information is the forerunner in electronic invoicing in Europe. It provides companies and organizations with solutions for processing outgoing
and incoming invoices and outsourcing financial management.
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics provides solutions for customer companies’ freight,
transportation and warehousing needs. Services comprise the entire supply chain, from manufacturer to the retail store. The business
group operates in Northern Europe and Russia, and runs global operations through its partners.
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Itella Mail
Itella
Itella
Segments
EUR million		
Communication
Information
Logistics
total

Other
operations
and un-		
allocated
Eliminations

2009
External sales
868.8
236.0
709.2
1,813.9
5.8		
Inter-segment sales
29.9
11.2
4.7
45.8
7.2
-53.1
Net sales		
898.7
247.2
713.9
1,859.7
13.0
-53.1
								
Share of associated companies’ results
0.1
0.0
0.1
0.0		
								
Operating profit (EBIT)
63.5
15.3
-15.2
63.6
-16.9		
								
Financial income and expenses 					
-27.1		
Profit/loss for the period before taxes 							
								
Shares in associated companies
0.4
0.2
0.6
0.0		
Assets			
317.1
152.6
637.0
1,106.6
306.7
-5.2
Liabilities		
146.4
34.0
95.4
275.8
455.2
-0.1
								
Capital expenditure
81.4
8.9
27.5
117.8
4.3		
Depreciation and amortisation
17.7
9.8
40.1
67.6
10.2		
Impairment losses on goodwill and buildings
10.6
10.6
2.9		
Personnel at period-end
17,961
1,919
9,649
29,529
39		
								
2008							
External sales
889.6
240.0
809.3
1,938.9
14.0 		
Inter-segment sales
28.5
7.1
4.0
39.5
6.5
-46.0
Net sales		
918.1
247.1
813.2
1,978.4
20.6
-46.0
								
Share of associated companies’ results
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.2 		
								
Operating profit (EBIT)
90.1
9.6
-5.7
94.0
-25.0 		
								
Financial income and expenses 					
-22.4		
Profit/loss for the period before taxes 							
								
Shares in associated companies
0.2
0.2
0.4
0.2 		
Assets			
239.6
157.2
684.9
1,081.7
409.1
-120.3
Liabilities		
130.4
35.6
126.6
292.6
392.0
-10.4
								
Capital expenditure
30.4
8.4
35.0
73.8
36.6 		
Depreciation and amortisation
14.1
9.8
26.0
49.8
19.0 		
Impairment losses on goodwill and buildings
26.1
26.1
5.3 		
Personnel on average
19,491
1,781
6,860
28,132
31		

Group
total

1,819.7
1,819.7
0.1
46.7
-27.1
19.6
0.6
1,408.1
730.9
122.1
77.8
13.5
29,568

1,952.9
1,952.9
0.2
69.0
-22.4
46.6
0.6
1,370.5
674.2
110.4
68.9
31.4
28,163

						
Geographical areas
Itella Group operates in four geographical areas: Finland, Scandinavia, Baltic countries and Russia, and Other countries. Segment net sales are determined by the geographical location of the Group’s customer. Assets are presented according to their geographical location, and they include other
non-current assets except Group goodwill, deferred tax assets and financial instruments. Group goodwill is not allocated to geographical segments.
Finland is the only individual country that generates a material part of the Group’s net sales. 					
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EUR million			
Finland
Scandinavia

2009
Net sales			
1,275.7
Non-current assets		
445.6
						
2008					
Net sales			
1,354.9
Non-current assets		
387.1

Baltic and
Russia

Other countries

Total

263.4
48.7

170.6
274.8

110.0
6.6

1,819.7
775.7

312.9
36.1

133.5
301.1

151.6
7.4

1,952.9
731.7

2. Acquistions and disvestments
Acquired business activities in 2009
On October 21, 2009, Itella acquired the 10% of its Russian NLC logistics company held by a minority shareholder. The re-estimated discounted additional price of the acquisition was EUR 35.1 million (estimate in 2008 was EUR 30 million), of which EUR 21.9 million was paid
in cash. The remaining amount of EUR 13.3 million is scheduled to be
paid in spring 2012. The acquisition of the minority share resulted in an
increase in goodwill of EUR 2.3 million in fiscal 2009. The Group was under obligation to acquire the minority shares, therefore the sub-group
was fully consolidated in the 2008 Group financial statements.
On September 1, 2009, Itella’s Danish subsidiary acquired Traen
Output Management, a cutting-edge printing and distribution
technology business, to complement the service range of the iPost
business group. The acquisition had no material impact on the Itella
Group’s financial performance.
Business divestments and other divestments in 2009
Itella divested its holdings (69%) in Oy Confidea Business Consulting
Ab, a part of Itella Logistics. In addition, Itella sold the property Kiinteistö Oy Saarijärvi, which housed a postal outlet. These divestments
had no material impact on Itella’s figures.
In Sweden, Itella Information transfered its contact center business to
a joint venture in which Itella is a minority shareholder. The business
group’s Norwegian company sold its eFlow business providing invoice
automation solutions. These arrangements had no significant impact
on Itella’s figures.
Acquired business activities and reorganisations in 2008
The Russian logistics group NLC (National Logistic Company) was acquired on 1 August 2008. The NLC subgroup includes 18 companies
which employ about 6000 employees. Itella acquired 90% of the
shares of the NLC subgroup. Minority shareholders will operate until
the end of 2010 holding 10% of the shares. The acquisition of the 10
per cent minority share will increase the total purchase price by about
EUR 30 million. The group is obligated to acquire the minority shares,
and for this reason the minority shares in NLC group have not been
separated in the consolidated balance.
The purchase price of NLC was paid in cash. The goodwill resulting
from the combination of business activites is synergies that have
formed from the activities of the Russian logistics and the activities of
Itella in other countries ie. freight traffic.
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The acquirees recorded net sales of EUR 83.7 million and profit of EUR
-51.7 million during the period as a group company (including a EUR
26.1 million impairment loss). Itella’s consolidated net sales would
have been EUR 2,075.2 million and profit EUR 19.1 million if these
acquirees’ accounts had been included in the consolidated accounts
since the beginning of the year.
Analysis of net assets acquired
		
		
EUR million

Carrying amounts
before
consolidation

Allocation
of fair
value

Fair value
total

2.0
137.8
1.0
2.8
155.8
2.3
301.8

44.3
134.4
178.7

46.3
272.3
1.0
2.8
155.8
2.3
480.5

Carrying amounts
before
consolidation

Allocation
of fair
value

Fair value
total

Effect on assets
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Inventory
Deferred tax assets
Receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Effect on assets
				
		
		
EUR million

Effect on liabilities			
Deferred tax liability
1.9
35.7
Non-current interest-bearing
liabilities
66.7
Current interest-bearing liabilities 43.4
Trade payables and
other liabilities
134.3
Effect on liabilities
246.4
35.7
Net assets acquired
55.4
143.0

37.6
66.7
43.4
134.3
282.1
198.4

Components of acquisition cost
EUR million		

Purchase price paid in cash		
Purchase price owed 		
Direct costs of acquisition		
Total cost of acquisition		
Fiat value of net assets acquired		
Goodwill		
			

199.7
30.7
3.3
233.7
198.4
35.3

Effect of acquisition on cash flow

Analysis of net assets acquired			

EUR million		

Purchase price paid in cash		
Direct costs of acquisition		
Cash and cash equivalents of the acquired subsidiary		
Cash flow		

-199.7
-3.3
2.3
-200.7

In addition the Group acquired the following: Itella Corporation purchased on 1 February 2008 DH Tools Oy which is specialised in marketing services and has 16 employees. Itella Information in Poland
established a new subsidiary Itella Information Sp. z o.o which began
operations on 1 May 2008. The business activities the Group acquired
from BusinessPoint S.A. were initiated in January. Itella Corporation
acquired on 1 April 2008 the international transport company Kauko
Group Oy which employs 110 employees. At the same time the Swedish Hansar Logistics AB which is part of the Kauko Group was wholly
acquired. It has 35 employees. Itella Information acquired on 1 October 2008 Tuottotieto Oy which specialices in financial management
outsourcing, and offers expertise, operational models and organisational solutions for developing business activity. The company has
about 100 employees. Itella Mail Communication acquired a Russian
customer relationship marketing and consulting company called Connexions which employs 30. On 17 December 2008 Itella Logistics AB
acquired the real estate company Vindtunneln Holding AB.
The Norwegian Post and Itella Information established a joint venture
in Norway bringing together the operations of Itella Information’s Norwegian branch with the Norwegian Post’s information logistic services. After the organisation of operations on 1 May 2008, Itella acquired
51% of Itella Information AS and 49% of the Norwegian Post.
The acquired businesses are shown as consolidated figures since
none of them alone has relevance if treated as separate entities. All
of the acquisitions were paid in cash. Share transactions resulted in
100 per cent share holdings and votes. Goodwill which arose from
business combinations consists of combination-related synergies in
the field of, for example, joint management and customer relationship
management. In addition, the acquired business supplement Itella’s
existing range of products and services, generating value for both customers and shareholders.
The acquirees recorded net sales of EUR 64.6 million and profit of EUR
-0.3 million during the period as a Group company. Itella’s consolidated net sales would have been EUR 1,975.7 million and profit EUR 18.3
million if these acquirees’ accounts had been included in the consolidated accounts from the beginning of the year.

		
		
EUR million

Carrying amounts
before
consolidation

Allocation
of fair
value

Effect on assets
Intangible assets
1.0
10.6
Property, plant and equipment
11.4
5.7
Investments
0.1
Receivables
15.5
Cash and cash equivalents
1.3
Effect on assets
29.2
16.3
				
Effect on liabilities			
Deferred tax liability
0.0
3.6
Non-current interestbearing liabilities
7.9
Current interest-bearing liabilities
1.9
Trade payables and other liabilities 12.4
Effect on liabilities
22.2
3.6
Net assets acquired
7.0
12.7

Fair value
total

11.6
17.1
0.1
15.5
1.3
45.6

3.6
7.9
1.9
12.4
25.8
19.7

Components of acquisition cost
EUR million		

Purchase price paid in cash		
Purchase price owed		
Direct costs of acquisition		
Total costs of acquisition		
Fair value of net assets acquired		
Goodwill		

36.3
0.1
1.7
38.1
19.7
18.3

Effect of acquisition on cash flow
EUR million		

Purchase price paid in cash		
Direct costs of acquisition		
Cash and cash equivalents of the acquired subsidiary		
Cash flow		

-36.3
-1.7
1.3
-36.7

Divestments in 2008
June 1, 2008 Itella sold the 51% it owned of Danish CF Geologistics
A/S. On December 17, 2008 Itella sold the capital stock in its entirety
of the Estonian subsidiary Scanrapid Eesti OÜ that is a part of the Kauko Group.
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3. Net sales
EUR million

2009

2008

Sales of services
1,797.5
1,924.9
Sales of goods
22.2
28.1
Net sales total
1,819.7
1,952.9
			
Sales of goods are mainly based on packaging materials and stationery and office supplies sold by postal outlets.
			
4. Other operating income
EUR million

2009

2008

Gains on sale of property, plant and equipment
0.4
6.2
Rental income
11.5
5.1
Rents from investment property
0.9
0.2
Government grants
0.3
0.9
Other operating income
1.2
1.5
Total
14.3
13.9
			
A EUR 5.4 million non-recurring sales gain was recorded on the sale
of an associated company in 2008. Rental income consists mainly of
rents for the Group’s buildings and flats received from external parties.
			
5. Materials and services
EUR million

Purchases
Change in inventories
External services
Total
			
6. Employee benefits
EUR million

2009

2008

52.2
0.9
421.8
474.9

82.6
0.8
510.7
594.1

2009

2008

Wages and salaries
716.3
Pensions - defined contribution plans
109.8
Pensions - defined benefit plans
0.4
Other social expenses
61.5
Total
888.0
			
Employee benefits
More detailed information on pensions can be found in Note 27.

709.0
109.5
-0.4
55.7
873.8

No profit bonus was paid based on the financial result of 2009 ( EUR
2.9 million in 2008).
The Group’s experts and supervisors/managers are involved in the performance-based bonus scheme, based on financial indicators specific
to the Group, the unit and the team and on personal or team-specific
performance indicators. Itella annually confirms threshold values for
these indicators used to determine bonus payments.

7. Research and development costs
EUR million

2009

2008

Research and development
costs charged to expenses
Amortisation on development costs
Total
			

21.7
1.5
23.2

22.6
3.9
26.6

2009

2008

8. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
EUR million

Amortisation on intangible assets		
Development costs
1.5
Intangible rights
17.6
Total
19.1
			
Impairment losses on intangible assets		
Impairment losses on goodwill
10.6
			
Amortisation on tangible assets		
Buildings and structures
19.0
Investment properties
0.3
Machinery and equipment
30.3
Assets leased under finance lease
8.4
Other tangible assets
0.7
Total
58.7
			
Impairment losses on tangible assets		
Impairment losses on buildings
2.9
			
Total depreciation, amortisation
and impairment losses
91.3
			

A total of EUR 29.0 million worth of restructuring costs were recorded as
employee benefits in 2009 resulting from the statutory labor negotiations initiated and conducted primarily in Finland. The figure includes
an EUR 1.7 million own contribution for unemployment security provision resulting from arrangements in previous financial periods and recorded in the third quarter, of which EUR 0.3 million was paid out during
the period.
Employee incentive scheme:
All employees in Finland are involved in the Group’s bonus scheme.
Aimed at motivating employees to meet long-term targets and enhancing interest in the Group’s financial success, bonuses, which are determined by Itella’s profit, are annually transferred to the Employee Fund.
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3.9
14.2
18.1

26.1

13.5
0.1
27.0
9.5
0.7
50.7

5.3

100.3

9. Other operating expenses
EUR million

11. Income tax expense
2009

2008

Lease expenses
83.1
Voluntary employee expenses
17.3
Losses on sale of property, plant and equipment
2.2
Other expenses
230.6
Total
333.2
			
Auditors’ remuneration		
Audit
0.8
Reports and statements
0.0
Tax counseling
0.1
Other services
0.2
Total
1.1
			
10. Financial income and expenses

93.1
20.6
1.5
214.6
329.8

EUR million

2009

Financial income
Dividend income
0.0
Interest income		
		 On financial assets recorded
		 at fair value through profit or loss
4.1
		 On loans and other receivables
1.5
		 On available-for-sale financial assets
		 On subordinated loan receivables
		 from associated companies
Other financial income
Gains on the sale of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss
0.1
Exchange rate gains
28.6
Unrealised gains from financial assets
and liabilities recorded at fair value 		
		 Currency derivatives
		 Interest-rate derivatives
0.2
		 Investments
4.0
Total
38.5
			
Financial expenses		
Interest expenses		
		 Financial liabilities measured
		 at accrued acquisition cost
11.8
Other financial expenses
8.3
Losses on the sale of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss
0.9
Exchange rate losses
37.9
Unrealised losses from financial assets
and liabilities measured at fair value 		
		 Currency derivatives
5.6
		 Investments
Impairments on available-for-sale financial assets 1.1
Total
65.6
			

0.7
0.0
0.1
0.2
1.1

2008

0.0

10.7
1.9
0.7

EUR million

2009

2008

Current tax
Tax for previous years
Deferred tax
Total tax charge

29.7
0.6
-6.0
24.3

30.0
0.1
-2.2
27.9

Reconciliation of tax charge at Finnish tax rate (26%)
Profit or loss before tax and associate’s results
19.7
Income tax at Parent Company’s tax rate
5.1
Effect of foreign subsidiaries’ deviating tax rates
1.4
Effect of non-deductible impairment losses
2.8
Non-deductible expenses and other differences
2.9
Tax-exempt income
-1.1
Tax from previous years
0.6
Effect of changes of tax rates on deferred tax
0.6
Unrecognised deferred tax asset on losses
8.1
Changes in deferred tax receivables accrued
in previous years
4.0
Tax charge in the consolidated income statement 24.3
			
Effective tax rate
123.3%

46.3
12.0
1.6
8.2
2.7
-2.4
0.1
-0.5
3.4
2.9
27.9
60.0%

1.2
0.7
38.0

4.9
58.0

10.1
0.7
0.3
63.7

0.1
5.6
80.4
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12.
Intangible assets				
									
							
Development
Intangible
EUR million			
Goodwill
costs
rights

2009
Cost on 1 Jan		
203.0
Translation differences		
-0.4
Additions			
2.3
Disposals			
-1.0
Transfers between items		
Cost on 31 Dec		
203.9
						
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 1 Jan		
-28.1
Translation differences		
Amortisation for the financial period		
Impairment losses		
-10.6
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses on disposals and transfers		
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 31 Dec		
-38.7
						
Carrying amount on 1 Jan 		
174.9
Carrying amount on 31 Dec 		
165.2
						
2008		
			
Cost on 1 Jan		
152.7
Translation differences		
-3.7
Company acquisitions		
54.9
Additions			
Disposals			
-1.0
Transfers between items		
Cost on 31 Dec		
203.0
						
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 1 Jan		
-1.9
Translation differences		
Amortisation for the financial period		
Impairment losses		
-26.1
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses on disposals and transfers
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 31 Dec		
-28.1
Carrying amount on 1 Jan 		
Carrying amount on 31 Dec 		

Total

27.9
-3.1
24.8

153.1
0.5
15.7
-4.0
29.1
194.4

2.4
1.4
-2.7
1.1

386.4
0.1
19.4
-7.7
26.0
424.1

-25.4
-1.5
-

-72.8
-0.4
-17.6
-

-

-126.2
-0.4
-19.1
-10.6

3.1
-23.8

-25.6
-116.4

-

-22.5
-178.9

2.5
1.0

80.3
78.0

2.4
1.1

260.2
245.3

27.9
0.0
27.9

100.6
-1.9
52.3
7.5
-5.9
0.4
153.1

0.2
0.1
2.9
-0.8
2.4

281.3
-5.5
107.4
10.4
-7.7
0.4
386.4

-21.4
-3.9
-25.4

-63.8
1.1
-14.2
4.2
-72.8

-

-87.2
1.1
-18.1
-26.1
4.2
-126.2

6.4
2.5

36.8
80.3

0.2
2.4

194.2
260.2

Impairment test
Following is a representation of goodwill which is focused on units that
produce cash flow (after the recognition of depreciation):

During the third quarter 2009, the Group tested each of its cash generating units for goodwill. Itella Group does not possess other intangible
assets that have an unlimited useful life.

EUR million

The impairment test is performed on a cash flow basis by determining
the present value of the projected cash flows for each cash generating unit specified for the Group. The value-in-use is calculated according to the projected discount cash flow. Value-in-use projections are
performed for a five-year period. Cash flow projections are based on
strategic plans, in line with the current business structure, approved
by the management, and assumptions applied in the plans about the
development of the business environment. Estimates of total market
growth in the long term, market positions and the level of profitability
affect five-year cash flow projections as key assumptions. These assumptions are consistent with external sources of information. Invest-

Itella Mail Communication:
Customer Relationship Marketing business unit
Press Distribution business unit
Itella Information:
Itella Logistics:
Freight and Forwarding business unit
Contract Logistics business unit in Finland
Russian business
Total
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150.7
174.9

Advances
paid and
construction in
progress
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2009

2008

2.4
6.6
80.3

2.4
6.6
80.8

60.7
15.3
165.2

58.8
15.7
10.7
174.9

was compared against other OMX1000 companies as applicable. The
2003 - 2008 key figures taken into account were net sales fluctuation,
financial result fluctuation, operational gearing and the size of the
company. When determining the betas for business-specific accounting variables, the key figures applied were the net sales and operating
profit fluctuation, EBIT margin, and capital invested in proportion to
net sales from the beginning of 2004 to the end of June 2009.

ments are expected to be ordinary replacement investments. The exchange rates used were euros quoted on the date of the related tests.
The terminal value beyond five years of cash-generating units is based
on a moderate growth rate expectation of -1% - +3.0 % (-1% - +4.75%
in 2008). Each cash-generating unit’s specific features have been taken into account in the expectations, except for high-inflation countries
such as Russia where the growth expectation is 6%.

In Itella Logistics’ Russian business operations, separate discount
rates were determined for the logistics and the real estate business.
The discount rate applied to real estate business is the real estate investors’ required rate of return. The discount rate before taxes used for
impairment testing in 2009 ranged between 7.8% and 19.8% in the
cash-generating units (9.1 - 15.3% in 2008).

In 2009, the Itella Group changed the method for calculating the discount rate used for impairment testing by redefining a risk-free interest rate for countries where active interest rate markets do not exist,
and by applying accounting beta instead of market beta.
The basis for the risk-free discount rate was derived from the State
bond rate. In countries where a reliable time series for State bond rates
is not available, the risk-free interest rate was the interest rate of Germany plus the inflation gap between the target country and Germany,
and any political risk increment. The highest risk-free interest calculated using this method is the 10.91% in Russia (7.6% after five years).

Based on the impairment testing, the value-in-use of the Russian business fell below the carrying amount at the time of testing, resulting
in an impairment of EUR 10.6 million (EUR 26.1 million in 2008). The
long-term business outlook in Russia has remained unchanged, and
the impairment could be attributed to the discount rate used in testing, which was higher than before. In other cash-generating units, value-in-use exceeded the carrying amount. The table below shows the
key outcomes and the parameters used in testing. Reference data for
the previous year is shown in brackets.

Accounting beta was adopted because there were indications to suggest that the risk levels calculated previously using market beta were
too low compared with the risk levels obtained through calculations
using accounting beta. When calculating the Group-level risk, Itella
						
						
						

Value-in-use
exceeds
carrying amount

EBIT margin
average
5 year ,%

Terminal growth		
percentage
Discount
per year
rate, %

Itella Mail Communication:
Customer Relationship Marketing business unit		
By 251%
5,6 (15,5)
0,0 (0,0)
7,8 (9,1)
Itella Mail Communication: Press Distribution business unit		
By 211%
8,9 (7,0)
-1,0 (-1,0)
7,8 (9,1)
Itella Information		
By 87%
7,1 (5,9)
3,0 (3,0)
10,6 (10,6)
Itella Logistics: Freight and Forwarding business unit		
By 6%
2,6 (2,5)
2,0 (2,0)
10,2 (9,8)
Itella Logistics: Contract Logistics business unit:						
In Finland			
By 20%
9,3 (7,2)
2,0 (2,0)
10,1 (9,8)
In Russia ***		
Logistics business
Does not exceed
11,2* (13,1*)
6,0 (4,75) 19,8 ** (15,3)
					
Real estate business			
4,0 (4,0)
10,4 (10,4)

Terminal
EBIT margin
per year, %

4,8 (12,6)
6,8 (3,1)
6,9 (5,8)
3,8 (3,8)
9,1 (9,1)
12,3* (14,0*)

* Reflects the Russian business in its entirety
** Discount rate 19.8 % for the first 5 years and subsequently 15.45%.
*** Russian business consists of the logistics and the real estate business. Testing calculations are prepared for these jointly, taking into account the
different discount rate used in real estate business and the different terminal growth percentage per year.
According to management estimates, the possible change in key assumptions in Customer Relationship Marketing, Press Distribution or Itella Information will not lead to a situation in which the carrying amount exceeds the value in use.
A sensitivity analysis was performed on Freight and Forwarding units and on the Finnish Contract Logistics business by determining which key parameter values would produce a carrying amount that would equal the recoverable amount (value-in-use). The parameters used in the analyses were EBIT
margin, discount rate, terminal year growth and terminal EBIT margin per year. The analysis was carried out by changing the values of a single parameter while leavings the others constant. The table below indicates the limits within which the carrying amount and value-in-use are equal.
					
					

Itella Logistics: Freight and Forwarding business unit
Itella Logistics: Contract Logistics business unit in Finland

EBIT margin
average 5 years, %

2.0
4.5

Terminal growth		
percentage per year
Discount rate, %

1.3
-0.5

10.6
11.7

Terminal EBIT margin
per year, %

3.5
7.0

The sensitivity analysis on the Russian companies was performed to verify the effect of a one percentage point change in a single parameter on the
recoverable amount. The testing and sensitivity analysis on the logistics and real estate businesses are performed as a single analysis even though
different discount rates and terminal growth percentage per year are applied. The results are shown in the table below. The parameter value used in
the actual testing is shown in brackets.
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Impairment if one parameter changes
by one percentage point (EUR million)

Discount
rate, %

EBIT margin
average 5 years, %

Terminal growth
percentage per year

Terminal EBIT
margin per year,%

14,6 (Logistics business)			
5,0 (6,0)
16,7 (Logistics business)
20,8 (19,8)			
17.1				
10,2 (11,2)		
27.4						
31,5 (Real estate business)			
3,0 (4,0)
39,0 (Real estate business)
11,4 (10,4)			

11,3 (12,3)

According to the sensitivity analysis, impairment would be smallest, EUR 14.6 million if the terminal growth percentage per year in the logistics business fell from 6 to 5 per cent while other parameters remained unchanged both in the logistics and in the real estate business. Meanwhile impairment
would be largest, about EUR 39.0 million, if the discount rate in the real estate business rose from the 10.4% applied to 11.4%.

13. Investment property
EUR million

2009

2008

Cost 1 Jan
7.8
Disposals
-0.1
Transfers between items
Cost on 31 Dec
7.7
			
Accumulated deprec. and impairment losses 1 Jan -3.1
Depreciation for the financial period
-0.2
Transfers between items
Accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses 31 Dec
-3.3
			
Carrying amount on 1 Jan
4.7
Carrying amount on 31 Dec
4.4

2.1
5.6
7.8
0.0
-0.1
-3.0
-3.1

On December 31, 2009, the fair value of investment property totaled
EUR 5.2 million (EUR 5.2 million in 2008). Fair values are primarily
measured based on an external estate agent’s appraisal. If this appraisal is not available, fair values are measured using the discounted
cash flow method. In 2009, rental income from investment property
totaled EUR 0.9 million (EUR 0.2 million in 2008) and maintenance
charges amounted to EUR 0.1 million (EUR 0.0 million in 2008). The
maximum value of the land area of investment property Kiinteistö Oy
Kirjekyyhky is determined by the authorities. Its carrying amount does
not exceed the maximum value.

2.1
4.7

14.
Property, plant and equipment
							
					
Land and
Buildings and
EUR million		
water
structures
2009
Cost on 1 Jan
82.8
476.9
Translation differences
-1.4
-4.9
Additions		
0.5
60.6
Disposals		
-0.1
-2.2
Transfers between items
45.6
Cost on 31 Dec
81.8
576.0
							
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 1 Jan
-113.8
Translation differences
-3.1
Amortisation for the financial period
-19.1
Impairment		
-2.9
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses on disposals and transfers
-31.4
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 31 Dec
-170.3
							
Carrying amount on 1 Jan
82.8
363.1
Carrying amount on 31 Dec
81.8
405.7
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Machinery and
equipment

		
Advances paid
Other tangible and construction
assets
in progress

Total

388.8
-1.2
53.0
-55.3
0.6
385.9

9.0
0.9
-0.1
0.1
9.9

87.5
-0.5
105.0
-112.3
-13.6
66.1

1,045.0
-8.0
220.0
-170.0
32.7
1,119.7

-271.6
0.1
-38.7
-

-4.3
-0.7
-

-

-389.7
-3.0
-58.5
-2.9

54.2
-256.0

-5.0

-

22.8
-431.3

117.2
129.9

4.7
4.9

87.5
66.1

655.3
688.4

							
					
Land and
Buildings and
EUR million		
water
structures

Machinery and
equipment

2008
Cost on 1 Jan
46.0
297.5
Translation differences
-1.5
Company acquisitions
35.7
176.8
Additions		
1.6
19.7
Disposals		
-0.5
-9.3
Transfers between items
-6.3
Cost on 31 Dec
82.8
476.9
							
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 1 Jan
-97.7
Translation differences
0.0
Accumulated depreciation on acquisitions
-7.7
Amortisation for the financial period
-13.5
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
on disposals and transfers
5.0
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 31 Dec
-113.8
							
Carrying amount on 1 Jan
46.0
199.8
Carrying amount on 31 Dec
82.8
363.1

Property, plant and equipment include the following assets leased
under finance lease:
EUR million

Machinery and equipment

2009
Cost on 31 Dec		
55.9
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec		
-39.8
Carrying amount on 31 Dec		
16.1
			
2008		
Cost on 31 Dec		
76.0
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec		
-51.0
Carrying amount on 31 Dec		
24.9
			
In 2009, additions to assets leased under finance leases totaled EUR
0.3 million (EUR 0.6 million in 2008).

EUR million

		
Advances paid
Other tangible and construction
assets
in progress

Total

321.9
-2.1
57.0
29.6
-19.9
2.4
388.8

10.9
-1.0
0.6
0.9
-0.5
-2.0
9.0

23.2
-0.1
15.4
82.3
-33.4
87.5

699.6
-4.7
285.4
134.2
-63.5
-6.0
1,045.0

-233.9
2.0
-21.0
-36.5

-6.2
1.0
0.0
-0.7

-

-337.9
3.0
-28.7
-50.7

17.8
-271.6

1.7
-4.3

-

24.6
-389.7

88.0
117.2

4.7
4.7

23.2
87.5

361.6
655.3

2009

2008

Receivables from associated companies
Subordinated loan receivables
0.1
Trade receivables
0.5
Accrued income
Receivables from associated companies
0.6
			
Amounts owed to associated companies		
Trade payables
0.1
			
Transactions with associated companies		
Sales to associated companies
1.4
Interest income from loan receivables
of associated companies
0.0
Purchases from associated companies
0.1

0.1
0.7
0.0
0.8

0.0

0.0
0.0
0.0

15. Associated companies
EUR million

2009

2008

Carrying amount on 1 Jan
0.6
1.9
Translation differences
-0.1
0.0
Company acquisitions
0.1
0.2
Additions
0.0
Disposals
-1.7
Share of associated companies’ results
0.0
0.2
Shares in associated companies on 31 Dec
0.6
0.6
			
The associated companies’ balance sheet value does not include
goodwill.
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16. Carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities by valuation category
					
					
					
EUR million		

Financial		
assets at fair
Loans
value through
and other
profit or loss
receivables

Available
-for-sale
financial
assets

Financial
Carrying		
liabilities
amounts of		
at amortised balance sheet		
cost
items
Fair value

2009
Non-current financial assets							
Non-current receivables
1.4
1.4
1.4
Current financial assets
Trade receivables and other receivables
207.8
207.8
207.8
Available-for-sale financial assets
2.4
2.4
2.4
Financial assets recorded at fair value
through profit or loss
79.4
79.4
79.4
Cash and cash equivalents
29.7
52.6
82.3
82.3
Carrying amount by valuation category
109.1
261.8
2.4
373.3
373.3
								
Non-current financial liabilities							
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities
246.1
246.1
248.8
Current financial liabilities							
Current interest-bearing liabilities
48.0
48.0
48.0
Trade payables and other liabilities
1.2
79.2
80.4
80.4
Carrying amount by valuation category
1.2
373.3
374.5
377.2

Note

19
22
23
24
25

29
29
30

The carrying amounts of loans and other receivables as well as current financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are equal to their fair value. Current interest-bearing liabilities feature variable interest rates, which is why their fair values are not materially different from their carrying amounts.
			
					
					
					
EUR million		

Financial		
assets at fair
Loans
value through
and other
profit or loss
receivables

Available
-for-sale
financial
assets

Financial
Carrying		
liabilities
amounts of		
at amortised balance sheet		
cost
items
Fair value

2008
Non-current financial assets							
Non-current receivables
1.5
1.5
1.5
Current financial assets							
Trade receivables and other receivables
208.9
208.9
208.9
Available-for-sale financial assets
3.8
3.8
3.8
Financial assets recorded at fair value
through profit or loss
85.1
85.1
85.1
Cash and cash equivalents
9.5
40.0
49.4
49.4
Carrying amount by valuation category
94.6
250.4
3.8
348.7
348.7
								
Non-current financial liabilities							
Non-current interest-bearing liabilities
85.9
85.9
85.9
Current financial liabilities							
Current interest-bearing liabilities
146.4
146.4
146.4
Trade payables and other liabilities
0.2
74.4
74.7
74.7
Carrying amount by valuation category
0.2
306.7
306.9
306.9

Note

19
22
23
24
25

29
29
30

The carrying amounts of loans and other receivables as well as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are equal to their fair value. Interestbearing liabilities feature variable interest rates, which is why their fair values are not materially different from their carrying amounts.
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17. Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value 			
							
EUR million				

2009

Fair values at the end of the reporting period
Level 1
Level 2

Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value						
Financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss 						
		
Money market investments			
66.5		
66.5
		
Bonds				
41.8		
41.8
		
Derivative contracts (not in hedge accounting)						
			
Currency forward contracts			
0.5		
0.5
			
Interest rate swaps 			
0.2		
0.2
Available-for-sale financial assets						
		
Equity fund investments			
2.4			
Total					
111.4		
109.0
							
								
EUR million				
2009

Fair values at the end of the reporting period
Level 1
Level 2

2.4
2.4
Level 3

Financial liabilities measured at fair value 						
Financial liabilities recorded at fair value through profit or loss 						
		
Derivative contracts (not in hedge accounting)						
			
Currency forward contracts			
1.2		
1.2
During the financial period, no transfers were made between levels 1
and 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

18. Other non-current investments
2009

2008

Hierarchy levels:
Level 1: Fair values are based on the quoted prices of identical asset
groups or liabilities in active markets.
Level 2: Fair values are, to a significant degree, based on data other
than quoted prices included in level 1, but on data that can be either
directly or indirectly verified for the asset group or liability in question. To determine the fair value of these instruments, the Group uses
generally accepted valuation models that are, to a significant degree,
based on verifiable market data.
Level 3: Fair values are based on data regarding the asset group or liability that is not based on verifiable market data.

Cost on 1 Jan
1.9
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Additions
1.8
Disposals		
Transfers between items		
Cost on 31 Dec
3.7
			
Accumulated impairment losses on 1 Jan
-1.3
Accumulated impairment losses 31 Dec
-1.3
			
Carrying amount on 1 Jan
0.6
Carrying amount on 31 Dec
2.4
			
19. Non-current receivables

1.4
0.0
0.0
-0.4
0.9
1.9

Reconciliation of financial assets measured at fair value in accordance with level 3
		
		
		
EUR million

Others recorded through items in
the statement of comprehensive income
Available-for-sale
equity fund investments

At the beginning of period				
		
Total profits and losses				
			
In the income statement			
			
In financial income and expenses 		
		
In the statement of comprehensive income		
		
(other funds)				
		
Acquisitions				
		
Exercises 				
At the end of the period				
				
Total profits and losses recorded on
assets held at the end of the reporting period 		
		
In financial income and expenses
		

3.8

-1.1
-0.4
0.1
0.0
2.4

EUR million

EUR million

2009

-1.3
-1.3
0.1
0.6

2008

Loans and other receivables 		
Finance lease receivables
0.5
0.6
Loan receivables from others
0.9
0.9
Total
1.4
1.5
			
Subordinated loan receivables from
associated companies
0.1
0.1
Other receivables
6.9
5.8
			
Non-current receivables, total
8.4
7.4
			
Other receivables include receivables from housing corporations. The
interest rate stood at 8 per cent.
			

-1.1
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EUR million

2009

Finance lease receivables: minimum lease income
Not later than year
0.1
Later than 1 year and 		
not later than 5 years
0.4
Later than 5 years
0.3
Minimum lease income
0.7
Unearned income
-0.2
Total
0.6
			
Maturity of finance lease receivables:		
Not later than 1 year
0.1
Later than 1 year and 		
not later than 5 years
0.3
Later than 5 years
0.2
Total
0.6

2008

0.1
0.4
0.4
0.8
-0.2
0.6

The Group has leased out one property classified as a finance lease.
On 31 December, finance lease receivables totalled EUR 0.6 million
(EUR 0.6 million on 31 Dec 2008) and the interest rate of 6 per cent.
The property has been classified as finance lease, because the lease
period is twenty years and the lease will expire in 2017. The lessee
may terminate the lease only by paying the amount of the the remaining rents adjusted by the cost-of-living index.

0.1
0.3
0.3
0.6

20. Deferred tax assets and liabilities

									
Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities in 2009 are as follows:
									
							
Acquired/
Recorded
						
Translation
Divested
through
EUR million		
1 Jan 2009
difference
subsidiaries
profit or loss

Recorded
in other items
of statement of
comprehensive
income

Deferred tax assets 2009
Pension obligations
1.7
-0.3
Unused tax losses
0.3
2.2
Finance leases
0.3
0.0
Restructuring provision
0.0
6.0
Other temporary differences
5.1
0.1
-2.7
Total			
7.4
0.1
5.2
							
Deferred tax liabilities 2009
Fair value measurement of PPE and						
intangible assets in acquisition
42.5
-1.6
-3.4
Available-for-sale financial assets
0.1
-		
-0.1
Accumulated depreciation in excess of plan
4.4
0.2
2.2
Other temporary differences
3.5
0.1
0.4
Total			
50.5
-1.3
-0.8
-0.1
							
Changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities in 2008 are as follows:

									
									
							
Acquired/
Recorded
						
Translation
Divested
through
EUR million		
1 Jan 2008
difference
subsidiaries
profit or loss

Recorded
in other items
of statement of
comprehensive
income

Deferred tax assets 2008
Pension obligations
1.8
-0.1
Unused tax losses
3.1
-2.8
Finance leases
0.3
0.0
Other temporary differences
1.6
-0.6
2.5
1.6
Total			
6.8
-0.6
2.5
-1.2
							
Deferred tax liabilities 2008
Fair value measurement of PPE and						
intangible assets in acquisition
10.1
0.0
35.1
-2.6
Available-for-sale financial assets
0.5
-0.4
Accumulated depreciation in excess of plan
5.1
0.0
-0.7
Other temporary differences
2.1
-0.4
1.9
-0.1
Total			
17.7
-0.4
37.0
-3.4
-0.4
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31 Dec 2009

1.4
2.5
0.3
6.0
2.5
12.7

37.5
0.0
6.8
4.0
48.3

31 Dec 2008

1.7
0.3
0.3
5.1
7.4

42.5
0.1
4.4
3.5
50.5

On 31 December 2009, the Group had unused tax losses for which it
has not recognised deferred taxes of EUR 85.2 million (EUR 22.9 million in 2008), mainly arising from German businesses. The Group also
had other temporary differences for which it has not recognised deferred tax assets of EUR 0.2 million (EUR 7.7 million in 2008).

21. Inventories		
EUR million

Materials and supplies
Goods
Prepayments for inventories
Total
			
22. Trade receivables and other receivables
EUR million

2009

2008

1.3
5.0
0.2
6.5

1.3
5.6
0.2
7.1

2009

2008

Loans and other receivables		
Finance lease receivables
0.1
Loan receivables
0.4
Trade receivables
207.4
Total
207.8
			
Other receivables
10.6
Accrued income and prepayments
53.0
			
Total trade receivables and other receivables
271.4

0.1
0.0
208.8
208.9
14.2
57.2
280.3

More information on trade receivables is provided in note 33 Financial
risk management.
				
The largest item under accrued income and prepayments includes EUR
28.0 million (EUR 29.3 million on 31 Dec 2008) in accrued terminal
rate receivables from other Postal administrations. Items under other
receivables include ordinary accruals of sales and prepaid expenses.
23. Available-for-sale financial assets
EUR million

2009

Available-for-sale financial assets
2.4
			
24. Financial assets recognised at fair value through profit or loss
EUR million

Derivative contracts (not in hedge accounting)
Money market investments
Bonds
Total
			
25. Cash and cash equivalents

2008

3.8

2009

2008

0.7
36.8
41.9
79.4

5.2
0.0
79.9
85.1

EUR million

2009

2008

Money market investments
Cash and bank
Total

29.7
52.6
82.3

9.5
40.0
49.5

26. Equity
Shares and shareholders
Itella Corporation’s share capital		
on 31 Dec, EUR million
2009

2008

Total share capital

70.0

70.0

The Finnish State holds all of the shares totalling 40,000,000. Other reserves: Based on the AGM’s decision, assets were transferred from the
share premium under restricted equity to other reserve (contingency reserve) in 1998, when Finland PT Group demerged. This is a distributable
reserve, in accordance with the Articles of Association. The change of
fair value of available-for-sale financial assets is recognised in the fair
value reserve. Translation differences include the differences resulting
from the translation of foreign units’ financial statements and net investments made.
27. Pension obligations
The Group applies several pension plans in different countries, managed
according to the local regulations and practice effective in each country.
Significant defined benefit pension plans comprise supplementary pension insurance in Finland and the German subsidiary’s pension plan.
			

Defined benefit pension liabilities in the balance sheet:
EUR million

2009

Present value of unfunded obligations
2.6
Present value of funded obligations
11.5
Fair value of plan assets
-6.1
Deficit/Surplus
8.0
			
Unrecognised actuarial gains (+) / losses (-)
-1.6
Unrecognised gains (+) / losses(-)
resulting from past services
0.1
Net liability in the balance sheet
6.5
			
Defined benefit pension expenses in the income statement:
EUR million

2009

2008

2.5
9.6
-8.3
3.8
3.5
0.1
7.4

2008

Current service costs
0.5
0.4
Interest costs
0.6
0.6
Expected return on plan assets
-0.4
-0.4
Actuarial gains and losses
-0.7
-0.7
Past service costs
0.0
Losses (-)/gains (+) on curtailments
-0.2
Total
0.0
-0.3
			
Return on the plan assets totalled EUR -2.2 million (EUR -0.3 million in 2008).
			
Changes in the pension obligation’s present value
EUR million

2009

2008

Obligation at period-start
Current service costs
Interest costs
Curtailment
Paid benefits
Actuarial gains and losses
Obligation at period-end
			

12.1
0.5
0.6
-0.4
-0.2
1.5
14.1

12.9
0.5
0.5
-0.5
-0.1
-1.2
12.1
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28. Provisions

Changes in the plan assets’ fair value
EUR million

Plan assets’ fair value at period-start
Return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Curtailment
Actuarial gains and losses
Plan assets’ fair value at period-end

2009

2008

8.3
0.4
0.8
-0.7
-2.7
6.1

8.7
0.4
0.4
-0.5
-0.8
8.3

Figures on the pension plan
EUR million

Pension obligation’s
present value
Plan assets’ fair value
Surplus (+)/ Deficit (–)
Experience adjustments
arising on the plan liabilities
Experience adjustments
arising on the plan assets

2009

2008

2007

2006

14.1
6.1
-8.0

12.1
8.3
-3.8

12.9
8.7
-4.2

13.9
8.2
-5.7

-0.3

-0.6

-0.9

0.2

-2.6

-0.8

-0.5

1.6

Estimated contributions payable to the defined benefit plans will total
EUR 0.8 million during the next financial period.
Key actuarial assumptions were as follows:
		

Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Future salary increase assumption
Future pension increase expectation

2009

2008

4.75 - 5.25 5.25 - 5.75
4.75
4.5 - 5.0
0 - 5.0 2.75 - 5.0
1.5 - 2.1
1.5 - 2.1

		
EUR million

Restructuring
provision

Other

Total

1 Jan 2009
1.0
0.0
Increase in provisions
22.8
0.2
Used provisions
-1.3
0.0
31 Dec 2009
22.5
0.2
				
1 Jan 2008
3.4
1.0
Increase in provisions
0.7
0.0
Used provisions
-3.1
-1.0
31 Dec 2008
1.0
0.0

1.0
23.0
-1.3
22.7
4.4
0.7
-4.1
1.0

EUR million

2009

2008

Long-term provisions
Short-term provisions
Total

9.2
13.6
22.7

1.0
1.0

The Group has adjusted its operations to changes in demand and
technological advancement by reducing the number of personnel. In
Finland, an EUR 21.1 million personnel-related restructuring provision was recorded in 2009, of which EUR 1.4 million represented a
provision for own contribution to unemployment security for previous
financial periods. Approximately EUR 13.6 million of the restructuring
provision is expected to be used during 2010. Meanwhile the EUR 9.2
million reserved for unemployment pension arrangements will be payable between 2010 and 2013.

29. Interest-bearing liabilities
					
EUR million		

Balance sheet values
2009

Fair values
2009

Balance sheet values
2008

Non-current
Financial liabilities at amortised cost				
Bonds			
149.3
150.5		
Loans from financial institutions
2.0
2.0
70.2
Pension loans
87.5
89.0		
Finance lease liabilities
7.3
7.3
15.7
Total			
246.1
248.8
85.9
			
Current			
Financial liabilities at amortised cost				
Loans from financial institutions
0.4
0.4
54.1
Pension loans
12.5
12.5		
Commercial papers
26.9
26.9
82.9
Finance lease liabilities
8.2
8.2
9.4
Total			
48.0
48.0
146.4
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Fair values
2008

70.2
15.7
85.9

54.1
82.9
9.4
146.4

Finance lease liabilities: minimum lease payments
EUR million

2009

2008

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Minimum lease payments
Future accrued financial expenses
Total
			
Present value of minimum lease payments

9.2
8.0
17.2
-1.5
15.7

11.1
16.9
28.0
-2.9
25.1

EUR million

2009

2008

Not later than 1 year
7.9
9.4
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
7.8
15.7
Total
15.7
25.1
			
Itella Group has mainly leased transport equipment, IT equipment and
franking machines under finance leases concluded on market terms
and valid from 3–10 years.
30. Trade payables and other non-interest-bearing liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
EUR million

2009

2008

Other liabilities
13.8
32.9
Other accrued expenses and deferred income
1.3
2.6
Total
15.1
35.5
			
Other non-current, non-interest-bearing liabilities consist of estimated
additional prices paid for corporate acquisition.			

Current trade payables and other liabilities
EUR million

2009

2008

Financial liabilities alternative to fair value 		
Derivative contracts
1.2
0.2
			
Financial liabilities at amortised cost		
Trade payables to others
79.2
74.4
			
Advances received
12.1
8.6
Accrued personnel expenses
142.1
155.2
Other accrued expenses and deferred income
36.4
40.1
Other liabilities
64.1
68.8
Current non-interest-bearing liabilities
335.1
347.3
			
The most significant item within other accrued expenses and deferred
income includes estimated payables for terminal payments to other
Postal administrations, totalling EUR 15.2 million on 31 December
2009 (EUR 20.0 million on 31 December 2008). The remaining items
comprise accruals of ordinary expenses.
			

31. Operating leases
Maturity of minimum lease payments:
EUR million

2009

2008

Not later than 1 year
102.7
91.6
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
236.4
128.7
Later than 5 years
26.6
31.7
Total
365.7
252.0
			
Itella Group has leased e.g. premises, office equipment and vehicles.
The lease period for office equipment and vehicles varies between 2
and 5 years and that for premises until 9 years.
			
Minimum lease payments:
EUR million

2009

2008

Not later than 1 year
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years
Later than 5 years
Total

3.5
8.1
2.0
13.6

2.1
3.5
3.1
8.7

Itella Group leases out premises in its possession. The notice period
of leases generally varies between 1 and 12 months. The lease of As
Oy Kirjekyyhky’s site will expire in 2050.
			
32. Pledges, commitments and other liabilities
EUR million

2009

2008

Pledges given on own behalf		
		
Bank guarantee
10.4
		
Guarantee
3.8
		
Floating charges
0.2
		
Real estate mortgage
75.2
		
Chattel mortgage
18.1
		
Pledges
0.4
8.3
Total
14.6
101.8
			
Itella has received claims amounting to a total of EUR 27.5 million from
five customers to refund the value added taxes they have paid. Itella’s
contract customers base their claim on the ruling of the EU Court of
Justice on April 23, 2009 on the value added tax exemption of public
postal services. Itella has complied with the tax legislation of Finland,
which, considering the ruling referred to above, is not fully consistent
with the EU’s tax regulations. Itella considers the customers’ claims in
their entirety to be unfounded.
Due to the unclear situation, Itella has applied for a refund of value
added tax for 2006 in order to pay this sum to its contract customers. In
addition, Itella has sought a preliminary ruling from the tax authorities
for 2010 regarding the potential VAT exemption of postal services.
The Group has an approximately EUR 18.6 million environmental liability related to soil cleaning, which will fall due in approximately ten
years after the likely adoption in 2010 of the city plan.
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Principles of risk management
The aim of financial risk management is to secure an adequate and
competitive financial position for executing the Group’s operative
businesses and strategy and to minimize the effects of market risks in
Group’s financial results, the balance sheet and cash flows. The Group
aims to identify risk concentrations and hedge against them to the extent necessary. The Group’s business involves financial risks, such as
market, liquidity, credit and counterparty risks. For commodity risks
there is no active tracing or use of derivative instruments.
Risk management organization
Group Treasury is responsible for the centralized management of
finances and financial risks in line with the financing guidelines approved by the Board of Directors. Group Treasury is responsible for the
entire Group’s currency, interest rate, liquidity and refinancing risk
management in close co-operation with the business areas. The business areas are responsible for the identification, management and
reporting to Group Treasury of the financial risks associated with their
operations. Credit risk related to customer receivables is managed by
the business area’s sales organization.
Market risks
Currency risk
The goal of currency risk management is to reduce the Group’s currency risk to an optimal level as well as improve the transparency of
profitability and predictability of financial results.
The Group’s transaction risk primarily consists of currency-denominated receivables, payables and commitments. The key principle
is to achieve full hedging against the transaction risks related to the
balance sheet. Unhedged exposure is permitted within the limits
specified in the Group’s financing policy. Loans granted by the parent company to subsidiaries are primarily in the subsidiary’s domestic currency, in which case the subsidiary has no currency risk arising
from financial agreements. On the balance sheet date, Itella Corporation had external currency derivatives with a nominal value of EUR
85.9 million used to hedge against the currency risk associated with
the loans granted by Itella Corporation to the group companies. The
Group’s balance is exposed to a translation risk in connection with
investments in subsidiaries outside the euro zone. The objective of
translation risk management is to ensure exchange rate fluctuations
do not cause any material changes in the Group’s net gearing. On the
balance sheet date, the Group did not hedge against translation risk.
Derivatives are included in the currency position calculation but the
hedge accounting under IFRS is not in use.
Major transaction positions on the balance sheet date
EUR million

NOK

SEK

RUB

EEK

2009					
Trade receivables
and payables
0.2
-1.1
-4.5
-0.5
Loans and bank accounts 1) 12.3
28.4
19.8
2.9
Derivatives
-12.4
-31.1
-13.6
-3.7
Open position
0.1
-3.8
1.6
-1.2
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USD

4.4
-36.4
20.5
-11.6

EUR million

NOK

SEK

RUB

EEK

USD

2008					
Trade receivables
and payables
0.5
-0.2			
7.7
Loans and bank accounts 1) 15.5
28.8
31.4
2.0 -130.8
Derivatives
-12.8
-22.8
-17.8 -11.6
23.7
Open position
3.2
5.8
13.6
-9.6 -99.4
1) Includes cash and cash equivalents, interest-bearing receivables
and liabilities
The currency sensitivity analysis is based on the balance sheet items
denominated in foreign currency other than each Group company’s
own functional currencies on the balance sheet date. The analysis includes only currency risks related to financial instruments. Calculated
in this way, if the euro strengthens by ten per cent against all currencies on the balance sheet date, profit before taxes will increase by EUR
+0.5 million (2008: EUR -0.8 million).
Major translation positions on the balance sheet date
EUR million

NOK

SEK

DKK

RUB

EEK

2009						
Net investment
16.8 19.5
63.7 239.9
18.0
Hedging
Open position
16.8 19.5
63.7 239.9
18.0
							
2008						
Net investment
13.6 17.7
66.5 149.2
17.3
Hedging
Open position
13.6 17.7
66.5 149.2
17.3

USD

37.2
37.2

43.6
43.6

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risks through its investments and
interest bearing liabilities. The goal of interest rate risk management is
to minimize financing costs and moderate the uncertainty that interest
rate movements cause in the Group’s income statement. The average
interest-rate fixing period for the liability portfolio is determined in the
financing policy. The objective of interest rate risk management related
to liquid funds is to minimize the effect of interest rate movements on
the fair value of the funds. In addition to diversification, interest rate
risks associated with interest-bearing receivables and liabilities can be
hedged through interest rate swaps, interest rate options and forward
rate agreements.
On the balance sheet date, the Group’s interest-bearing liabilities
amounted to EUR 294.1 million and interest-bearing receivables to
EUR 161.0 million. During the financial year, the Group took out a
fixed-interest loan, some of which was converted to variable-interest
loan with an interest-rate swap. The Group does not apply hedge accounting to the interest-rate swap hedging the loan.

Net debt according to interest rate fixing:
		
EUR million

Under
1 year

Derivative contracts
1-5
years

Over
5 years

2009
Interest-bearing receivables
-151.9
-6.7
-2.4
Bond
- 149.3
Loans from financial institutions
0.4
2.0
Pension loans
100.0
Other interest-bearing liabilities 26.9			
Finance lease liabilities
8.2
7.3
Impact of interest-rate swaps
70.0		
-70.0
Total
-46.4
102.6
76.9
					
2008				
Interest-bearing receivables
-118.0
-9.9
-1.4
Loans from financial institutions 124.1
0.2		
Other interest-bearing liabilities 82.9			
Finance lease liabilities
10.7
14.4		
Total
99.7
4.7
-1.4

Total

-161.0
149.3
2.4
100.0
26.9
15.5
0.0
133.1

EUR million

Nominal value

2009
Foreign currency derivatives (not in hedge accounting )		
Foreign currency forward contracts
85.9
Interest rate derivatives (not in hedge accounting)		
Interest rate swaps
70.0
			
2008		
Foreign currency derivatives (not in hedge accounting) 		
Foreign currency forward contracts
102.7

Fair value

-0.7
0.2

4.9

Liquidity risk
The liquidity and refinancing risk means that the Group’s liquidity reserve is insufficient to cover the Group’s commitments and investment
possibilities or that the cost of the refinancing or additional financing
need is exceptionally high. The Group places a considerable emphasis
on accurate cash management and liquidity planning in order to minimize liquidity risks generated by large daily fluctuations in the Group’s
cash flows. In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the Group aims
to secure sufficient financing in all circumstances using the following
financial reserves:
– syndicated credit facility (committed) of EUR 200 million
maturing in 2011
– commercial paper programs (non-committed) of EUR 200 million
On the balance sheet date, the Group had liquid funds and an unused
committed credit facility of EUR 361.0 million (2008: EUR 304.4 million). In addition, the Group had an unused commercial paper program of EUR 173.0 million (2008: EUR 116.5 million).

-129.4
124.3
82.9
25.1
102.9

A one percent change in interest rates at the end of the financial period would affect net financial items for the next 12 months by EUR 0.0
million (2008: EUR 1.4 million).

Contractual cash flows from financial liabilities
EUR million		

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015-

2009							
Loans							
		
Bonds		
6.6
6.6
6.6
6.6
6.6
163.1
		
Loans from financial institutions
0.0
		
Pension loans
15.3
27.3
26.6
25.9
12.7
		
Commercial papers
27.0
Finance lease liabilities
8.4
7.1
0.2
0.0
0.0
0.0
Trade payables
79.2
Derivatives							
		
Interest rate derivatives
-1.5
-1.5
-1.5
-1.5
-1.5
-3.0
		
Currency derivatives, cash flows payable
1.3
		
Currency derivatives, cash flows receivable
-0.5
Total			
135.8
39.4
31.8
31.0
17.8
160.1
								
2008							
Loans							
		
Loans from financial institutions
54.1
16.9
4.5
48.8			
		
Commercial papers
82.9						
Finance lease liabilities
11.1
9.6
5.4
1.9			
Trade payables
74.4						
Derivatives								
Currency derivatives, cash flows payable
0.2						
		
Currency derivatives, cash flows receivable
-5.2						
Total			
217.6
26.5
9.9
50.7			

Total

195.9
0.0
107.6
27.0
15.7
79.2
-10.5
1.3
-0.5
415.8

124.3
82.9
28.0
74.4
0.2
-5.2
304.7
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Pension loans are secured with bank guarantees. Other loans have no
security. Finance lease liabilities are in fact secured liabilities since, in
default of payment, rights to leased property transfer back to the lessor.
Credit and counterparty risk
Pursuant to authorizations given by the Board of Directors, the Group
invests its liquid funds in debt instruments and bonds issued by companies, banks and states with a high credit rating, as well as bank deposits. Itella concludes derivative contracts only with banks and credit
institutions with high capital adequacy. Financing operations did not
incur any credit losses during the financial year.
Trade receivables are subject to only minor credit risk concentrations
due to the Group’s extensive customer base. The balance sheet value
of trade receivables corresponds to the maximum amount of the credit
risk associated with them. Credit losses recognized for 2009 came to
EUR 0.9 million (2008 EUR 0.8 million).

Non-matured trade receivables
Trade receivables 1-30 days overdue
Trade receivables 31-60 days overdue
Trade receivables 61-90 days overdue
Trade receivables more than 90 days overdue
Total

The Group monitors developments in its equity structure by measuring
equity ratio and net gearing.
Group equity

The table below shows the breakdown of trade receivables:
EUR million

Equity structure management
Group equity structure management aims to safeguard financing required by businesses and the Group’s operating conditions in capital
markets under all circumstances. Although the Group has no public
credit rating issued by a credit rating agency, it seeks to maintain a
capital structure that would justify a high credit rating (investment
grade). The Board of Directors assesses the equity structure regularly
while discussing strategic plans. The covenants associated with the
Group’s loan agreements are standard terms and conditions that
feature limitations on securities given, material changes in business
activities, and changes in majority holdings. The Group has met the
conditions of the covenants in financial years 2009 and 2008. The
Group’s loan agreements do not contain key figure covenants.

2009

2008

178.2
23.1
3.3
1.5
1.4
207.4

169.8
26.5
4.8
2.6
5.1
208.8

2 009

2 008

Interest-bearing liabilities
294.1
./. Interest-bearing receivables
161.0
= Interest-bearing net liabilities
133.1
Total equity
677.2
			
Equity ratio, %
48.5
Net gearing, %
19.7

232.3
129.4
102.9
696.3
51.1
14.8

34. Related party transactions
Related parties comprise the Board of Directors, President & CEO and Itella Corporation’s Management Board, mutual property companies and associated companies, as well as the Finnish State holding 100 per cent of Itella Corporation shares.				
				
The Group’s parent-company and subsidiary holdings are as follows:				
The Parent company is Itella Corporation.				
					
Subsidiaries 31 Dec 2009

Asiakkuusmarkkinointi Oy
Jakelumarkkinat Oy
OOO Itella Connexions
Itella Information Oy
KOY Tampereen Kuoppamäentie 3 a
Capella AB		
Itella Information AB
Itella Production AB
Itella Information A/S
Itella Information AS
Itella Holding GmbH
Itella Information GmbH
Itella Information AS
AS Itella Information
UAB Itella Information
Itella Information Sp. Z o.o.
Itella Information s.r.o.
Itella Information s.r.o.
Itella Information S.R.L
Itella Information Kft
Itella Information GmbH
Itella Tuottotieto Oy
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Group 		
holdings %
Country

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
51
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

Finland
Finland
Russia
Finland
Finland
Sweden
Sweden
Sweden
Denmark
Norway
Germany
Germany
Estonia
Latvia
Lithuania
Poland
Slovakia
Czech Republic
Romania
Hungary
Austria
Finland

Business
Group

Itella Mail Communication
Itella Mail Communication
Itella Mail Communication
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information
Itella Information

					
Subsidiaries 31 Dec 2009

Global Mail FP Oy
Itella Logistics Oy
Logia Software Oy
Itella Logistics AB
Itella Logistics A/S
Itella Logistics OÜ
Itella Logistics SIA
Itella Logistics UAB
Honold A/S 		
KEC A/S 		
KEC GmbH		
KEC UAB 		
Spedition Dyhr Eftf A/S
Itella Logistics AS
KH Fur Oy		
OOO Itella		
OOO Itella Logistics St.Petersburg
OOO Itella Information
NLC International Corporation
NLC Development Ltd
GSB Logistics Ltd
Centerfin Ltd
OOO LLC Rent-Center
OOO Terminal Lesnoy
OOO Kapstroimontazh
ZAO RED-Krekshino
OOO Terminal Sibir
OOO NLC Ekaterinburg
OOO NLC Samara
OOO NLC-Bataisk
OOO National logistic company
OOO NSC		
OOO NLC-SPb
OOO NLC-Trans
OOO Complex Logistics Service
OOO Logistics Service Center
Vindtunneln Holding AB
Itella IPS Oy		
KOY Kulmakeskus
KOY Laitilan Postinkulma
					
The Group’s joint ventures 31.12.2009

KOY Sahronmaa
KOY Säästösaku
					
Associated companies 31.12.2009

Ageris Kontaktcenter AB
Offentliga Dokument
AS Eesti Elektron Post
Kymppiposti Oy
Porlogis-Transitos e Logistika Lda

Group 		
holdings %
Country

100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
60
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100
100

Business
Group

Finland
Finland
Finland
Sweden
Denmark
Estonia
Latvia
Lithuania
Denmark
Denmark
Germany
Lithuania
Denmark
Norway
Finland
Russia
Russia
Russia
British Virgin Islands
Cyprus
Cyprus
Cyprus
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Russia
Sweden
Finland
Finland
Finland

Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Information
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Itella Logistics
Other operations
Other operations
Other operations

Group 		
holdings %
Country

Business
Group

55.8
58.5

Finland
Finland

Other operations
Other operations

Group 		
holdings %
Country

Business
Group

49
50
49.14
50
35

Sweden
Sweden
Estonia
Finland
Portugal

Itella Informaatio
Itella Informaatio
Itella Informaatio
Other operations
Itella Logistics
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Sales to related parties
EUR million

Associated companies
				
Purchase fron related parties
EUR million

Associated companies
				
Trade receivables from related parties
EUR million

Associated companies
				
Trade payables to related parties
EUR million

Associated companies
				
Management remuneration
EUR million

2009

2008

1.4

-

2009

2008

0.1

0.1

2009

2008

0.5

0.7

2009

2008

0.1

0.0

2009

2008

Wages and salaries		
and other employee benefits
5.9
Pensions-Defined benefit plans
0.7
				
Wages and salaries of management
EUR million

2009

7.1
0.5

2008

President and CEO
0.5
0.7
Executive Board
1.5
2.4
CEOs of subsidiaries
2.6
3.4
Board of Directors
1.3
0.5
Supervisory Board
0.1
0.1
Total
5.9
7.1
				
Management pension obligations: The pension arrangements of the
President and CEO of the Parent Company are the same as those of
Executive Board members. The retirement age of the members of Itella
Corporation’s Executive Board is 60, but the employer may postpone
retirement until the age of 62.The agreed retirement age of Group companies’ CEOs is 60-65.
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Income Statement of the Parent Company, FAS
EUR million		

Note

2009

2008

Net sales			
1
Other operating income
2
Materials and services
3
Personnel expenses
4
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
5
Other operating expenses
6
Operating profit			
			
Financial income and expenses
8
Result before extraordinary items		
			
Extraordinary items
9
			
Profit before appropriations and income tax		
			
Appropriations 		
10
Income tax			
11
			
Result for the financial period		

1,207.4
16.0
223.3
676.9
26.3
237.9
59.0

1,283.2
20.9
265.2
679.4
24.5
250.5
84.5

-79.5
-20.5

-27.3
57.2

21.0

32.1

0.5

89.2

-8.0
-21.0

0.5
-32.6

-28.5

57.2

		

Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009

73

Balance Sheet of the Parent Company, FAS
EUR million		

Note

31 Dec 2009

Assets		
			
NON-CURRENT ASSETS			
Intangible assets
12
22.4
Tangible assets
13
312.7
Investments		
14
486.4
NON-CURRENT ASSETS TOTAL		
821.5
			
CURRENT ASSETS			
Inventories		
15
3.8
Non-current receivables
16
229.2
Current receivables
17
188.2
Current investments		
110.7
Cash and bank 		
3.5
CURRENT ASSETS TOTAL		
535.4
			
Total assets				
1,356.9
			
			
Equity and liabilities of the parent company			
EQUITY			
19		
Share capital		
70.0
Fair value reserve		
0.0
Other reserves		
142.7
Retained earnings		
544.6
Result for the financial period		
-28.5
EQUITY TOTAL		
728.8
			
APPROPRIATIONS
20
23.0
PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES
21
21.6
			
LIABILITIES			
Non-current 		
23
239.0
Current			
24
344.5
LIABILITIES TOTAL		
583.5
			
Equity and liabilities, total		
1,356.9
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31 Dec 2008

14.7
258.8
488.4
761.9

3.6
97.0
228.3
93.2
7.0
429.1
1,191.0

70.0
0.3
142.7
497.4
57.2
767.6
15.1
0.5

1.2
406.6
407.8
1,191.0

Cash Flow Statement of the Parent Company, FAS
EUR million			

2009

2008		

Cash flow from operations:			
Result before extraordinary items
-20.5
71.3
Adjustments:			
Depreciation and amortisation according to plan
26.3
24.5
Gains or losses on sale of fixed assets
0.7
-4.7
Financial income (-) and expenses (+)
-8.3
-8.0
Impairment losses on non-current investments
87.8
21.2
Other adjustments		
1.6
Cash flow before change in working capital
87.6
104.3
			
Change in working capital:			
Non-interest-bearing current receivables, increase (-), decrease (+)
3.1
-12.6
Non-interest-bearing non-current receivables, increase (-), decrease (+)
1.3
-1.6
Inventories, increase (-), decrease (+)
-0.3
0.3
Non-interest-bearing liabilities, increase (+), decrease (-)
-9.7
15.0
Non-interest-bearing non-current liabilities, increase (+), decrease (-)
-1.1
0.8
Change in provisions		
21.1
-1.4
Change in working capital
14.4
0.6
Cash flow from operating activities before financial items and income tax
102.0
104.9
			
Interests paid 		
-11.6
-4.3
Interests received
22.1
19.8
Other financial items
-7.0
-6.8
Income taxes paid
-16.9
-38.7
Cash flow from financial items and taxes		
-13.4
-30.1
Cash flow from operating activities (A)
88.6
74.8
			
Cash flow from investing activities:			
Investments in tangible and intangible assets
-88.4
-67.0
Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets
0.2
1.6
Other investmenst
-79.7
-226.0
Proceeds from sale of other investments
1.1
7.3
Loans granted		
-162.1
-77.4
Repayments of loan receivables
46.9
15.0
Dividends received		
0.0
Cash flow from investing activities (B)
-282.0
-346.6
			
Cash flow from financing activities:			
Drawings of current loans
37.1
25.0
Repayment of current loans
-91.2
89.9
Drawings of non-current loans
236.8
Dividends paid and other profit distribution
-10.0
-39.0
Received and paid group contributions		
32.1
25.9
Cash flow from financing activities ( C )
204.8
101.8
			
Change in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C), increase (+), decrease (-)
11.4
-170.0
		
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of financial period
96.4
272.0
Change of fair value of cash and cash equivalents		
4.0
-5.6
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial period
111.8
96.4
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of the parent company, FAS
Accounting Policies

Research and development expenditure

Itella Corporation has prepared its financial statements in accordance with

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Only development costs arising

Finnish Accounting legislation.

from significant new or substantially improved products and enterprise
resource planning systems will be capitalised as intangible assets if they

Revenue recognition and net sales

are technically feasible and it is probable that the created asset will gen-

Revenue from the sale of goods (incl. postage stamps) is recognised when

erate future economic benefits and development expenses can be meas-

the goods have been delivered to the customer and significant risks and re-

ured reliably. Development costs which have been expensed once will not

wards of ownership have transferred to the buyer. The provision of services

be capitalised later. Amortisations on intangible assets are recognised as

of short duration generates a major part of Itella Corporation’s revenues.

of the date asset has been taken in use. Capitalised development costs

Such revenues are recognised when the service is rendered as agreed.

are recognised as intangible assets and amortised over the assets’ useful
lives which is three to five years. The value of the intangible asset is the

Net sales derive from revenue based on the sale of goods and services net

original acquisition cost less any accumulated depreciation and impair-

of indirect taxes, discounts and exchange rate differences.

ment losses. If the previous criteria are not fulfilled, the development cost
is expensed as incurred.

Other operating income
Other operating income includes capital gains on sale of assets and in-

Maintenance and renovation expenditure

come other than that based on the sale of goods and services, such as

Normal repair, maintenance and servicing costs are expensed as incurred

rental income. Government grants mainly refer to product and business

with the exception of large renovation expenditures which have been capi-

development grants and low-wage support, which are recognised as other

talised in the acquisition cost. The maintenance expenditure of rental real

operating income.

estate is capitalised. They will be depreciated during the rental period or
within ten years, whichever is the shorter term.

Tangible and intangible assets
Tangible and intangible assets are carried at historical acquisition cost

Leasing

less accumulated depreciation.

Lease payments are expensed in the income statement and leased assets

PPE (property, plant and equipment) are depreciated on a straight-line

are not included in the non-current assets.

basis over their expected useful lives. The expected useful lives of PPE are
Inventory

as follows:

Inventories are measured at acquisition cost, average acquisition cost or
Immaterial rights and other long-term expenses
Buildings and structures
Machinery and equipment
Other tangible assets

3-10 years
8-40 years
3-13 years
3-10 years

Land and water are not subject to depreciation.
Non-current investments are valued at their original acquisition cost.

probable realisation value, whichever is lower, using the prudence principle.
Cash in hand and at banks
Cash in hand and at banks include cash in postal outlets, bank accounts
and other assets equivalent to cash.

If the probability that the future revenue of the investment is permanently
smaller than the acquisition cost, the difference is recognised as an im-

Extraordinary income and expenses

pairment loss.

Extraordinary income and expenses include transactions that do not specifically belong in the scope of the business activity of the company but are
notable in size, incl. group contributions.
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Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, where it is probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate of the amount of this obligation can be made. Provisions for restructuring are recognised when the related, detailed and official plan has
been approved and disclosed.
Income taxes
Income tax includes tax calculated on the profit for the current financial
year as well as tax adjustments for previous financial years.
Deferred taxes are calculated using the tax rate effective on the balance sheet date. A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it
appears probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary difference can be utilised.
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into euros
at the exchange rate quoted on the transaction date.
Receivables and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into euros using the average exchange rate quoted on the balance sheet date by
the European Central Bank. The exchange rate gains or losses arising from
the business operations are recognised as adjustments of net sales and
purchases. The exchange rate gains and losses arising from financial instruments are included in the financial income and expenses.

EUR million

2009

1. Net sales by geographical market		
Finland
1,142.4
Scandinavia
37.0
Baltic and Russia
4.3
Other countries
23.8
Total
1,207.4
			
2. Other operating income		
Gains on sale of fixed assets
0.0
Rental income
12.5
Other operating income
3.4
Total
16.0
			
3. Materials and services 		
Purchases during the financial period
10.5
Change in inventories
-0.1
External services
212.9
Total
223.3
			
4. Personnel expenses		
Wages and salaries
540.1
Pension expenses
97.3
Other social expenses
39.5
Total
676.9
			
Management remuneration		
President and CEO
0.5
Executive Board
1.5
Board of Directors
0.3
Supervisory Board
0.1
Total
2.4
			
Average number of personnel
during the financial period		
Administrative employees
3,221
Employees
17,587
Total
20,808
			
5. Depreciation, amortisation and impairment losses
Depreciation and amortisation according to plan 		
Development costs
0.8
Intangible rights
3.6
Goodwill
0.8
Other capitalised non-current expenses
0.1
Buildings and structures
9.0
Machinery and equipment
11.8
Other tangible assets
0.2
Total
26.3
			
6. Other operating expenses		
Lease expenses
63.6
Losses on sale of fixed assets
0.7
Other operating expenses
173.6
Total
237.9

2008

1,200.6
44.8
5.6
32.1
1,283.2

5.3
12.2
3.3
20.9

10.6
0.0
254.6
265.2

546.2
97.2
36.0
679.4

0.7
2.4
0.3
0.1
3.5

3,442
18,565
22,007

0.8
2.5
0.8
0.1
8.4
11.6
0.2
24.5

61.8
0.7
188.1
250.5
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EUR million

2009

7. Auditors’ remuneration		
Audit
0.1
Fees for other statutory services
0.0
Tax counseling
0.1
Other services
0.1
Total
0.3
			
8. Financial income and expenses		
Dividends received		
From Group companies
Total
			
Interest income from non-current assets		
From others
Total
			
Other interest and financial income		
From Group companies
17.3
Gains from currency exchange
24.3
Other interest and financial income from others
-0.7
Total
40.9
			
Interest and financial income, total
40.9
			
Interest and other financial expenses		
To Group companies
0.4
Losses on currency exchange
19.8
Other interest and financial expenses to others
11.3
Total
31.5
			
Impairment losses on non-current assets		
Impairment losses on group interests
85.1
Impairment losses on associated company interests
2.0
Impairment losses on other shares and holdings
0.7
Impairment losses on financial securities
1.1
Total
88.9
			
Interest and financial income and expenses, total -79.5
			
Item interest and financial income incl.
gains on currency exchange (net)
4.5
			
9. Extraordinary items		
Group contributions received
21.0
Total
21.0
			
10. Appropriations		
Depreciation in excess of plan
8.0
Total
8.0
			
11. Income tax		
Income tax on extraordinary items
5.5
Income tax on business activities
21.4
Income tax from previous years
-0.1
Change in deferred tax assets
from temporary differences
-5.8
Total
21.0
			

78

Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009

2008

0.2
0.0
0.1
0.1
0.4

0.0
0.0

1.8
1.8

6.1
11.6
15.5
33.2
35.0

1.5
17.3
8.1
27.0

30.4
3.0
2.0
35.4
-27.3

-5.7

32.1
32.1

-0.5
-0.5

8.3
23.7
0.1
0.4
32.6

EUR million

2009

12. Intangible assets
Development costs		
Cost 1 Jan
7.2
Disposals
-3.1
Cost 31 Dec
4.1
Accumulated amortisation 1 Jan
5.6
Accumulated amortisation on disposals
-3.1
Amortisation for the financial period
0.8
Accumulated amortisation 31 Dec
3.4
Book value 31 Dec
0.8
			
Intangible rights		
Cost 1 Jan
37.4
Additions
14.4
Disposals
-3.5
Cost 31 Dec
48.3
Accumulated amortisation 1 Jan
30.8
Accumulated amortisation on disposals
-3.4
Amortisation for the financial period
3.6
Accumulated amortisation 31 Dec
31.1
Book value 31 Dec
17.3
			
Goodwill 		
Cost 1 Jan
8.6
Disposals
Book value 31 Dec
8.6
Accumulated amortisation 1 Jan
5.1
Accumulated amortisation on disposals
Amortisation for the financial period
0.8
Accumulated amortisation 31 Dec
5.8
Book value 31 Dec
2.8
			
Other capitalised non-current expenses		
Cost 1 Jan
1.4
Disposals
Book value 31 Dec
1.4
Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan
0.8
Accumulated amortisation on disposals
Depreciation for the financial period
0.1
Accumulated amortisation 31 Dec
0.9
Book value 31 Dec
0.5
			
Prepayments		
Cost 1 Jan
2.4
Additions
1.1
Disposals
-2.4
Cost 31 Dec
1.1
Book value 31 Dec
1.1
			
Intangible assets, total
22.4

2008

7.2
7.2
4.8
0.8
5.6
1.6

38.7
4.5
-5.8
37.4
34.1
-5.8
2.5
30.8
6.5

8.7
-0.1
8.6
4.4
-0.1
0.8
5.1
3.5

1.8
-0.3
1.4
1.0
-0.3
0.1
0.8
0.6

2.4
2.4
2.4
14.7

EUR million

2009

13. Tangible assets		
Land and water		
Cost 1 Jan
39.9
Additions
0.3
Disposals
0.0
Cost 31 Dec
40.1
Book value 31 Dec
40.1
			
Buildings and structures		
Cost 1 Jan
237.0
Additions
32.7
Disposals
-0.2
Transfers between items
3.0
Cost 31 Dec
272.5
Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan
95.4
Accumulated depreciation
on disposals and transfers
2.9
Depreciation for the financial period
9.0
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec
107.3
Book value 31 Dec
165.2
			
Machinery and equipment		
Cost 1 Jan
162.1
Additions
40.6
Disposals
-24.5
Transfers between items
-0.1
Cost 31 Dec
178.2
Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan
135.8
Accumulated depreciation
on disposals and transfers
-24.4
Depreciation for the financial period
11.8
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec
123.2
Book value 31 Dec
54.9
			
Balance sheet value of machinery
and equipment on 31 Dec
50.7
			
Other tangible assets		
Cost 1 Jan
4.0
Additions
0.3
Disposals
0.0
Cost 31 Dec
4.4
Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan
1.9
Accumulated depreciation on disposals
Depreciation for the financial period
0.2
Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec
2.0
Book value 31 Dec
2.3
			
Work in progress		
Cost 1 Jan
48.8
Additions
38.2
Disposals
-36.8
Cost 31 Dec
50.1
Book value 31 Dec
50.1
			
Intangible assets, total
312.7

2008

38.6
1.2
39.9
39.9

221.9
19.4
-1.3
-3.0
237.0
91.2
-4.3
8.4
95.4
141.7

164.8
10.1
-12.8
162.1
136.7
-12.5
11.6
135.8
26.3

22.6

3.5
0.6
-0.1
4.0
1.8
-0.1
0.2
1.9
2.2

21.6
40.2
-13.0
48.8
48.8
258.8

EUR million

2009

14. Non-current investments		
Shares in Group companies		
Cost 1 Jan
460.5
Additions
80.0
Disposals
-2.5
Cost 31 Dec
538.0
Accumulated impairment losses 1 Jan
45.4
Impairment losses
85.1
Book value 31 Dec
407.5
			
Shares in associated companies		
Cost 1 Jan
18.3
Additions
Disposals
-0.2
Transfers between items
-0.4
Cost 31 Dec
17.7
Share of profits or losses 1 Jan
1.7
Accumulated impairment losses 1 Jan
3.0
Transfers between items
-0.4
Impairment losses
2.0
Book value 31 Dec
11.4
			
Other shares and holdings 		
Cost 1 Jan
15.8
Additions
Disposals
-0.5
Cost 31 Dec
15.4
Accumulated impairment losses 1 Jan
3.3
Impairment losses
0.7
Reversals of impairment losses
-0.3
Book value 31 Dec
11.7
			
Receivables from Group companies		
Capital loan receivables		
Cost 1 Jan
98.9
Additions
11.6
Disposals
-2.9
Cost 31 Dec
107.6
Accumulated impairment losses 1 Jan
51.9
Book value 31 Dec
55.7
			
Receivables from associated companies		
Capital loan receivables		
Cost 1 Jan
0.1
Disposals
Cost 31 Dec
0.1
Book value 31 Dec
0.1
			
Investments, total
486.4
			
15. Inventories		
Materials and consumables
3.6
Prepayments
0.2
Total
3.8
			

2008

235.0
225.5
0.0
460.5
15.0
30.4
415.1

19.8
0.4
-1.9
18.3
1.7
3.0
13.6

16.2
0.0
-0.4
15.8
1.3
2.0
12.5

82.0
18.0
-1.1
98.9
51.9
47.0

0.5
-0.3
0.1
0.1
488.4
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EUR million

2009

16. Non-current receivables 		
Receivables from Group companies		
Loan receivables
222.1
			
Receivables from others		
Loan receivables
0.9
Other receivables
0.3
Deferred tax assets
5.9
Total
7.1
			
Non-current receivables total
229.2
			
17. Current receivables 		
Receivables from Group companies		
Trade receivables
7.8
Loan receivables
5.3
Interest receivables
0.0
Other receivables
0.7
Prepayments and accrued income
21.1
Total
34.9
			
Receivables from others		
Trade receivables
113.5
Loan receivables
0.0
Other receivables
2.1
Prepayments and accrued income
37.5
Total
153.3
			
Current receivables total
188.2
			
Key items in prepayments and accrued income		
Interest receivables
0.0
Tax assets
0.0
Receivables from other postal administrations
28.0
Other prepayments and accrued income
9.5
Total
37.5
			
18. Fair value and change in fair value by financial instrument
Investments in bonds and notes
41.8
Change in fair value recognised
in the income statement
3.9
Investments in commercial papers
66.5
Change in fair value recognised
in the income statement
0.1
Currency derivatives
-0.7
Change in fair value recognised
in the income statement
-5.6
Other investments
2.4
Change in fair value recognised
in the fair value reserve
-0.4
deferred tax
0.1
		
-0.3
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2008

94.4

0.9
1.6
0.1
2.6
97.0

12.1
27.8
0.2
2.7
32.1
75.0

104.1
0.0
6.8
42.3
153.3
228.3

0.0
2.9
29.3
10.2
42.3

79.9
-4.4
9.5
-1.1
4.9
4.8
3.8
-1.4
0.4
-1.0

EUR million

2009

19. Restricted equity		
Share capital 1 Jan
70.0
Share capital 31 Dec
70.0
			
Fair value reserve and other reserves		
Fair value reserve and other reserves 1 Jan
0.3
Profit or loss from measurement in
fair value, other current investments
-0.3
Fair value reserve 31 Dec
0.0
			
Restricted equity total
70.0
			
Unrestricted equity		
Other reserves 1 Jan
142.7
Other reserves 31 Dec
142.7
			
Retained earnings 1 Jan
554.6
Dividend distribution
-10.0
Retained earnings 31 Dec
544.6
			
Profit/loss for the financial year 31 Dec
-28.5
			
Unrestricted equity total
658.8
			
Equity total
728.8
			
Calculation of distributable equity 31 Dec		
Other reserves
142.7
Retained earnings
544.6
Profit/loss for the financial period
-28.5
Total
658.8
			
20. Appropriations		
Accumulated depreciation in excess of plan
23.0
			
21. Provisions for liabilities and charges		
Pension provisions
0.4
Restructuring provision
21.2
Other provisions
Total
21.6
			
22. Deferred tax liability and assets		
Deferred tax assets		
From provisions for liabilities and charges
5.6
From temporary differences
From measurement at fair value
0.3
Total
5.9
			
Deferred tax liability		
From measurement at fair value
0.0
Total
0.0
			
Deferred tax liability is only presented
in the consolidated balnce shee
6.0
			

2008

70.0
70.0

1.3
-1.0
0.3
70.3

142.7
142.7
536.4
-39.0
497.4
57.2
697.3
767.6

142.7
497.4
57.2
697.3

15.1

0.5
0.0
0.5

0.1
0.1

0.1
0.1

3.9

EUR million

2009

23. Non-current liabilities		
Bond
150.2
Pension liabilities
88.7
Deferred tax liability
0.0
Other non-current liabilities
0.1
Total
239.0
			
24. Current liabilities		
Amounts owed to Group companies		
Advances received
0.0
Trade payables
5.8
Interest liabilities
0.0
Other liabilities
47.4
Accruals and deferred income
1.8
Total
55.1
			
Amounts owed to associated companies		
Trade payables
Total
			
Amounts owed to others		
Loans from financial institutions
Pension liabilities
12.5
Advances received
11.5
Trade payables
35.9
Other liabilities
77.5
Accruals and deferred income
151.9
Total
289.3
			
Current liabilities total
344.5
			
Key items in other liabilities		
Commercial papers
27.0
Liabilities of payroll
19.6
VAT liabilities
28.7
Other liabilities
2.2
Total
77.5
			
Key items in accruals and deferred income		
Accruals of personnel expenses
119.2
Amounts owed to other postal administrations
15.2
Tax liabilities
7.1
Other accruals and deferred income
10.3
Total
151.9
			
Interest-bearing liabilities 		
Non-current liabilities
238.9
Current liabilities
64.2
Total
303.1
			

2008

0.1
1.1
1.2

0.0
8.5
0.1
37.8
3.4
49.8

0.0
0.0

25.1
7.9
30.9
130.7
162.1
356.8

EUR million

2009

2008

25. Assets pledged, commitments and other liabilities
Other pledges for own behalf		
Bank guarantees
1.0

1.4

			
Pledges given for Group companies		
Bank guarantees
16.1
Guarantees
8.3
17.7
Total
24.3
17.7
			
Lease contracts unpaid amounts		
Payable within one year
27.7
46.1
Payable in later years
56.5
36.8
Total
84.2
82.9
			
Remaining lease commitments
41.7
43.6
			
Derivative contracts		
Currency forward contracts		
Fair value
-0.7
4.9
Underlying value
85.9
102.7
			
Interest rate swaps		
Fair value
0.2
Underlying value
70.0
			
Derivative instruments are used for hedging foreign exchange rate risk
of the Group and they are valued at the market rates available on the
balance sheet date.		

406.6

82.9
18.3
28.3
1.3
130.7

130.7
20.0
11.5
162.1

123.7
123.7
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Board of Directors’ Proposal
to the Annual General Meting
BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ PROPOSAL TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
According to the financial statements for 2009, the parent company’s distributable profits total EUR 658,779,087.88 of which net loss for the financial
year accounts for EUR 28,504,616.93.
No material changes in the company’s financial standing have taken place since the end of the financial year 2009, neither does the solvency test, as
referred to in 13:2§ of the Companies Act, affect the proposed distributable profits.
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting that no dividend be paid and the result of the financial year to be allocated to retained
earnings under equity.
Signatures of the Board of Directors’ Report and the Financial Statements

				
		

Helsinki, 10 February 2010

		

Eero Kasanen

		

Chairman

Mikko Kosonen

Kalevi Alestalo

Hele-Hannele Aminoff

Erkki Helaniemi

Antero Palmolahti

Päivi Pesola

Riitta Savonlahti

Maarit Toivanen-Koivisto

Vice Chairman
		

		

Jukka Alho

		

President & CEO
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Auditor’s Report
To the Annual General Meeting of Itella Corporation
We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, the report of the Board of Directors, and the administration of Itella Corporation for the
financial period 1 January - 31 December 2009. The financial statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet, statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and notes to the consolidated financial statements, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet,
income statement, cash flow statement and notes to the financial statements.
The Responsibility of the Supervisory Board, the Board of Directors and the Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors
and for the fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by
the EU, as well as for the fair presentation of the parent company’s financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in accordance with laws
and regulations governing the preparation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The Supervisory Board and the
Board of Directors are responsible for the appropriate arrangement of the control of the company’s accounts and finances, and the Managing Director
shall see to it that the accounts of the company are in compliance with the law and that its financial affairs have been arranged in a reliable manner.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to perform an audit in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland, and to express an opinion on the parent company’s financial statements, on the consolidated financial statements and on the report of the Board of Directors based on our audit. Good auditing practice requires
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements or the report
of the Board of Directors are free from material misstatement and whether the members of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors of the parent
company as well as the Managing Director have complied with the Limited Liability Companies Act.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and the report of the Board
of Directors. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements or of the report of the Board of Directors, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors.
The audit was performed in accordance with good auditing practice in Finland. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, and cash flows of the group
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.
Opinion on the Company’s Financial Statements and the Report of the Board of Directors
In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors give a true and fair view of both the consolidated and the parent company’s
financial performance and financial position in accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The information in the report of the Board of Directors is consistent with the information in the financial statements.
Other opinions
We support that the financial statements should be adopted. The proposal by the Board of Directors regarding the use of the profit shown in the balance
sheet is in compliance with the Limited Liability Companies Act. We support that the Members of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors as well
as the Managing Director should be discharged from liability for the financial period audited by us.

Helsinki, 10 February 2010
KPMG OY AB
Pauli Salminen
Authorized Public Accountant
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Statement by the Supervisory Board
At its meeting today, the Supervisory Board of Itella Corporation has considered Itella Corporation’s Board of Directors’ Report , Financial Statements and
the Auditors’ Report for 2009.
The Supervisory Board proposes to the 2010 Annual General Meeting that the Income Statement and Balance Sheet for 2009 be adopted, and concurs
with the proposal made by the Board of Directors on disposal of the profit.

Helsinki, 10 February 2010

Eero Lehti
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Key Figures of Itella Group
					
					

IFRS
2009

IFRS
2008

IFRS
2007

IFRS
2006

Operations						
Net sales, MEUR 1)
1,819.7
1,952.9
1,710.6
1,574.5
Personnel 31 Dec.
29,568
31,672
25,211
24,806
Personnel on average
30,217
28,163
25,623
25,294
Capital expenditure, MEUR
144.9
351.5
94.2
69.5
% of net sales
8.0
18.0
5.5
4.4
									
Profitability						
Operating profit (EBIT) excluding					
non-recurring items, MEUR
86.3
95.1
101.8
90.9
% of net sales
4.7
4.9
6.0
5.8
Operating profit (EBIT), MEUR
46.7
69.0
101.8
89.0
% of net sales
2.6
3.5
6.0
5.7
Profit before tax, MEUR
19.6
46.6
109.5
94.4
% of net sales
1.1
2.4
6.4
6.0
Result for the financial period, MEUR
-4.6
18.6
78.5
67.7
% of net sales
-0.3
1.0
4.6
4.3
								
Balance sheet and key ratios					
Equity, MEUR
677.2
696.3
732.4
680.0
Total assets, MEUR
1,408.1
1,370.5
1,119.1
1,051.5
Return on equity, %
-0.7
2.6
11.1
10.1
Return on investment, %
5.8
12.4
15.6
14.1
Equity ratio, %
48.5
51.1
65.9
65.1
Net gearing, %
19.7
14.8
-36.4
-32.1

IFRS
2005

1,348.2
24,408
24,624
143.0
10.6

130.0
9.6
97.8
7.3
103.7
7.7
64,0
4.7

655,1
1,039.3
10.0
15,4
63.5
-34.3

1) The net sales for 2006 and 2007 have been revised to correspond to the current revenue recognition policy.

Calculation of key figures (IFRS)			
				
profit for financial period
Return on equity, %
100x
				 total equity (average for the financial period)
				
profit before income tax + interests and other financial expenses
Return on investment, %
100 x
				 total assets – non-interest-bearing liabilities (average for the financial period)
				
total equity
Equity ratio, %
100 x
				 total assets – advances received
				
		 interest-bearing liabilities – cash and cash equivalents
		
- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Net gearing, %
100x
				 total equity
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Glossary
Alligator
Using the Itella Alligator service,
companies and organizations can
outsource all of their basic financial
processes to Itella Information, including sales ledger, purchase ledger, travel expenses, payroll, payments, asset accounting, general
ledger and reporting. A customized
service solution scales all the way
to comprehensive business process outsourcing.
CEM (Customer Experience
Management)
Itella CEM is a solution for targeted
marketing and sales that makes
use of customer information. CEM
is a tool for analyzing customer accounts, creating target groups, and
producing automated and personalized customer communication
over different channels. It also enables customer account monitoring
and forecasting as well as the realtime measurement of campaigns.
Contact information services
A service running on the Internet
where consumers can report changes of address, direct mail delivery,
and maintain contact information.
Itella’s contact information register
contains 7 million addresses, over 1
million mobile phone numbers and
half a million e-mail addresses.
Contract logistics
Contract logistics emphasizes total
supply chain management solutions: Itella’s services cover the
entire chain from Far-East freight
transportation to the warehouse,
to the store shelf and to the end
customer. The service warehouse is
the heart of contract logistics.
Dashboard
Itella Logistics’ Dashboard software solution delivers transparency
across the entire global value chain
of a company’s products. Dash-
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board integrates all the information
related to supply chain management which is stored in the customer’s and its partners’ systems and
makes it available in one view.
Digital substitution
Transition from paper-based (letters, mass communication) to electronic communication.
Express
Express refers to scheduled deliveries where the duration and time
of arrival depend on the service option selected by the customer.
Foundation for Well-being at Work
The objective of the Foundation for
Well-being at Work established by
Itella is to improve the well-being
of employees in the mail communication and logistics sector, as well
as to conduct related research and
development.
Information logistics
Management of information flows
associated with an organization’s
operations: the processing, refining,
transfer, and distribution of information. Itella Information specializes in financial information flows,
in other words solutions for in
voicing and financial management.
www.itella.com/informationlogistics

Itella Green
A climate-friendly delivery service
in which Itella, on behalf of the
customer, compensates for the carbon dioxide emissions arising from
deliveries. The compensation fees
are directed to certified climate
projects. The fully carbon-neutral
delivery service is automatically
included in Itella’s direct marketing
(Itella Green DM), and for a small
extra fee this service is available
for letters, parcels, and magazines.
www.itella.com/itellagreen

Itella IPS Oy
(Itella Payment Services)
With Itella IPS Oy, Itella can offer
the most versatile solutions on the
market for electronic invoicing and
related payment transfer. Customers can also outsource all their financial management support processes to Itella, in which case the
IPS services are part of the Alligator
solution. For consumers, IPS offers
an opportunity to receive e-invoices
in NetPosti.
Mail Communication
The transfer of messages from
sender to recipient, irrespective
of their content or form. Messages
may be letters, magazines, newspapers, or direct mail — paperbased or electronic.
NetPosti
NetPosti is an electronic mailbox
service provided free of charge for
consumers and designed for the
secure reception and archiving of
invoices, customer newsletters,
and other electronic letters addressed personally to the recipient
by a company or other organization. With Itella IPS, consumers can
also receive e-invoices in NetPosti.
www.netposti.fi

Posti shop, postal agency shop
A Posti shop is a postal outlet
maintained by Itella Corporation.
A postal agency shop is run in connection with a grocery store, kiosk
or another local business. All postal services are available from both
outlets.
Postal Directive
In the EU member states, the Postal
Directive regulates postal services.
It includes a requirement on all
EU member states to open up all
postal services to competition not
later than in 2011–2013. In Finland, a new Postal Services Act is

currently being prepared. The Act
will enter into force in 2011.
Service logistics
Service logistics represent Itella’s
core competence. In-depth know
ledge and understanding of the
customer’s business and value
chain allows Itella to provide its
customers with the right logistics
solution for effective product and
information flow management.
Service warehouse
Service warehouses store customers’ products and offer contract logistics-based value added services.
They can also serve as terminals for
freight, delivery and transportation
services.
Universal Service Obligation (USO)
The Postal Services Directive obligates all EU countries to ensure that
universal postal services are provided throughout the country. The
coverage of the universal service
is specified in the national postal
services legislation. In Finland,
the law requires that letters and
parcels covered by the USO are
delivered and collected five days
a week. The Universal Service Obligation also covers registered and
insured deliveries. Every Finnish
municipality must have at least one
postal outlet.
In Finland, Itella Corporation
has been designated as the Universal Service Provider in its business license. This obligation does
not apply to the Aland Islands.
The provision of universal service
is monitored by the Finnish Communications Regulatory Authority
(FICORA).

Company history
1638 Governor-General Per Brahe establishes postal services in Finland, then part of
the Kingdom of Sweden.
1811 A central postal administration is established for the postal services of
autonomous Finland.
1927 The Telegraph is merged with the Finnish Post to form Post and Telegraph.
1990 Posts and Telecommunications of Finland becomes a state-owned enterprise
known as Posti-Tele.
1998 Postal and telecom services are demerged into separate companies (Finland
Post Group Ltd and Telecom Finland Group Ltd), which are wholly owned by the
state of Finland.
2001 The company becomes a public limited company (Finland Post Corporation).
Expanding information logistics operations to Sweden, Norway and Denmark by
acquiring Capella Group AB.
2002 Expanding information logistics operations to Germany and logistics operations
to Estonia.
2003 Mail Communication acquires the early morning newspaper delivery business of
Sanoma Osakeyhtiö.
2004 Expanding information logistics operations to Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania and
acquiring Elma Oyj Electronic Trading in Finland.
2005 Establishing Finland’s largest personnel fund. Expanding logistics operations to
Denmark, Latvia and Lithuania by acquiring the Combifragt Group A/S.
2006 Logistics operations expanding to Sweden and Norway. Foundation for Wellbeing at Work estalished.
2007 The parent company’s name is changed to Itella Corporation. Itella Mail
Communication launches an investment and development program of EUR 160
million focusing on postal infrastructure.
2008 Itella Logistics acquires NLC Group (National Logistic Company) in Russia and
Kauko Group Oy in Finland. Itella Mail Communication acquires Connexions in
Russia, specializing in direct marketing services.
2009 Itella Information expands into financial management, as well as to new
countries in Central and Eastern Europe plus Russia. Launch of climate-friendly
Itella Green delivery services.

www.itella.com/history
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Financial communications
Itella online
www.itella.com/group

Financial information, annual reports, interim reports: www.itella.com/financials
Corporate Governance: www.itella.com/corporategovernance
Photos and logos: www.itella.com/media
Interim reports 2010
Q1 April 30th
Q2 July 28th
Q3 October 27th
Contact persons in Financials
Senior Vice President, CFO Tuija Soanjärvi,
tel +358 (0)20 45 20907, tuija.soanjarvi@itella.com
Vice President, Communications, Päivi Alakuijala,
tel +358 (0)40 840 0251, paivi.alakuijala@itella.com
Communications Manager Satu Toivonen,
tel +358 (0)40 8212 097, satu.toivonen@itella.com
Corporate Communications
Itella Corporation
Corporate Communications
P.O. Box 1
FI–00011 ITELLA
FINLAND
Tel. +358 (0)20 451 5415
communications@itella.com
MediaDesk
tel. +358 (0)20 452 3366 (Mon–Fri 8.30 a.m.–4.30 p.m.)

Itella Corporation Annual Report 2009

89

Itella Corporation
P.O. BOX 1
FI-00011 ITELLA, Finland
Tel. +358 (0)20 4511
communications@itella.com
www.itella.com/group

• Posti Customer Service for Consumers
+358 (0)200 71000, customerservice@posti.fi, www.posti.fi
• Itella Customer Service for Corporate Customers
+358 (0)200 77000, www.itella.com
Registered Domicile: Helsinki, Business ID 1531864-4

